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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

MBGEER

For the year ended 31 December

BEt-A=T-HLHEE

2021 2020
—E-—F —ERCEF
HK$'000 HK$'000 Change
FHET FAT &
Revenue WS 22,543,455 22,171,710 +1.7%
Gross profit ES 2,612,976 2,048,801 +27.5%
Profit for the year attributable to ~ ZRA T HEA A
owners of the Company EEARFESHEF 1,377,998 502,287 +174.3%
EBITDA EITE R E RIS 3,340,140 2,481,149 +34.6%
EPS (HK cents) FRAN GBI
— Basic — HEK 41.89 15.27 +174.3%
DPS (HK cents) BARAE (GBI
— Interim — 5 - N/A 3 A
— Final — KH 5 - N/A “1~ i A
10 - N/A A~ A

The final dividend of 5 HK cents per share (2020: Nil) has been
proposed by the directors and is subject to approval by the
shareholders in the forthcoming annual general meeting.

4 Truly International Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2021

EECRBERPREERBUW( T _FF:
) EAFRRNERERFBERE Lk -



FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

MEBE

Basic earnings per share, dividends per share and dividend payout ratio
BREZFER  BRERERKELE
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

MBGEER

Turnover by geographical segments

RibESD
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===a)

24.9Y Electronic consumer products (Note 2)
EHBRERMEE2)

2021

76%

Note 1: LCD products —
M1 RERBERSEER — HERS

Note 2: Electronic consumer products —

Mizt2 : EFHEEM — BHER

LCD products (Note 1)
RRBERSEERPIRE 1)

‘ 2020

64%

manufacture and distribution of LCD products and touch panel products

SR AR RN E M MBI E

manufacture and distribution of electronic consumer products such as CCM,
fingerprint identification modules, personal health care products and electrical devices

SHE TR BE M (PIMELAMEAE - FaGRIEA

BEARBRERNE

6 Truly International Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2021

36 % Electronic consumer products (Note 2)

EPHBEREE2)

LCD products (Note 1)
R ERRSEER IR 1)



FINANCIAL SUMMARY

MERHEER

RESULTS iR

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=T-BHLEFE

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
“T+tF E-\§ —E-NF BT —BC-F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET TET F5x TET
Revenue s 20,733,418 19,762,442 22,532,499 22,171,710 22,543,455
Gross profit =5 2,040,167 1,885,553 1,825,411 2,048,801 2,612,976
Finance costs BBER (323,108) (353,679) (419,129) (380,025) (341,225)
Profit before tax RATEF 187,288 253,319 736,857 738,692 1,595,850
Income tax expense Fr{SBiM% (94,451) (105,106) (128,693) (139,919) (165,196)
Profit for the year REERF 92,837 148,213 608,164 598,773 1,430,654
Attributable to: AT AL
Owners of the Company ERAIEEA 62,987 74,190 562,456 502,287 1,377,998
Non-controlling interests RS 29,850 74,023 45,708 96,486 52,656
92,837 148,213 608,164 598,773 1,430,654
Earnings per share BREF
Basic EX
(HK cents per share) (FRBL) 2.13 2.36 17.10 15.27 41.89
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BERAR

At 31 December

R+=A=+-H

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

—FtF /% =% “TITF ZBC-F

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FET S T FBT THT

Non-current assets ERBEE 14,371,223 14,154,947 13,978,778 15,390,078 18,653,459

Current assets MENEE 12,567,607 10,899,554 11,007,458 11,147,378 11,079,885

Total assets BEHRE 26,938,830 25,054,501 24,986,236 26,537,456 29,733,344

Bank and other borrowings  $R4T R EffE 5 8,457,338 7,193,297 5,822,616 5,512,049 6,116,506

Bonds payable [EREH 895,073 850,265 373,731 400,596 371,996

Other liabilities HihBE 9,138,264 8,764,912 9,782,190 10,149,425 11,585,333

Total liabilities BEES 18,490,675  16,808474 15978537 16,062,070 18,073,835

Net assets BEFE 8,448,155 8,246,027 9,007,699 10,475,386 11,659,509
Equity attributable to owners ~ ZAA B1% A AJEIL IR

of the Company 7,882,771 7,636,576 8,056,021 9,371,885 11,282,383

Non-controlling interests I = 565,384 609,451 951,678 1,103,501 377,126

Total equity BB 8,448,155 8,246,027 9,007,699 10,475,386 11,659,509

“ECFFR o FAEBRERAR 7



THE CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

EEREE

Truly International Holdings Limited (the “Company” and, together
with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) was able to meet the
management’s expectations about its performance despite of the
ongoing impact of the COVID-19 outbreak on the global economy
and supply chain in 2021.

Due to the outbreak of the COVID-19 in China in January 2020, |
returned to the Group’s headquarters in Shanwei on 27 January
2020 and have remained there till now. During the period, the
Group activated the highest level of emergency response plan, and
strictly implemented various preventive and control measures to
effectively protect the health of our staff and ensure safe
production. By taking advantage of the high degree of automation
of our machinery, the Group ensured normal production and
operation to meet the demand of our customers.

The Group’'s revenue of HK$22.54 billion in 2021 was
approximately 1.7% higher than that in 2020. The Group's gross
profit margin increased to 11.6%, representing an increase of
approximately 2.4% when compared to 2020 as a result of our
business strategy of continuing to strengthen the higher margin
non-smartphone related products business. Profit for the year
attributable to owners of the Company increased by approximately
174.3% to HK$1,378 million in 2021 when compared to 2020.

In 2021, the Group further acquired the equity interests in Truly
Opto-Electronics Limited* ({ZF¢ BB BR A A]) (“Truly Opto”),
an indirect non wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, resulting
in an increase in its equity interests from 78.8% to 98.9%. Truly
Opto is the Group’s major assets and manufacturing plant which is
primarily engaged in the business of manufacturing of touch panel
products, compact camera modules and fingerprint identification
modules and has been contributing a reliable income source and
support to the Group.

8 Truly International Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2021
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THE CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

ERREE

During the year, the Group also entered into an agreement to
acquire equity interests in Truly (Huizhou) Smart Display Limited*
(A (FEM) B e BRAR AR (“Truly Huizhou”), increasing the
equity interests held by it from 59.7% to 76.5%. Truly Huizhou was
accounted for in the consolidated financial statements of the
Company for 2021 as an indirect non wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company. The operation and financial performance of the 4.5
Generation AMOLED Production Line Project continue to improve
and the Group is optimistic about its future prospects.

Truly (Renshou) High-end Display Technology Limited* ({25 ({-5)
= U 3 R Bl 5 B PR A §), an associate of the Group located in
Sichuan, is a fifth generation TFT-LCD production plant, which has
entered into mass production period in 2021 and is operating
smoothly, further enhancing the production capacity of the Group
for TFT-LCD panel manufacturing.

In the future, we will continue to invest in human resources and
technology research and development for various businesses, and
maintain in-depth interaction with customers to enhance the
competitiveness of our products, which will be conducive to the
sustainable growth of our relevant product and business. The
management remains confident of achieving performance
improvement in 2022.

The management would like to express its appreciation to the
Group's bankers, staff and workers for their continuing support and
outstanding contribution. Additionally, the management wishes to
extend its gratitude for customers, suppliers and other business
partners.

Lam Wai Wah
Chairman

Hong Kong, 25 March 2022
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

THEWE S

The Group is one of the largest manufacturers of smartphone
component parts in the PRC and worldwide top-level automotive
display suppliers. The Group is principally engaged in the
manufacture and sale of liquid crystal display products including
touch panel products and electronic consumer products including
compact camera module, fingerprint identification modules,
personal health care products and electrical devices.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Revenue of 2021 recorded a slight increase by 1.7% and reached a
record high to approximately HK$22.54 billion (2020: HK$22.17
billion), which was mainly attributable to the growth by 16% in non-
smartphone related products business particular for vehicle-
mounted, industrial, medical and Internet of Things related
products that compensate the decline by 9% in smartphone related
products when compared to 2020.

Profit for the year attributable to the owners of the Company was
increased to approximately HK$1,378 million (2020: approximately
HK$502 million) by approximately 174.3%. Basic earnings per
share for the year increased to 41.89 HK cents from 15.27 HK
cents in 2020. It was mainly because (i) the improvement of gross
profit margin from 9.2% in 2020 to 11.6% in 2021; (ii) the net gain
of approximately HK$241 million from the merge and acquisition of
the major associate, Truly Huizhou; (iii) the reduction of an one-off
provision of approximately HK$282 million (RMB240 million) that
was recorded in 2020 for the Leshi Zhixin's receivables; and (iv)
share of profit from the major associate of the Group, Truly
Huizhou, has significantly improved to approximately HK$100
million in 2021 from share of loss of approximately HK$2 million in
2020.

The gross profit margin for the year increased to approximately
11.6% (2020: 9.2%) and net profit margin for the year attributable
to owners of the Company increased to 6.1% (2020: 2.3%).
Increase in gross profit margin was mainly due to the increase of
sales of certain higher margin non-smartphone related products.

The Group’s LCD business including touch products was about
76% of the Group revenue in 2021 (2020: 64%). Other businesses
of the Group including the sales of compact camera modules,
fingerprint identification products and printed circuit board were
24% of the Group's revenue in 2021 (2020: 36%). LCD business
would continue to be the core business of the Group in coming
few years.

The Group continues to put resources in the Group's research and

development by spending around HK$811 million in 2021 (2020:
HK$876 million).

10 Truly International Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2021
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EERHR

B 57 th

Recognitions

During the year, the Group received numerous recognitions from
customers and industrial associates, major recognitions were
shown as follows: Truly Opto, a PRC subsidiary, was named to the
list of “Top Guangdong 500 Manufacturing Companies” by
Guangdong Manufacturers Association, ranking 41st in 2021. {=Fl
FE AR A A, a PRC subsidiary, was named to the list of “Top
Guangdong 500 Manufacturing Companies” by Guangdong
Manufacturers Association, ranking 107th in 2021. Truly Huizhou
was named to the list of “Top Guangdong 500 Manufacturing
Companies” by Guangdong Manufacturers Association, ranking
216th in 2021.

Segment Information

Information reported to the Company’s executive directors, being
the chief operating decision maker, for the purposes of resource
allocation and assessment of performance focuses on the sales of
different types of products. Inter-segment sales are charged at
prevailing market rates. Thus the Group is currently organised into
two operating segments which are sales of LCD products and
electronic consumer products. The information for each operating
segment is as follows:

— manufacture and distribution of LCD
products and touch panel products

LCD products

— manufacture and distribution of
electronic consumer products such as
compact camera module, fingerprint
identification modules, personal health
care products and electrical devices

Electronic consumer
products

”
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

THEWE S

Segment revenues and results DR EREE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by ~ RNEBIRKE L MREDIEE DN MEE DT
operating and reportable segments: /N

For the year ended 31 December 2021

BE-_F-_-F+-A=+t—-RLFE

Electronic
consumer
LCD products products  Segment total Eliminations ~ Consolidated
RRE ET
BIERER HEER PEAE H &E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn TEn TER TEx TEx
REVENUE W&
External sales N 17,181,573 5,361,882 22,543,455 - 22,543,455
Inter-segment sales DEREE - 348,079 348,079 (348,079) -
17,181,573 5,709,961 22,891,534 (348,079) 22,543,455
RESULT ES
Segment result DEEE 1,478,947 153,497 1,632,444 (10,221) 1,622,223
Finance costs HBER (341,255)
Impairment loss on goodwill BERNEEE (82,135)
Remeasurement gain on previously ~— ERTE R —EBL AT
held interest in an associate B ExTE e 323,248
Share of results of associates MEBE AT EE 102,061
Unallocated expenses RAREE (24,588)
Unallocated other gains and losses FOEHMMERER (3,704)
Profit before tax AR 1,595,850

12 Truly International Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2021



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

THEFWE S

For the year ended 31 December 2020 BT -_EF+_A=1+—HILFE
Electronic
consumer
LCD products products  Segment total Eliminations Consolidated
R BF
BTREM HEEM nieE 8 &8
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL FAT FAL TEL TAT
REVENUE W
External sales HhH 14,247,960 7,923,750 22,171,710 - 22,171,710
Inter-segment sales NEREE - 279,038 279,038 (279,038) -
14,247,960 8,202,788 22,450,748 (279,038) 22,171,710
RESULT B
Segment result NEEE 959,567 498,878 1,458,445 (13,059) 1,445,386
Finance costs HEBER (380,025)
Impairment loss under expected credit  E A EYTZUBTEE (=
loss model on other receivable BREATRESSE (281,901)
Share of results of associates MEBEDREE 20
Unallocated expenses FOERY (17,577)
Unallocated other gains and losses AOBEMEREE (27,211)
Profit before tax HATRH 738,692

Segment profit represents the profit earned by each segment S EGEFIERADEFRITHEERA @ BIEESE
without allocation of central administration costs including ¥4 B EBH DHBE R T %E  TESR
directors’ salaries, finance costs, share of results of associates, T EATEEETHEIE REZUATEEYE
loss on fair value changes of derivative financial instruments, (loss) Y& @&EATEEZH (SE) K - BEEA
gain from changes in fair value of financial assets at FVTPL, certain 1824 X T & TREEE - fg 2R EE B KR 5%
impairment loss under ECL model, impairment loss on goodwill Ri#AE —HEEES AR ZEHNT=ERENE D
and remeasurement gain on previously held interest in an  ZEFFEREUVEF - L BRI EBLERFTERE U
associate. This is the measure reported to the chief operating E&EREIGRIAOTE S E -

decision maker for the purposes of resource allocation and

performance assessment.

ST FEH o ERERERAT 13



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

THEWE S

Geographical information

The following table sets out information about (i) the Group’s
revenue from external customers by location of customers and (ii)
the Group’s non-current assets by location of assets.

HEEH

TRES () A EBERE S FEBES BN EE
35 % ) 7 4R B AR A S0 8 2 S SR B
BEMER -

Revenue from

external customers

Non-current assets

ShEBE B U FEREBEE
2021 2020 2021 2020
—E--F ZZEZFF B ZZ-THF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
FHExT FHT FET FHET
The PRC ‘:F' 16,382,896 17,748,804 18,538,196 14,438,927
South Korea [l 2,227,212 922,826 - -
Hong Kong (place of domicile) & (A£&8#) 768,987 542,544 44,711 15,658
Japan H 7 416,560 370,252 - -
Europe BOM 996,602 936,784 - -
Others HAftb 1,751,198 1,650,500 - -
22,543,455 22,171,710 18,582,907 14,454,585

Notes: MIaE -

(i) Regarding revenue arising from sales to external customers in Europe and
others, no individual countries are material and hence separate disclosure
is not required.

(ii) Non-current assets exclude financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss, deferred tax assets, rental deposits and amount due from an
associate.

Information about major customers

No individual customer contributed over 10% of the total revenue
of the Group in both years of 2020 and 2021.

Outlook

Looking ahead to 2022, the global market is expected to reopen to
support a gradual recovery in consumption. With the gradual
resumption of industrial activities and the improvement in global
supply chain conditions, the management will continue to keep
abreast of market developments and supply chain changes,
technological upgrades in the industry and maintain close
communication with customers to provide high quality and
appropriate products and solutions to achieve business growth,
moreover, continue to tighten its control over costs and expenses.
The management is confident that the Group’s revenue and profit
attributable to the owners of the Company will grow in 2022.

14 Truly International Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2021
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EERHR

B 57 th

Proposed Spin-off Update

Having adjusted the business development strategies of the Group,
the management has decided that the Proposed Spin-off will not
proceed at this stage. For details of it, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 13 July 2021.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

The Group's revenue for the year ended 31 December 2021 (the
“Year"”) was approximately HK$22,543 million, representing an
increase of approximately 1.7% or approximately HK$372 million
year-on-year. The revenue growth in the Year was mainly
attributable to the growth of 16% in non-smartphone related
products business particular for vehicle-mounted, industrial,
medical and Internet of Things related products when compared to
2020.

Gross Profit and Margin

The Group's gross profit for the Year was approximately HK$2,613
million and the gross profit margin was approximately 11.6%,
which were approximately 27.5% and 2.4% higher than that for
2020 respectively. Increase in gross profit and gross profit margin
was mainly due to increase of sales of certain higher margin
vehicle-mounted, industrial, medical and Internet of Things related
products.

Other Income

The Group's other income for the Year was approximately HK$188
million, representing an increase of approximately 21.1% or
approximately HK$33 million when compared with 2020. The
increase in other income was mainly because the government
subsidies of approximately HK$113 million received in the Year but
only approximately HK$73 million in 2020.

Other Gains and Losses

The Group's other gains and losses for the Year was approximately
HK$234 million net other losses (2020: approximately HK$31
million net other gains). The increase in net other losses in the Year
was mainly because the Group has disposed of obsolete
machineries and recorded a net loss on disposal of approximately
HK$256 million during the Year (2020: approximately HK$6 million
net loss on disposal).
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Impairment Losses under Expected Credit Loss Model,
Net of Reversal

The Group’s impairment losses under expected credit loss model,
net of reversal was approximately HK$49 million (2020:
approximately HK$315 million). The decrease in impairment losses
was mainly due to the reduction of an one-off provision of
approximately HK$282 million (RMB240 million) that was recorded
in 2020 for the Leshi Zhixin's receivables.

Distribution and Selling Expenses

The Group's distribution and selling expenses for the Year has
been slightly increased by approximately 3.2% or approximately
HK$13 million to approximately HK$437 million when compared to
2020. The increase in distribution and selling expenses in the Year
was mainly due to the increase of freight rates during the Year.

Administrative Expenses

The Group's administrative expenses for the Year has been
significantly increased by approximately 28.9% or approximately
HK$109 million to approximately HK$486 million when compared
to 2020. The increase in administrative expenses was mainly
attributable to the increase of PRC real estate tax, educational
surcharge and city construction and maintenance tax and salaries
and allowances in 2021.

Remeasurement gain on previously held interests in an
associate and Impairment loss on goodwill

On 29 November 2021, the Group entered into the Agreement to
acquire approximately 16.77% interest in Truly Huizhou at a cash
consideration of RMB450 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$550,350,000). For details of it, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 29 November 2021.

The acquisition has been accounted for as acquisition of business
using the acquisition method and remeasurement gain of
approximately HK$323 million and goodwill of approximately
HK$670 million were recorded from the merge and acquisition. The
goodwill arising on acquisition and the fair value of the net assets
acquired is higher than the recoverable amount of Truly Huizhou,
resulting in the impairment loss of goodwill amounting to
approximately HK$82 million recognised in the Year.
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Finance costs

The Group’s finance costs for the Year has been decreased by
approximately 10.2% or approximately HK$39 million to
approximately HK$341 million when compared to 2020. The
decrease in finance costs was mainly attributable to the gradual
decrease in bank and other borrowings throughout 2021 (excluding
the bank and other borrowings of approximately HK$975 million
recognised on business combination of Truly Huizhou).

Share of results of associates

Share of results of associates by the Group has been significantly
increased by approximately HK$102 million when compared to
2020. The improvement in share of results of associates was
mainly because the financial results for the Year of the major
associate of the Group before the acquisition, Truly Huizhou, has
been significantly improved when compared to 2020. Share of
profit from Truly Huizhou in the Year has been significantly
improved to approximately HK$100 million from share of loss of
approximately HK$2 million in 2020.

Income Tax Expenses

Pursuant to the relevant law and regulations in the PRC, two of the
Company’s PRC major subsidiaries were continuously approved as
Hi-Tech Enterprise and entitled to 15% PRC enterprise income tax
for three years from 2021 to 2023. Accordingly, PRC Enterprise
Income Tax is provided at 15% for the year ended 31 December
2021 for these two major PRC subsidiaries.

Profit for the Year Attributable to Owners of the
Company

Profit for the Year attributable to owners of the Company was
significantly increased to approximately HK$1,378 million by
approximately of 174.3% or HK$876 million when compared to
2020. It was mainly because (i) the improvement of gross profit
margin from 9.2% in 2020 to 11.6% in 2021; (ii) the net gain of
approximately HK$241 million from the merge and acquisition of
the major associate, Truly Huizhou; (iii) the reduction of an one-off
provision of approximately HK$282 million (RMB240 million) that
was recorded in 2020 for the Leshi Zhixin's receivables; and (iv)
share of profit from the major associate of the Group, Truly
Huizhou, has significantly improved to approximately HK$100
million in 2021 from share of loss of approximately HK$2 million in
2020.
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Significant Investments, Acquisitions, Assets and
Liabilities

Update on investment in a major associate — Truly Huizhou

On 29 November 2021, the Group entered into the Agreement to
acquire approximately 16.77% interest in Truly Huizhou at a cash
consideration of RMB450 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$550,350,000). Upon completion of the acquisition, Truly
Huizhou become an indirect non wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company and owned as to approximately 76.5% by an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and as to approximately
23.5% by an independent third party of the Company.

The financial results of Truly Huizhou has been significantly
improved and share of profit from Truly Huizhou in the Year has
been increased to approximately HK$100 million from share of loss
of approximately HK$2 million in 2020. It is mainly because the
management’s appropriate change of production strategy and sales
strategy to focus on AMOLED wearable products application.

Update on the 5th generation TFT-LCD Production Plant in Shanwei

The Group's fifth generation TFT-LCD production plant in Shanwei
has been entered into mass production period in the first quarter of
2020 and delivered finished goods to the Group’s major customers
in 2020. The mass production of this TFT-LCD production plant has
contributed to the Group by reducing the cost of producing TFT-
LCD screens used in LCD modules and touch modules.

Litigation update in relation to Investment in Leshi Zhixin

In February 2017, Truly Electronics Manufacturing Limited ({5
FMEFHRAF) (“Truly Electronics”), an indirectly wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into an investment agreement,
pursuant to which Truly Electronics conditionally agreed to acquire
in an aggregate of 2.3438% equity interest in Leshi Zhixin
Electronic Technology (Tianjin) Limited* (Z418 51 & FRHE (K )E)
ABR7AF]) (“Leshi Zhixin") at a consideration of RMB720,000,000.
The first instalment of the consideration in the amount of RMB240
million was paid in March 2017. Subsequently, as the Company's
management considered that a condition of the relevant
investment agreement has been breached by Leshi Zhixin and/or
Leshi Holding (Beijing) Co., Limited* (%443 #% % (1t ;) A IR A &)

(“Leshi Holding”), Truly Electronics suspended the payment of the
remaining instalments of the consideration in the amount of
RMB480 million and terminated the said investment agreement in
July 2017. In August 2017, Truly Electronics (as plaintiff) filed a civil
complaint against Leshi Zhixin and Leshi Holding (as defendants) to
seek rectification of the breach by Leshi Zhixin and Leshi Holding
and refund of the first instalment of RMB240 million paid by Truly
Electronics. For further details, please refer to the Company’s
announcements dated 29 August 2017, 23 March 2018, and the
2018 Annual Report of the Company.
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The Group has been informed by the Group’'s PRC lawyer that a
decision letter issued by the court of first instance has been
received in early November 2019, which the court of first instance
decided to turn down the Group’s civil complaint in relation to the
dispute on the investment agreement. Subsequently, the Group
has lodged an objection to the high court in Beijing on 15
November 2019. The Beijing High count started the trial of second
instance on 20 October 2020.

On 19 November 2021, Truly Electronics entered into the mediation
agreement with Leshi Zhixin and Leshi Holding pursuant to which
the parties agreed, amongst other things, that: (i) The parties shall,
on the effective date of the mediation agreement, agree and
confirm that the investment agreement was released on 3 July
2017 (being the date when Leshi Zhixin received the termination
notice from Truly Electronics); (i) Upon release of the investment
agreement, Truly Electronics undertakes not to claim against Leshi
Zhixin for refund of the investment amount of RMB240 million; and
(iii) Leshi Zhixin undertakes not to have any claim against Truly
Electronics in relation to the remaining investment amount of
RMB480 million under the investment agreement. For details of it,
please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 19
November 2021.

Update on investment in an associate, Truly Renshou

Truly Renshou has completed the building construction of the fifth
generation of TFT-LCD factory in Renshou in 2018. The full
installation of the machineries has been completed in 2020 and full-
scale trial operation commenced in late 2020 and entered mass
production in 2021.

The Group owns approximately 7.1% equity interest in Truly
Renshou. Truly Renshou is accounted for as an associate of the
Group because the Group has significant influence over Truly
Renshou by virtue of the substantial voting right of 67.1% granted
to the Group in the first ten years since the incorporation of Truly
Renshou in 2017. Thus, the results, assets and liabilities of Truly
Renshou is incorporated in the Group's consolidated financial
statements using equity method of accounting.
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Update on Major Transaction Formation of the AMOLED JV Company

On 14 July 2017, Truly Electronics Manufacturing Limited ({5 &
FABMRAF]), a company incorporated in the PRC and an indirectly
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into the
AMOLED JV agreement in relation to the formation of the
AMOLED JV Company in Renshou County, Meishan City, Sichuan
Province, the PRC as the project company for the AMOLED
Project. The total investment of the AMOLED JV Company will be
RMB27,900 million and production facilities for the sixth generation
of AMOLED will be established. The Group will contribute
RMB2,000 million for 13.3% equity interest. For detail of it, please
refer to the announcement of the Company, Major Transaction
Formation of the AMOLED JV Company, dated 14 July 2017.

As additional time is required for preparing and finalizing certain
information to be included in the Circular, the dispatch of the
Circular has been further delayed to a date on or before 31 May
2022. For detail of it, please refer to the announcement of the
Company, Further Delay in Despatch of Circular in Relation to A
Major Transaction for the Formation of the AMOLED JV Company,
dated 2 March 2022.

Further announcements will be made by the Company as and
when appropriate in compliance with the Listing Rules.

New Club Loan for Refinancing

On 9 April 2020, Truly Semiconductors Limited (“Truly
Semiconductors”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into a facility agreement with specific performance
covenants and the committed amount of HK$1.52 billion. For detail
of it, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 9
April 2020.

The new club loan with the committed amount of HK$1.52 billion
has been fully withdrawn in June 2020 and the Group has utilized
this loan amount plus internal financial resources to fully repay the
outstanding syndicated loan balance of HK$2.25 billion on schedule
in June 2020. Pursuant to the new club loan facility agreement,
Truly Semiconductors is obliged to repay the loans under the
Facility by scheduled instalments and the final repayment date shall
be 30 June 2022. In view of the healthy cashflow and internal
reserves as well as positive cash position of the Group, Truly
Semiconductors has exercised its rights under the Facility
Agreement to repay the loans under the Facility in full prior to its
maturity on 31 May 2021.
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Liquidity and Financial Resources

The Group’s assets have been increased by approximately
HK$3,196 million and liabilities have been increased by
approximately HK$2,012 million during the year.

As at 31 December 2021, the outstanding lease liabilities, bonds
payable and bank and other borrowings, net of restricted bank
deposits, cash and bank balances, were approximately HK$5,136
million (2020: approximately HK$4,909 million). It was increased by
approximately 4.6% or HK$227 million when compared to these
net borrowings as at 31 December 2020. These borrowing bear
interest at prevailing market rate and their maturity profiles are
shown in the financial statements. For non-current portion of these
borrowings were matured within 5 years.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had net current liabilities of
approximately HK$5,938 million (as at 31 December 2020, net
current liabilities of approximately HK$3,303 million) and its current
ratio decreased to 0.65 times as at 31 December 2021 from 0.77
times as at 31 December 2020. The major reason for the increase
in net current liabilities position as at 31 December 2021 was
because the Group acquired equity interest in Truly Huizhou and it
was accounted for in the consolidated financial statements of the
Company for 2021 as an indirect non wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group has restricted bank deposits,
cash and bank balances approximately HK$1,653 million together
with adequate unutilized banking facilities. The Group’s working
capital is mainly financed by internal cash flow generated from its
operation and banking facilities granted by financial institutions. The
gearing ratio based on total interest bearing debts, net of restricted
bank deposits, cash and bank balances was approximately 46%,
which has decreased from 52% at 31 December 2020.
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Material Acquisitions and Disposals

M

(2)

22

Acquisition of interests in a major associate — Truly Huizhou

On 29 November 2021, the Group entered into the
Agreement to acquire approximately 16.77% interest in Truly
Huizhou at a cash consideration of RMB450 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$550,350,000), in which
RMB50 million (equivalent to approximately HK$61,150,000)
has been settled in 2021 and the remaining RMB400 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$489,200,000) will be settled
in two installments within 2022. Upon completion of the
acquisition, Truly Huizhou become an indirect non wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company and owned as to
approximately 76.5% by an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company and as to approximately 23.5% by an
independent third party of the Company. For details of it,
please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 29
November 2021.

The acquisition has been accounted for as acquisition of
business using the acquisition method and remeasurement
gain of approximately HK$323 million and goodwill of
approximately HK$670 million were recorded from the merge
and acquisition. The goodwill arising on acquisition and the
fair value of the net assets acquired is higher than the
recoverable amount of Truly Huizhou, resulting in the
impairment loss of goodwill amounting to approximately
HK$82 million recognised in the Year.

Acquisition of interests in an indirect non-wholly-owned
subsidiary, Truly Opto

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group
acquired 20.1% additional equity interest in Truly Opto from
other shareholders at a cash consideration of approximately
RMB606,461,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$752,125,000). The effective interest of the Group in Truly
Opto increased from 78.8% 10 98.9%.
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Charges on Assets

On 9 April 2020, Truly Semiconductors Limited, a direct wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, as the borrower, entered into a
facility agreement relating to a term loan facility in the principal
amount up to HK$2,250,000,000 with, among others, a bank as the
agent. Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 9
April 2020 for further details. As at 31 December 2020, the Group's
term loan borrowings of approximately HK$920,000,000 were
secured by pledge of the Group’s certain assets including equity
interests in certain subsidiaries, namely Truly Semiconductors
Limited, Truly Electronics Manufacturing Limited, Hong Kong Truly
International Holdings Limited, Truly Industrial (Shanwei) Co.,
Limited (BRI ZECOURE)BER AR, EH+FEEERRQF], a PRC
subsidiary and Truly Opto-Electronics Limited ({5 F| 3¢ B AR A
A]). Such bank borrowing was fully repaid by the Group in May
2021 and the charges on assets was released in June 2021.

At 31 December 2021, the Group's borrowings amounting to
HK$771,735,000 were secured by Truly Huizhou buildings with
carrying amount HK$598,356,000.

Employee and Remuneration

Around 17,300 workers and staff are currently employed in
factories of the Company in the PRC and around 100 personnel in
the Group’s Hong Kong office. Total staff costs for 2021 were
approximately HK$1,974 million.

Capital Commitments

Capital expenditure commitment of around HK$278 million in
respect of acquisition of property, plant and equipment was
contracted for but not provided as at 31 December 2021.

Contingent Liabilities

(1) At 31 December 2020, the Group has given corporate
guarantee for certain bank borrowings granted to the
associate, Truly Huizhou, with the borrowing limit at
approximately HK$3.53 billion and the bank loans with the
amount of approximately HK$1.31 billion were utilised by the
associate.
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(2)

Besides, at 31 December 2020, the other shareholder of the
associate provided corporate guarantee to the above bank
borrowings in proportion to its respective ownership interest
amounting to approximately HK$831 million. A counter-
indemnity in favour of the other shareholder is executed
pursuant to which the Group undertakes to indemnify the
other shareholder approximately 23.5% of the liabilities
arising from the bank borrowings.

Truly Huizhou becomes the subsidiary of the Company in
December 2021, no contingent liabilities in respect of the
financial guarantee provided to Truly Huizhou is disclosed at
31 December 2021.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company is a defendant in legal actions in
Hong Kong in respect of the claim by a customer for alleged
defective goods manufactured by the subsidiary according to
its customers’ designs and specifications. The claim against
the wholly owned subsidiary is approximately US$23.9 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$186.4 million) in aggregate.

In December 2020, the subsidiary has entered into settlement
agreement with the customer pursuant to which it is mutually
agreed that the subsidiary is required to deliver certain
quantity of products to the customer under pre-agreed
delivery time table and payment terms. Upon completion of
the deliveries and payment by the customer within 2021, any
claims between the Group and the customer shall be deemed
finally settled and satisfied. At 31 December 2020, the
Directors consider that the fulfillment of the terms of the
settlement agreement is highly probable and the legal
proceedings will be dismissed accordingly and no provision
for legal claims is made.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the delivery and
payment obligations under the settlement agreement were
completed and the legal proceedings were discontinued upon
the approval by the Court of First Instance in July 2021.

Exposure to fluctuations in exchange rates will be considered to
hedge, if any.
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OTHER INFORMATION
Dividends

The directors recommend the payment of a final dividend of 5 HK
cents (2020: nil) per share for the year ended 31 December 2021,
based on ordinary shares in issue (number of ordinary shares
issued at 28 February 2022: 3,289,229,398), to shareholders whose
names appear on the Register of Members on 1 June 2022
(Wednesday). It is expected that the final dividend payments will
be made to shareholders on 13 June 2022, Monday, subject to the
Company's shareholders’ approval at the Annual General Meeting
of the Company.

The interim dividends in aggregate of 5 HK cents per share (2020:
nil) were paid in 2021 to shareholders on the register of member of
the Company at the close of business on 15 September 2021
based on 3,289,229,398 ordinary shares in issue.

The total dividend payout ratio for the year was about 24%.
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Closure of Register of Members

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the 2022
Annual General Meeting, the Register of Members will be closed
from Monday, 23 May 2022 to Thursday, 26 May 2022, during the
period no transfer of shares can be registered. In order to be
eligible to attend and vote at the AGM, all transfers accompanied
by relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s
Branch Share Registrar, Tricor Secretaries Limited, at Level 54,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’'s Road East, Hong Kong for
registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 20 May 2022.

For determining the entitlement to the proposed final dividend, the
register of members of the Company will be closed on Wednesday,
1 June 2022 during which day no transfer of shares will be
registered. The proposed final dividend will be paid to shareholders
whose names appear on the Register of Members on Wednesday,
1 June 2022. In order to qualify for the proposed final dividend, all
transfers of shares, accompanied by the relevant share certificates,
must be lodged with the Company’s Branch Share Registrar in
Hong Kong, Tricor Secretaries Limited at the above address for
registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 31 May 2022.

Customers and suppliers

In the year under review, sales to the five largest customers
accounted for approximately 34% of the total sales of the Group
and purchases from the five largest suppliers accounted for
approximately 14% of the total purchases of the Group.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, our largest customer
accounted for approximately 9% of the total sales of the Group.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, our largest supplier
accounted for approximately 4% of the total purchases of the
Group.

As at 31 December 2021, none of the directors, their associates, or
any shareholders which to the knowledge of the directors owned
more than 5% of the Company's issued share capital had any
beneficial interests in the Group's five largest customers and/or
five largest suppliers mentioned in the preceding paragraph.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the directors of the Company and senior
management of the Group are set out as follows:

Mr. Lam Wai Wah, aged 69, is the Chairman and Managing
Director of the Company. He is the founder of the Group and has
over 40 years of experience in the electronics industry. He is
primarily responsible for the formulation of the Group's overall
strategic planning and business development.

Mr. Wong Pong Chun, James, aged 63, is an Executive Director of
the Company and the Chief Operating Officer of the Group. He is
responsible for the Group's operations in respect of internal
controls and risk management, investors' relationship and external
affairs. He joined the Group in 1987. Mr. Wong has been an
Independent Non-executive Director of Vital Innovations Holdings
Limited (Stock code: 06133) listed in Hong Kong since 30
December 2020.

Mr. Song Bei Bei, age 45, is an Executive Director of the Company,
a senior vice president. He is responsible for government relations
and investment project. Mr. Song is also a director of an associate
of the Company. Mr. Song joined the Group in 2001 as a design
engineer in research and development department and was
promoted to project manager and senior project manager during
2005 to 2013. During the period from 2014 to 2018, Mr. Song was
further promoted to a senior management position of the Group.
He graduated from the North China Institute of Technology with a
Bachelor’s Degree in Mechatronic Engineering.

Mr. Dai Cheng Yun, age 48, is an Executive Director of the
Company, a vice president of the Group. He is responsible for the
Group's panel factory operating affairs. Mr. Dai is also a supervisor
of a subsidiary and a vice chairman of an associate of the Company.
He graduated from the Hunan University of Technology (formerly
known as Hunan University of Commerce) with a Bachelor of
Marketing Degree. Mr. Dai joined the Group in 2000 as a team
head of technicians and was promoted to a senior management
position during the period from 2006 to 2018.
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Mr. Cheung Wing Cheung, age 51, is an Executive Director of the
Company. He holds a Master of Philosophy Degree and a Bachelor
of Engineering Degree from The University of Hong Kong, and a
Bachelor of Laws Degree from the University of London. He is
responsible for overseas sales and marketing affairs (excluding
handheld phone products) of the Group. Mr. Cheung Wing Cheung
has been serving the Group since year 2000 and in the senior
management position for more than 10 years. Before joining the
Group, he worked for the technical position from a multi-national
technology company.

Mr. Chung Kam Kwong, aged 64, is an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company and the Chairman of the Group's Audit,
Remuneration and Nomination Committees. He is a practising
Certified Public Accountant in Hong Kong, fellow member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, fellow
member of Australian Society of Certified Practising Accountants
and a member of the Macau Society of Certified Practising
Accountants. Mr. Chung has extensive experience in accounting
and financial management and has been the independent Non-
executive Director, management consultant and Company
Secretary of a number of listed companies in Hong Kong.

Mr. Ip Cho Ting, Spencer, aged 63, is an Independent Non-
executive Director and members of the Group’'s Audit,
Remuneration and Nomination Committees. He is the holder of a
Bachelor of Science degree from the University of Wisconsin,
Green Bay, U.S.A. Mr. Ip is an Accredited Mediator of the Hong
Kong International Arbitration Centre.
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Mr. Heung Kai Sing, aged 73, is an Independent Non-executive
Director and members of the Group’s Audit, Remuneration and
Nomination Committees. He has experience in textile industry.

Mr. Lau Fan Yu , aged 54, is the Chief Financial Officer and
Company Secretary of the company, Mr. Lau is a fellow member of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and a member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Lau
received his bachelor’'s degree of commerce (major in finance)
from Concordia University, Canada in May 1991. He further
completed the master of business administration from City
University of Hong Kong in November 2001. Mr. Lau has over 26
years of experience in the field of accounting and corporate
financial management, including experience as the Chief Financial
Officer and Company Secretary in Hong Kong listed companies.

By order of the Board
Lam Wai Wah
Chairman

Hong Kong, 25 March 2022
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DIRECTORS" REPORT

EFEREE

The directors present their annual report and the audited financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. Its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in the manufacture and sale of
liquid crystal display products including touch panel products and
electronic consumer products including compact camera module,
fingerprint identification modules, personal health care products
and electrical devices.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on page 58.

Interim dividend in aggregate of HK5 cents per share, amounting to
approximately HK$164,461,000, was paid to the shareholders
during the year ended 31 December 2021.

The directors recommend a payment of a final dividend of HK5
cents per share based on the number of ordinary shares in issue to
the shareholders of the Company whose names appear on the
Register of Members on 1 June 2022 (Wednesday), amounting to
approximately HK$164,461,000.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the year, the Group acquired plant and machinery amounting
to HK$437,840,000 and furniture, fixtures and equipment
amounting to HK$103,481,000 for the purpose of expanding its
manufacturing capacity in Shan Wei City, Guangdong Province and
Meishan City, Sichuan Province in the People’s Republic of China.

Details of these and other movements in the property, plant and
equipment of the Group during the year are set out in note 16 to
the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements during the year in the issued share capital of
the Company are set out in note 35 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY EAF)Z W 5k E R
The Company's reserves available for distribution to shareholders RZZEZ—F+_-_A=+—H AQX@AHKT
as at 31 December 2021 were as follows: e 7 REEIT -
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-THF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Share premium [ (B 1,395,441 1,395,441
Special reserve BRI A 17,410 17,410
Retained profits REB =T 644,389 266,182
2,057,240 1,679,033

Under the applicable laws of the Cayman lIslands, the share
premium of the Company is available for distributions or paying
dividends to shareholders subject to the provisions of its
Memorandum or Articles of Association and provided that
immediate following the distribution or paying dividend the
Company is able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary
course of business.

The special reserve of the Company represents the difference
between the net book values of the underlying assets of the
Company's subsidiaries acquired at the date on which the shares
of these companies were acquired by the Company, and the
nominal amount of the Company's shares issued for the
acquisitions.
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Directors

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this report were:

Executive directors:

Lam Wai Wah

Wong Pong Chun, James
Song Bei Bei

Dai Cheng Yun

Cheung Wing Cheung

Non-executive director:

Ma Wai Tong (resigned on 31 August 2021)

Independent non-executive directors:

Chung Kam Kwong
Ip Cho Ting, Spencer
Heung Kai Sing

In accordance with Articles 100 and 120 of the Company’s Articles
of Association, Song Bei Bei, Dai Cheng Yun and Ip Cho Ting,
Spencer retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

The independent non-executive directors are subject to retirement
by rotation in accordance with the above articles.

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming Annual
General Meeting has a service contract with the Company or its
subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Group within one
year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No contracts of significance to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of the Company
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the year or at any time during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND EFEZRREREGDER
UNDERLYING SHARES

At 31 December 2021, the interests of the directors and their WZZZ—F+_A=+—H BELAQFBR
associates in the shares and underlying shares of the Company and 3% N A S 1605 352 (& FTiR1E 2 B sC M Frac 8%
its associated corporations, as recorded in the register maintained siRIE FT A RIZEFEHITESK H WIZEESTH|ZAE
by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the Securities and M@ KA REBHAELSHER AT ZEER -
Futures Ordinance, or as otherwise notified to the Company and EENHEBME AHE 2 A AT R HAE EZE 2%
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited pursuant to the Model {5 RAEBEM D REZRLOT -

Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies,

were as follows:

Long positions R
(a) Ordinary shares of HK$0.02 each of the Company (a) ALOATEREEO2EBTZ2EER

Percentage of

Number of issued the issued share
ordinary shares capital of
Name of director Capacity held the Company
FrIFE 81T EARARZEET
EEnE g4 ZRERHAE BRABDL
%
Lam Wai Wah Beneficial owner 1,441,852,000 43.84
MEE EmBAA
Held by spouse (note 1) 74,844,000 2.28
mECERA (1)
1,616,696,000 46.11
Wong Pong Chun, James Held by spouse (note 2) 1,650,000 0.05
|mHE micERA (fHE2)
Song Bei Bei Beneficial owner 2,310,000 0.07
REE EmBAA
Dai Cheng Yun Beneficial owner 202,000 0.01
BKE BEmEAA
Cheung Wing Cheung Beneficial owner 566,000 0.02
SRECHE EmBAA
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(b) Registered capital of the associated corporation of
the Company

Truly Opto-Electronics Limited (“Truly Opto”) (Note 3)

(b) ADFEEEEZEMER

ERAERBARAR(ERELE] (HEI)

Percentage of
paid up registered

Registered capital capital of Truly

Name of director Capacity contributed (RMB) Opto

REFMELR HEFMXEZHE

EEHE 14 (AR¥®) EMEABDL

%

Lam Wai Wah Beneficial owner 1,043,460 0.2829
MEE EmEAA

Wong Pong Chun, James Beneficial owner 2,590,120 0.7024
mHE E=BEAA

Cheung Wing Cheung Beneficial owner 324,020 0.0879
SRECHE BEmEAA

Notes: MiE -

1. Lam Wai Wah is deemed to be interested in 74,844,000 ordinary
shares of the Company, being the interests held beneficially by his
spouse, Chung King Yee, Cecilia.

2. Wong Pong Chun, James is deemed to be interested in 1,650,000
ordinary shares of the Company, being the interests held
beneficially by his spouse, Lai Ching Mui, Stella.

3. Truly Opto-Electronics Limited, a company registered in the
People’'s Republic of China, is an indirect non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company.

Other than as disclosed above, none of the directors nor their
associates had any interests or short positions in any shares and
underlying shares of the Company or any of its associated
corporations as at 31 December 2021.

SHARE OPTIONS

During the year, the Company has not adopted any share option
scheme.
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DIRECTORS" REPORT

EFEREE

ARRANGEMENT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than as disclosed above under the heading “Directors’
Interests in Shares and Underlying Shares”, at no time during the
year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangements to enable the directors of the Company to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of,
the Company or any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2021, the register of substantial shareholders
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance shows that other than the
interests disclosed above in respect of Lam Wai Wah, the following
shareholders had notified the Company of relevant interests in the
issued shares or underlying shares of the Company.

Long positions

Ordinary shares of HK$0.02 each of the Company

MERMBRSZRH

B EXEE 2 iy AR (D et IPT TR 2 51 -
ARBHEAEIMNME QTR FALESEERL
B B ARBZERTEBYBEARR R LM
H A AN BB 2 B B 75 MBS 2k o

FERRE

B EXFIBERRMEERA 2RI REX
REBRESFMPEGIIEIB6IEARTFIER
BRECMABER R-FT_—F+-_A=+—
B TIRREHAEARARAERARNRARZE#ET
B ERE I h A 2 B R

%R
ARREREECRE T ZEER

Percentage of

Number of the issued
issued ordinary share capital of
Name of shareholder Capacity shares held the Company
ES IR Sy RN PA=Y - £6)
RRERE 14 TZEREE RABDLE
Ruan, David Ching-Chi™ Interest of controlled 197,716,000 6.01%
corporation‘2
Ruan, David Ching-Chi®" TEEER?
RAYS Capital Partners Limited™ Investment manager? 197,716,000 6.01%

ERERBRAF REBEA?

Note:

m He/lt also has an unlisted derivative interest in 37,676,000 ordinary
shares of the Company.

@ The details of the interests held by Ruan, David Ching-Chi in the Company
are as follows:

(1) 8%/ H IR AR A F37,676,000 f% & i A% 7 B I -
THTAE T B -

(2) LA ARuan, David Ching-Chi FTi AR 2 )iz 215 ¢

Total interests in shares

ROEREE
Name of Name of
controlled corporation controlling shareholders % controlled Indirect interests
ZEEEER ZERBRREE FEAAL HEES
RAYS Capital Partners Limited Ruan, David Ching-Chi 45.6% 197,716,000
BRELRARAF Ruan, David Ching-Chi
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DIRECTORS" REPORT

EFEREE

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by
the Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit,
qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the directors of the Company are decided by
the Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Company’s
operating results, individual performance and comparable market
statistics.

The Company has not yet adopted new share option scheme
during the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company'’s
Articles of Association, or the laws of Cayman Islands, which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis
to existing shareholders.

PURCHASES, SALES OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company's listed securities during the
year ended 31 December 2021.

MODEL CODE

None of the Directors of the Company is aware of information that
would reasonably indicate that the Company was not in the year
under review in compliance with the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix
10 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing
Rules”) on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has an Audit Committee which was established in
accordance with the code provisions of the Corporate Governance
Code (the “"Code”) for the purposes of reviewing and providing
supervision over the Group's financial reporting matters, risk
management and internal controls. The annual results of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2021 has been reviewed by the
Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee comprises Mr. Chung Kam Kwong, Mr. Ip
Cho Ting, Spencer and Mr. Heung Kai Sing, with Mr. Chung Kam
Kwong as chairman of the Audit Committee. They meet at least
four times a year.
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DIRECTORS" REPORT

EFEREE

The Group has received, from each of the independent non-
executive directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers
all of the independent non-executive directors are independent.

REMUNERATION AND NOMINATION
COMMITTEES

The Company has a Remuneration Committee and a Nomination
Committee respectively which were established in accordance
with the relevant requirements of the Code. The two Committees
are chaired by Mr. Chung Kam Kwong, an independent non-
executive director and comprise three other members, namely Mr.
Ip Cho Ting, Spencer and Mr. Heung Kai Sing, being independent
non-executive directors and Mr. Wong Pong Chun, James, an
executive director of the Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board considers that good corporate governance of the
Company is essential to safeguarding the interests of the
shareholders and enhancing the performance of the Group. The
Board is committed to maintain and ensure high standards of
corporate governance. We have complied with all the applicable
code provisions set out in the “Corporate Governance Code”
contained in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules throughout the year
ended 31 December 2021, except for a major deviation as below:

o Code Provision A.2.1 — The roles of the Chairman and the
Chief Executive are not separated and are performed by the
same individual, Mr. Lam Wai Wah. The Board will meet
regularly to consider major matters affecting the operations
of the Company. The Board considers that this structure will
not impair the balance of power and authority between the
Board and the Company’s management and believes that this
structure will enable us to make and implement decisions
promptly and efficiently.

° Code Provision E.1.2 — The Chairman did not attend the
annual general meeting of the Company held on 2 June 2021
due to remaining in Shanwei factory since February 2020.

° Code Provision A.6.7 — Mr. Ip Cho Ting, Spencer, an
independent non-executive director of the Company was
unable to attend the annual general meeting of the Company
held on 2 June 2021 due to prior business commitment.

The Board will continuously review and improve the corporate
governance practices and standards of the Company to ensure that
business activities and decision-making processes are regulated in
a proper and prudent manner. More details are contained in the
separate Corporate Governance Report on pages 39 to 49.
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DIRECTORS" REPORT

EFERESE

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

The Company has maintained a sufficient public float throughout
the year ended 31 December 2021.

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable and other donations
amounting to HK$844,000.

AUDITORS

A resolution will be submitted to the Annual General Meeting of
the Company to re-appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as
auditors of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Lam Wai Wah
CHAIRMAN

Hong Kong, 25 March 2022
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND BOARD COMMITTEES
The Board

The Board was responsible for the Company’'s corporate
governance, and was ultimately accountable for the Company’s
activities, strategies and financial performance.

The Board was mainly responsible for formulating and approving
the business strategies, objectives, policies and plans of the
Company, and monitoring the execution of the Company's
strategies. It was also responsible for overseeing the operating and
financial performance of the Company and establishing appropriate
risk control policies and procedures in order to ensure that the
strategic objectives of the Company are materialized. In addition,
the Board was also responsible for improving the corporate
governance structure and enhancing communications with
shareholders.

The Board has delegated the responsibilities for the execution of
strategies and decision-making for day-to-day operation of the
Company to the management team headed by the Managing
Director, Mr. Lam Wai Wah.

The management reported regularly to the Board on the operating
and financial performance of the Company. Development,
expansion and other major capital expenditure and commitment, as
well as major financing decisions were all reviewed and approved
by the Board.

Connections between members of the Board

None of the members of the Board have any connections (including
financial, business, family relationship and other material/related
relationships) with each other during the period under review.

Director’s dealing in securities

Having made specific enquiry of all the Directors, the Company
confirmed that all Directors had complied with their obligations
regarding dealings in securities under the Model Code set out in
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules during the period under review.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

ERELIRS

Non-executive directors

The non-executive Directors were not appointed for a specific term
but were subject to retirement by rotation in accordance with the
Company’s Articles of Association.

Independent non-executive Directors

The Company has received confirmation from each of the
independent non-executive Directors as regards his independence
to the Company and considered that each of the independent non-
executive Directors was independent to the Company during the
period under review.

Directors’ Training

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to
ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant. All directors are encouraged to attend relevant training
courses at the Company’s expenses. The Company has been
encouraging the directors to participate continuous professional
development courses and seminars organized by professional
institutions or professional firms and reading materials on relevant
topics so that they can continuously update and further improve
their relevant knowledge and skills.

In addition, the Company Secretary reports from time to time the
latest changes and development of the Listing Rules, corporate
governance practices and other regulatory regime to the Directors
with written materials.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

ERELSWSE

Board committees

The Board was supported by three Board Committees. Each Board
Committee has its own responsibilities, power and functions. The
chairman of the respective Board Committees reported to the
Board from time to time and made recommendations on matters
discussed when appropriate.

Remuneration Committee

The Company has established the remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”) in compliance with the Listing Rules.
The Remuneration Committee is governed by its terms of
reference, which have been revised by the Board on 26 March
2012 pursuant to the CG Code, setting out the Remuneration
Committee’s authority, duties and responsibilities are available on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Remuneration Committee is chaired by Mr. Chung Kam
Kwong, an independent non-executive director and comprise three
other members, namely Mr. Ip Cho Ting, Spencer and Mr. Heung
Kai Sing, being independent non-executive directors and Mr. Wong
Pong Chun, James, an executive director of the Company.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the Company’'s policy and
structure of the remuneration of the directors and senior
management and the specific remuneration packages of all
executive directors and senior management. Details of the
remuneration of each of the directors for the year are set out in
Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements.

Four meetings were held during the year by the Remuneration
Committee to review the remuneration packages and assess the
performance of executive directors and non-executive director and
the director’'s fees of the independent non-executive directors. All
members of the Remuneration Committee attended the said
meeting.
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ERELIRS

Nomination Committee

The Company has established the nomination committee (the
Nomination Committee”) in compliance with the Listing Rules. The
Nomination Committee is governed by its terms of reference,
which have been revised by the Board on 26 March 2012 and 20
August 2014 pursuant to the CG Code, setting out the Nomination
Committee’s authority, duties and responsibilities are available on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Nomination Committee is chaired by Mr. Chung Kam Kwong,
an independent non-executive director and comprise three other
members, namely Mr. Ip Cho Ting, Spencer and Mr. Heung Kai
Sing, being independent non-executive directors and Mr. Wong
Pong Chun, James, an executive director of the Company.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to review the
structure, size and composition of the Board on a regular basis and
to make recommendations to the Board on matters relating to any
proposed changes.

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy which sets out
its approach to achieve and maintain diversity on the Board in order
to enhance the effectiveness of the Board.

Four meetings were held during the year by the Nomination
Committee to review the nomination procedures and the current
composition of the Board. All members of the Nomination
Committee attended the said meeting.

Audit Committee

The Company has established the audit committee (the “Audit
Committee”) in compliance with the Listing Rules. The Audit
Committee is governed by its terms of reference, which have been
revised by the Board on 26 March 2012 and 18 November 2015
pursuant to the CG Code, setting out the Audit Committee’s
authority, duties and responsibilities are available on the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review and
provide supervision over the Group’s financial reporting matters,
internal controls and the system of risk management.

The Audit Committee comprises Mr. Chung Kam Kwong, Mr. Ip
Cho Ting, Spencer and Mr. Heung Kai Sing, with Mr. Chung Kam

Kwong as chairman of the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee held four meetings during the year. All
members of the Audit Committee attended the said meeting.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

ERELSWSE

The Board Meetings, Board Committees Meetings and ETgeeE EESZE2gBNRBREARE
General Meetings

The Directors’ attendances at the Board Meetings, the Board REZ-_E-—F+_-_A=+—HILEE &=
Committees Meetings and General Meetings for the yearended 31 REZg@% ZEeZ8eemRkREA®Y
December 2021 were as follows: HEERNT

Number of meetings attended

HESFXRE
General
Board Board Committees Meetings
g ExgZEg BRERE

Director Audit Remuneration Nomination

5= B e RrE

Executive directors:

HITES:

Lam Wai Wah 4/4 n/a n/a n/a 01

B NEA NiE A iE A

Wong Pong Chun, James 4/4 n/a 4/4 4/4 11

=& i A

Song Bei Bei 4/4 n/a n/a n/a 0/1

RER NEA NiE A A

Dai Cheng Yun 4/4 n/a n/a n/a 01

BKE T EA TEA T EA

Cheung Wing Cheung 4/4 n/a n/a n/a 11

SRR T EA TEA T EA

Non-executive director:

FHITES :

Ma Wai Tong 3/3 n/a n/a n/a 11
(resigned on 31 August 2021) T EA TEA T EA
(RZZ=_—FN\A=+—HEfE)

Independent non-executive directors:

BYFHITES :

Chung Kam Kwong 4/4 4/4 4/4 4/4 1/

§EER

Heung Kai Sing 4/4 4/4 4/4 4/4 11

Ip Cho Ting, Spencer 4/4 4/4 4/4 4/4 01

El=

Total number of meeting(s) held 4 4 4 4 1

BITEREH
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ERELIRS

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the fees paid to the
Company'’s external auditors amounted to HK$3,780,000.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal
control systems of the Company and reviewing their effectiveness.
The Board oversees the overall risk management of the Group and
endeavours to identify, control impact of the identified risks and
facilitate implementation of coordinated mitigating measures. The
risk management and internal control systems of the Company are
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failures to
achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and
not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.
Throughout the year from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2021,
the Board conducted reviews of the effectiveness of the internal
control system in all material respects including but not limited to
operational, financial, risk management and compliance controls.
The Group’s system of internal control comprised a well-defined
organizational and management structure with levels and limits of
authority which was established to help achieve business
objectives, safeguard assets against unauthorized access or
disposal, ensure the maintenance of proper accounting records to
produce reliable management and financial information for internal
use and for publication purpose, help management mitigate
potential risk factors and ensure compliance with relevant rules and
regulations. The system was designed to provide reasonable, but
not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss and
to manage rather than eliminate risks of failure in operational
systems so as to achieve the Group's objectives and long-term
goals.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The process used to identify, evaluate and manage
significant risks

The processes used to identify, evaluate and manage significant
risks by the Group are summarised as follows:

Risk Identification
. Identifies risks that may potentially affect the Group's
business and operations.

Risk Assessment
° Assesses the risks identified by using the assessment criteria
developed by the management; and

o Considers the impact and consequence on the business and
the likelihood of their occurrence.

Risk Response
o Prioritises the risks by comparing the results of the risk
assessment; and

° Determines the risk management strategies and internal
control processes to prevent, avoid or mitigate the risks.

Risk Monitoring and Reporting

° Performs ongoing and periodic monitoring of the risk and
ensures that appropriate internal control processes are in
place;

o Revises the risk management strategies and internal control
processes in case of any significant change of situation; and

o Reports the results of risk monitoring to the management
and the Board regularly.

The main features of the risk management and internal
control systems

Control procedures have been designed to safeguard assets
against misappropriation and disposition; ensure compliance with
relevant laws, rules and regulations; ensure proper maintenance of
accounting records for provision of reliable financial information
used within the business or for publication; and to provide
reasonable assurance against material misstatement, loss or fraud.
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ERELIRS

The process used to review the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems and to
resolve material internal control defects

The Board would be directly responsible for internal control of the
Group and for reviewing its effectiveness.

The Board has engaged an external compliance consultancy and
Internal control services limited as its risk management and internal
control review adviser (“the Adviser”) to conduct the annual review
of the risk management and internal control systems for the year
ended 31 December 2021. Such review is conducted annually and
cycles reviewed are under rotation basis. The scope of review was
previously determined and approved by the Board. The Adviser has
reported findings and areas for improvement to the Audit
Committee and management. The Board and Audit Committee are
of the view that there are no material internal control defeats
noted. All recommendations from the Adviser are properly followed
up by the Group to ensure that they are implemented within a
reasonable period of time. The Board therefore considered that the
risk management and internal control systems are effective and
adequate.

The procedures and internal controls for the handling
and dissemination of inside information

The Board assesses the likely impact of any unexpected and
significant event that may impact the price of the Shares or their
trading volume and decides whether the relevant information is
considered inside information and needs to be disclosed as soon
as reasonably practicable pursuant to Rules 13.09 and 13.10 of the
Listing Rules and the Inside Information Provisions under Part XIVA
of the SFO. Executive Directors and the legal advisor also may
have responsibility for approving certain announcements and/or
circulars to be issued by the Company under powers delegated by
the Board from time to time.
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FINANCIAL REPORTING

The directors, having made appropriate enquiries, consider that the
Group has adequate resources to continue in operational existence
for the foreseeable future and that, for this reason, it is appropriate
to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial
statements for the year 2021. The Management also provides all
directors with monthly updates giving them a balanced and
understandable assessment of the Company's performance,
position and prospects in sufficient detail to enable the Board as a
whole and each director to discharge their duties under Rule 3.08
and Chapter 13 of the Listing Rules.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The position of Company Secretary is held by Mr. Lau Fan Yu, the
CFO of the Group. The Company Secretary reported to the Board
chairman from time to time. All directors have access to the advice
and services of the company secretary to ensure that board
procedures, and all applicable laws, rules and regulations are
followed.

Since Mr. Lau was appointed in 2020, he has to take no less than
15 hours of relevant professional training for the financing year
commencing on or after 1 January 2021.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard shareholder interests and rights, a separate resolution
is proposed for each substantially separate issue at shareholder
meetings, including the election of individual directors. All
resolutions put forward at shareholder meetings will be voted on
by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted
on the websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange after
each shareholder meeting.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

(1

(2)

(3)

Communication with Shareholders and Procedures
for putting forward proposals at general meetings

All published information, including financial statements,
results announcements, circulars and notices of general
meetings and associated explanatory documents
are promptly posted on the Group's website at
www.truly.com.hk. Viewers can also send enquiries and
proposals putting forward for shareholders’ consideration at
shareholder meetings to the Board or senior management by
email at enquiry@truly.com.hk or directly by raising questions
at the general meeting of the Company.

Procedures for Shareholders to convene an
extraordinary general meeting

Shareholders shall have the right to request the Board to
convene an extraordinary general meeting ("EGM") of the
Company. Shareholders holding in aggregate of not less than
one-tenth (10%) of the paid up capital of the Company which
carries the right of voting at the general meeting of the
Company may send a written request to the Board of the
Company to request for a EGM. The written requisition, duly
signed by the shareholders concerned, must state the
purposes of the meeting and must be deposited at the
Company’s principle place of business in Hong Kong.

Shareholders who wish to move a resolution at general
meetings may follow the procedures set out in the preceding
paragraph.

Constitutional Documents

There was no change to the Company’'s Memorandum and
Articles of Association during the financial year 2021. A copy
of the Memorandum and Articles of Association is posted on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

DIVIDEND POLICY

Under the dividend policy adopted by the Company with effect
from 28 March 2019, the Board may consider declaring and paying
dividends to the Shareholders out of the Company’s distributable
reserves. Such declaration and payment of dividends shall remain
to be determined at the sole discretion of the Board, subject to the
requirements of all applicable laws and the memorandum and
articles of association of the Company.
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Under the dividend policy, in deciding whether to propose or
declare a dividend and in determining the dividend amount and
means of payment, the Board shall take into account, among
others:

() the actual and expected financial performance of the Group;

(i) the Group's liquidity position;

(i)~ the capital and debt level of the Group;

(iv)  retained profits and distributable reserves of the Company
and major subsidiaries of the Group; and

(v) the working capital requirements, capital expenditure
requirements and future development plans of the Group.

The Board shall endeavor to strike a balance between providing
immediate return to the shareholders through the payment of
dividends whilst retaining adequate reserves as the Group's
working capital and for the Group's future growth. There can be no
assurance that dividends will be proposed, declared or paid by the
Company in any particular amount at any time or from time to time.

The Board will from time to time review the dividend policy and
may exercise at its absolute and sole discretion to update, amend
and/or modify the Dividend Policy at any time as the Board deems
fit and necessary. Details of the Company’s dividend policy are set
out in the announcement of the Company dated 28 March 2019.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company recognises the importance of diversity to corporate
governance and the board effectiveness.

The purpose of this policy is to set out the basic principles to be
followed to ensure that the board of directors (the “Board”) has
the appropriate balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives necessary to enhance the effectiveness of the Board
and to maintain high standards of corporate governance.

Board nomination and appointments will continue to be made on
merit basis based on its business needs from time to time while
taking into account diversity.

Selection of board candidates shall be based on a range of diversity
perspectives with reference to the Company’s business model and
specific needs, including but not limited to gender, race, language,
cultural background, educational background, industry experience
and professional experience.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

BIAXBENRES

Deloitte

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
TRULY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Truly
International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as “the Group”) set out on pages 58 to
196, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2021, and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as
at 31 December 2021, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants ("HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these
matters.
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BIAZBENRES

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matters

BARESEE

REEEHER(E)

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

FTzENAEERRESSE

Impairment assessment of goodwill

AR Z Bl EF

We identified the impairment assessment of goodwill
arising from acquisition of Truly (Hui Zhou) Smart Display
Limited (“Truly HZ") as a key audit matter due to the
significance of the balance to the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, combined with the significant
degree of estimations made by the management of the
Group associated with the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating units to which goodwill has been
allocated.
RITRWEEN CEMN) BB REaR AT ([EFEMD
B4 EBRENERBERETFIE - BN AR
EHMBMERIEEEHEE L EXETHRERES
B s ReEEBMAINESEELERZEMET -

Our procedures in relation to the impairment assessment
of goodwill arising from Truly HZ included:

T EEMNEMNEENFEMERET ETZIRTE
7

o Discussing with the management to understand
the key estimations made by the management in
the impairment assessment of goodwill including
the estimate of forecast revenue, gross margins,
growth rates and discount rates adopted;

e HEBRENBUBRBEEENEHBRENGELSN
FEME (RREMGFTTERRE - EFE  BRERE
AR E)

o Assessing the reasonableness of key inputs and
assumptions used by the management in the
estimation of recoverable amount, including
revenue projection and growth rate applied;

o  HEEEERMEFAIKEBERAEAEEGAR
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matters

BARETEE

REEEHER(E)

dit addressed the key audit matters
AEERRETSEIE

As disclosed in note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements, the management assessed the impairment
of goodwill by estimation of recoverable amount of the
cash-generating units to which goodwill has been
allocated which is the higher of the value-in-use and fair
value less costs of disposal. The value-in-use calculation
requires the Group to estimate the future cash flows
expected to arise from the cash-generating unit based on
five-year financial budgets approved by the management
of the Group and a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value. Key estimates involved in the
preparation of cash flow projections for the period
covered by the approved financial budgets include the
estimate of forecast revenue, gross margins, growth
rates and discount rates adopted. As disclosed in the
consolidated financial statements, the carrying amount of
goodwill arising from acquisition of Truly HZ was
HK$587,424,000 representing 2.0% of total assets of the
Group, after an impairment loss of HK$82,135,000
recognised in the profit or loss during the current year.
WMINGEE MBS mAM AT - ERERBMAEFDE
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BEEN2.0%  KHOKRAFERBZVERRERBR
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Evaluating the appropriateness of discount rate
applied in the forecast by comparing them to
economic and industry data, with the assistance of
our internal valuation specialists; and
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Evaluating the reasonableness of the financial
budgets approved by the management and the
cash flow projections by comparing the actual
results of those cash-generating unit to the
previously forecasted results used.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matters

BARESEE

REEEHER(E)

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

FTzENAEERRESSE

Assessment of the appropriateness of the going
concern basis

G REE B EZ B

We identified the assessment of the appropriateness of
the going concern basis as a key audit matter as it
involves subjective management judgements and
estimates based on management’ s assessment of the
Group ' s operations in the future, availability of future
financing and market conditions.

MR FECEELE BN P REBBENAEY &
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BABRESTRIE -

As set out in note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements, although the Group has generated a net
profit of approximately HK$1,431 million and positive
operating cash flows of approximately HK$6,129 million
during the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group’s
current liabilities exceeded its current assets by
approximately HK$5,938 million as at 31 December 2021.
HERE M BIHREAM IS - BT EXERBE-Z
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Our procedures in relation to the assessment of the
appropriateness of the going concern basis of the Group
included:

15t BEEEFNERECEEEZBYETZRET
B

° Obtaining an understanding of management’s
liquidity assessment including the preparation of
cash flow forecast by management;

o THREEEBHRDESET AN BEEEER
BRSRETEA

° Comparing the cash flow forecast against the
budget approved by the board of directors of the
Company and checking the accuracy of the
calculation of the cash flow forecast;

° BEeRERNE BATEFCMIETREETT
LB - WAEER S RETER 2 EREE

° Challenging the key assumptions in management’ s
cash flow forecast for the next twelve months
against historical performance, economic and
industry indicators, and other publicly available
information;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matters

BARETEE

REEEHER(E)

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

MR EARETER

The management of the Group believes that the Group
will continue to generate positive operating cash flows in
the coming twelve months. Taking into account the
Group ' s cash balance of approximately HK$1,208 million
and unutilised bank facilities which amounted to
approximately HK$2,220 million as at 31 December 2021,
the management of the Group concluded that it is
appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial
statements on a going concern basis.
EXEEEEMRE ESERARRT_EASESEES
FHELERENE - L5tk BEHRER_ZE_—F+=A
=+ RAZBESHEHO1208EETRABARITRHELN
222018870 EXEERERR KEBKEEERR
FEMBHRRBEY) 8 -

OTHER INFORMATION

Checking the details of loan repayments in the cash
flow forecast to supporting documents, such as
borrowing agreements and repayment schedules;
BEReREBEACHOXHERNEBEHREEER 2
1B - IE SR R R K

Agreeing the amount of unutilised bank facilities to
borrowing agreements and bank confirmations; and
SR BN IRIT R & R R S I R TT R —
B R

Assessing the appropriateness of the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements.

AHESRE MR AEAERE ZEE T -
Htt|wH

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.
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BIAXBENRES

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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BIAXBENRES

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

56

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal
control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’'s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’'s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of
the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

BIAXBENRES

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’'s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor's report is Lam Chi Hong.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
25 March 2022
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
RS REMEEERR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 « HE—E_—F+-A=+—HLFE

2021 AOYA)
—E-—F —ETF
NOTES HK$°000 HK$'000
B 5E F#ET T
Revenue Wz 5 22,543,455 22,171,710
Cost of sales SHERAR (19,930,479) (20,122,909
Gross profit EF 2,612,976 2,048,801
Other income H A 7 187,540 154,825
Other gains and losses HibiEzm 8 (233,690) 31,010
Impairment losses under expected TEHERBEAERT
credit loss model, net IEBEFE 11 (49,439) (314,868)
Distribution and selling expenses DHENIEEER (437,316) (423,895)
Impairment loss on goodwill BEREEE 20 (82,135) -
Remeasurement gain on previously LRIREE N RIS EERD
held interest in an associate EHETERE 36 323,248 -
Administrative expenses 1THE R (486,140) (377,176)
Finance costs MBER 9 (341,255) (380,025)
Share of results of associates DIREE R R FEE 102,061 20
Profit before tax AR 1,595,850 738,692
Income tax expense Frig®if 2 10 (165,196) (139,919)
Profit for the year AN A 11 1,430,654 598,773
Other comprehensive income TEEHMEEmKE
for the year
Items that may be reclassified AJRER B EFT D E B i)
subsequently to profit or loss: IEH -
Exchange differences arising on MEBINEBFTEE 2
translation of foreign operations SNEZEER 368,011 871,169
Share of other comprehensive income 7 {REHZ A T E fib 2 E U 25
of associates 937 4,441
Other comprehensive income AEFHMEEEE
for the year 368,948 875,610
Total comprehensive income AFErEW SRR
for the year 1,799,602 1,474,383
Profit for the year attributable to: REERAELY :
Owners of the Company ZIN/NEIEZ =N 1,377,998 502,287
Non-controlling interests FEIERR R 52,656 96,486
1,430,654 598,773
Total comprehensive income AEEL2HINRBEENWN
for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company ZIN/NEIE Z =N 1,737,751 1,315,806
Non-controlling interests FEIERR R 2 61,851 158,577
1,799,602 1,474,383
Earnings per share BRAF 15
Basic (HK cents per share) AR (ZRED 41.89 15.27
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
meMBERRER

At31 December2021 « R=—ZE_-_—&F+_-_A=+—H

2021 AOYA)
—E-—F —ETF
NOTES HK$°000 HK$'000
B 5E FET T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment WE - WENKRE 16 16,217,398 12,255,374
Right-of-use assets EREEE 17 1,063,958 860,292
Intangible assets mpEE 18 = -
Goodwvill kS 19 587,837 413
Interests in associates i AN O 21 614,152 1,249,049
Financial assets at fair value through REEEAATFEESR 2
profit or loss EREE 22 4,533 7,347
Deferred tax assets R EE E 34 56,543 56,519
Deposits paid for acquisition of WD E - BE &
property, plant and equipment BELNETE 28,327 89,457
Rental deposits Tﬂ%ﬁi% 24 80,711 72,987
Amount due from an associate JE L B 2 B SR IR 27 - 798,640
18,653,459 15,390,078
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories FE 23 4,231,207 3,444,401
Trade and other receivables FEHAZHEIE&,H\MFEH&*” 24 4,634,259 3,496,771
Trade and bills receivables at fair value REM 2 EILZEADN L EEYEE
through other comprehensive income 7 fEU BR 18 25 534,847 1,211,709
Amount due from an associate JE U Bt = N B FUR 27 - 1,590,736
Tax recoverable A Y (2] 7 T8 26,657 8,636
Restricted bank deposits 2R HIRI T K 28 444,847 360,143
Bank balances and cash RITEGERIRS 28 1,208,068 1,034,982
11,079,885 11,147,378
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Trade and other payables FEHBRTE K E A 1~ FR0E 29 9,607,792 8,516,864
Contract liabilities EXON=NE 30 614,975 333,542
Tax payable FET R 1B 137,469 79,641
Bank and other borrowings RIT R EMER 31 5,461,419 4,613,225
Bonds payable JERHES 33 371,996 44,764
Amounts due to associates KRB E N FIFUR 27 679,515 734,385
Lease liabilities HEaE 32 143,652 126,128
Derivative financial instruments ESmMIA 26 584 1,949
17,017,402 14,450,498
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEETFHE (5,937,517) (3,303,120)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS EEAERRBERE
CURRENT LIABILITIES 12,715,942 12,086,958
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e MBRAER

At31December2021 « R—E—_—&F+—-A=+—H

2021
—E_—F =
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FREEE
Bank and other borrowings RITREMER 31 655,087 898,824
Other payables H b FE 29 95,380 -
Bonds payable ERHES 33 - 355,832
Lease liabilities HEAE 32 156,509 265,624
Deferred tax liabilities BEEFIEEE 34 149,457 91,292
1,056,433 1,611,572
NET ASSETS EEFE 11,659,509 10,475,386
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EXRHE
Share capital A% A 35 65,785 65,785
Share premium and other reserves A1 (B R B R 11,216,598 9,306,100
Equity attributable to owners RAREE AELER
of the Company 11,282,383 9,371,885
Non-controlling interests FEE AR RS 377,126 1,103,501
TOTAL EQUITY R 11,659,509 10,475,386

The consolidated financial statements on pages 58 to 196 were #H N E8E 196 B VAWM KRR N T -
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 25 F=A -+ H AEEFESI ENBETE S H

March 2022 and are signed on its behalf by: UTATREESE
Lam Wai Wah Wong Pong Chun, James
MEE =L
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
EF E3
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
ReEREER

For the year ended 31 December 2021 o BZ_—_T=—F+-A=+—HILFE

Share
capital

BA
HK$'000

AT

Share
premium

RipaE
HK$'000
Fin

Special
reserve

fRlE
HK$'000

T

Capital
redemption
reserve

ERRERR
HK$'000

e
BT

Total equity
attributable to Non-
ownersof  controlling
the Company interests

NG

BEAER
NERME Bt RRSE  FERER
HK$'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T BT 7 T TFhL

Exchange Other Retained
reserve reserves profits

At 1 January 2020 K-3-%4-8-8 65,785 1,395,441 990 867 185,690) 1812516 4,966,112 8,056,021 951,678 9,007,699
Profit for the year TERRT - - - - - - 502,287 502,287 96,486 598,773
Other comprehensive income TEEEM2ENA
for the year
—Bxchange differencesarising ~ — BEFERFELZ
on translation of HEEE
foreign operations - - - - 809,078 - - 809,078 62,091 871,169
— Share of other comprehensive  — AHEBEATE MR ERA
income of associates - - - - 4441 - - 4441 - 444
Total comprehensive income TEEREN 28
for the year - - - - 813519 - 502,287 1,315,806 158,577 1,474,383
Acquisition of addtional interestin BT EAFEIER
a subsidiary (note 46(a)) (HisE46(a)) - - - - 638 5979 (6,609) 58 (6,754) (6,69)
Transfer &p - - - - - 30,636 (30,636) - - -
At 31 December 2020 RZE-EF+-A=1-A 65,785 1,395,441 990 867 628,517 1,849,131 5,431,154 9,371,885 1,103,501 10,475,386
Profit for the year TEFET = - - - - - 1,377,998 1,377,998 52,656 1,430,654
Other comprehensive income TEEE2ENE
for the year
—Exchange differences arising ~ — BEBNERFEL 2
on translation of MEEE
foreign operations - - - - 358,816 - - 358,816 9,195 368,011
— Share of other comprehensive  — HEBERTEMZ ERE
income of associates - - - - 931 - - 937 - 97
Total comprehensive income TEERENEEE
for the year - - - - 359,753 - 1,377,998 1,737,751 61,851 1,799,602
Acquisition of additional interestina W& — B A ZEIME
subsidiary [note 46(a) (Wit 461a)) - - - - 5912 (203,100) 534,39 37208 (1,089333)  (752,125)
Acquisition of subsidlary (note 36) BB I BAR (i 36) - - - - - - - - 301,107 301,107
Dividend declared (note 14) RS (Hi4) - - - - - - (164,461) (164,461) - (164,461)
Transfer & - - - - - 46,445 (46,445) - - -
At 31 December 2021 RZEF--F+-A=1-A 65,785 1,395,441 990 867 994,182 1,692,476 7132,642 11,282,383 371,126 11,659,509
ZEZ—FFH o FHEBERALTE 61



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FeHREER

For the year ended 31 December 2021 « HE—ZE-—F+=-A=+—HILFE

62

The special reserve represents the difference between the nominal value
of the shares of the subsidiaries acquired and the nominal value of the
Company’s shares issued for the acquisitions in prior year.

Other reserves comprise:

(i) the statutory surplus reserve and the enterprise expansion reserve
of the subsidiaries established in the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC") other than Hong Kong. According to the Articles of
Association of the PRC subsidiaries, a percentage of net profit as
reported in the PRC statutory accounts should be transferred to
the statutory surplus reserve and the enterprise expansion reserve
determined at the discretion of the board of directors of these
companies. The statutory surplus reserve can be set off against
accumulated losses whilst the enterprise expansion reserve can be
used for expansion of production facilities or an increase in
registered capital; and

(ii) difference between the carrying amount of interest in a subsidiary
acquired or disposed of and the consideration paid or received from
the change in equity interest in a subsidiary without losing the
control of the subsidiary.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
HRBERER

For the year ended 31 December 2021 o BZE—T=—F+=-H=

+—HIEFE

2021 2020
—E-—F —E_THF
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET T
(Restated)
(FeEE )
OPERATING ACTIVITIES KEEE
Profit before tax TR 1,595,850 738,692
Adjustments for: FHEE -
Interest income FEMA (14,074) (11,028)
Interest income from an associate B AR 2 M B A (33,620) (31,448
Impairment losses under expected credit JEWBRIETE R E B AEAT
loss model on trade receivable, net BEEE TR 49,439 314,868
(Reversal of) Allowance for inventories, net  (#[0) IF & B & /F58 (3,752) 49,002
Depreciation of property, plant M - WEREETE
and equipment 1,334,368 1,316,531
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FEHREEENTE 68,667 45,901
Loss on disposal/write-off of property, HEMEE  BEM
plant and equipment Byt 255,522 5,600
Impairment loss on goodwill mEREBE 82,135 -
Loss (gain) from changes in fair value of PERUATFEBEYERE Y
financial assets at fair value through ERMEEATFEEED
profit or loss B8 (Wa) 2,814 (1,798)
Loss on fair value changes of derivative PTESBTEATEEEY
financial instruments, net B8 558 890 29,009
Government grants IEg/Speaa (113,427) (73,131)
Remeasurement gain on previously held DN i NCIES =R T
interest in an associate EIErERE (323,248) -
Gain on disposal of an associate HEBE AR 2 WS - (6,822)
Share of results of associates DIREE R R FEE (102,061) (20)
Finance costs Bi5E A 341,255 380,025
Operating cash flows before movements Rt BEECEYR o KEHERE
in working capital 3,140,758 2,755,381
(Increase) decrease in inventories FEOEm D (233,775) 718,067
Increase in trade and other receivables & U BR T8 K7 EL b e U ZRIE IS AN (620,436) (20,107)
Decrease in trade and bills receivables at fair A E 2 E AR T EETEZ
value through other comprehensive income  FEUSBRIE & fEUX Z 458 > 706,485 167,447
Increase in amount due from an associate JE U B 2 N B FRIE IS AN - (908,672)
Increase in trade and other payables JFESTBRTA N E b JE {5 FRIA S 0 2,990,987 2,302,073
Increase in contract liabilities AHAEIEN 135,800 69,425
(Decrease) increase in amounts due JFEASTESE & A B R IE O 4) 120
to associates (4,454) 562,734
Government grants received for BB 2B R R &)
operating activities 110,657 73,011
Settlement of derivative financial instruments #E {74 @ T A (161) (27,454)
Cash generated from operations LEEBFTHRELZ H % 6,225,861 5,691,905
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid BB ABNER (10,063) (4,682)
PRC withholding tax paid BT BEEHH - (3,402)
PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid EAPEEMEN (85,166) (58,275)
Tax paid for other jurisdictions Hh R ERE R 2 @A (1,336) (1,040)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES && ZBMERLFE 6,129,296 5,624,506

T FFR o FERNEBRERAE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
HeBeERER

For the year ended 31 December 2021 « HE—E_—F+-A=+—HLFE

2021 AOYA)
—E--F —ZT-FF
NOTE HK$°000 HK$'000
B =E FET T 7T
(Restated)
¢ <=5u0)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES BRETH
Purchase of property, plant BEYE  BEERE
and equipment (527,215) (959,606)
Placement of restricted bank deposits TR HIRI TR (269,042) (929,265)
Net cash outflow on acquisition of WHEM B A RIMIRE R
a subsidiary 36 (38,604) -
Payments for rental deposits REEZ SR (7,724) (72,987)
Deposits paid for acquisition of property,  FtUEME « BE R
plant and equipment BEZME® (6,291) (89,457)
Release of restricted bank deposits R IR EIERITIER 211,733 730,040
Proceeds from disposals of property, HEWE  BMENMRED
plant and equipment Frig kI8 2,369 34,648
Interest received 2R & 47,694 42,476
Payments for right-of-use assets EREEENK - (3,795)
Proceeds from disposal of an associate HEE QR FTS RIE - 22,838
NET CASH USED IN RETHFARESEE
INVESTING ACTIVITIES (587,080) (1,225,108)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES A EE
Repayment of bank and BRIRITREAMBE R
other borrowings (10,763,813) (10,586,639)
Acquisition of additional interest in W ig — R B A Al RE S ME =
a subsidiary (752,125) (6,696)
Interest paid for bank and FIRTT REMERZ TS
other borrowings (324,557) (359,076)
Dividend paid BATRR S (164,461) -
Repayment of lease liabilities EEHEaE (135,687) (42,597)
Interest paid for bonds payable EfEMESFE (20,319) (20,003)
Repayments of bonds payable BEEMNES (45,339) -
Interest paid for lease liabilities ENHEERETE (355) (855)
New bank and other borrowings raised s RIT R EMIER 6,799,424 7,095,055
NET CASH USED IN BMETBFARSFE
FINANCING ACTIVITIES (5,407,232) (3,920,811)
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND ReRBREeSEEBERIEMFE
CASH EQUIVALENTS 134,984 478,587
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FzRERRELEEER
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 1,034,982 503,680
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE EREB o HE
RATE CHANGES 38,102 52,715
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FERZESRESEE
END OF THE YEAR, EHE
represented by bank balances BRITREFLERE
and cash 1,208,068 1,034,982
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M EGHRRME

For the year ended 31 December2021 « BE—ZT=—F+-A=+—HItFE

GENERAL

Truly International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is
incorporated in the Cayman Islands under the Companies
Law of the Cayman Islands as an exempted company. The
Company is a public limited company with its shares listed on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). Its ultimate controlling party is Mr. Lam Wai
Wah, who is also the Chairman and Managing Director of the
Company. The addresses of the registered office and principal
place of business of the Company are disclosed in the section
headed "General Information” to the annual report.

The functional currency of the Company is United States
dollars (“US$"). The consolidated financial statements are
presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$") which is different
from the functional currency of the Company, as the directors
of the Company (the “Directors”) consider that HK$ is the
most appropriate presentation currency in view of its place of
listing.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. Its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in the business of
manufacture and sale of liquid crystal display (“LCD")
products including touch panel products and electronic
consumer products including compact camera module,
fingerprint identification modules, personal health care
products and electrical devices.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs")

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") for the first time,
which are mandatorily effective for the Group annual period
beginning on or after 1 January 2021 for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements:
Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related
Rent Concessions
Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform — Phase 2

Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

—RER

ENERERAR([AAANDRASESR
BEREREAREEMR LA —HIHEA
Bl e ARRIR—HLEHERRRA - ERMHE
EEBMARIMERAR (B L -
HERERALTRAMEELE - ITRARTE
TREREFHLE - AREfMmERRE
BERMB U RNFERI—RER ] —
W -

ARR 2z E¥ RET(ET]) - ARF
EX(Ex5)REEELTMA  RRET
(MEL)) REEa Z258% - BUREUHH
BRIARRANEE BN BT

ARR TR EHERAR  HBRARZEE
EBREENMHERAERBE TS ([LCDD E
m(BREEERER) NETHEER B
IRALEMAEAE - SRR RIRAE - AR
BERRETRE -

EREEMEREEN(EFRMER
HHER 1) 1B RT

REFERFERCEBUBREE
1&5T

RAFEE  ARBECHREGEVBHRERE
REREAGHMAG ([EEEHMAE])
Bz TONEBMBRELNZER] - BEE
BN -_T - —F— ARtz RABZEF
[ HAE] 5 R AE 2

EEMBMELERZE 1658  Covid-19487
(1&77) HeEE
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HRIZE 1658 (EFT)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MEERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 « HE—ZE-—F+=-A=+—HILFE

66

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs") (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (Continued)

In addition, the Group applied the agenda decisions of the
IFRS Interpretations Committee (the “Committee”) of the
International Accounting Standards Board issued in June
2021 which clarified the costs an entity should include as
“estimated costs necessary to make the sale” when
determining the net realisable value of inventories and in
December 2021 which clarified how liabilities to pay for
goods or services received and the related cash flows when
the related invoices are part of supply chain financing
arrangements should be presented in the statement of
financial position and statement of cash flows.

Except as described below, the application of the
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no
material impact on the Group's financial positions and
performance for the current and prior years and/or on the
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS
7, HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
— Phase 2

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in
the current year. The amendments relate to changes in the
basis for determining the contractual cash flows of financial
assets, financial liabilities and lease liabilities as a result of
interest rate benchmark reform, specific hedge accounting
requirements and the related disclosure requirements
applying HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures
("HKFRS 7").

As at 1 January 2021, the Group has several financial
liabilities, the interests of which are indexed to benchmark
rates that will or may be subject to interest rate benchmark
reform. The following table shows the total amounts of these
outstanding contracts. The amounts of financial liabilities are
shown at their carrying amounts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M EGHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 o BZ_—_T=—F+-A=+—HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs") (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS
7, HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

2. EREEMEBSEN(FEMER

HEER ) BRI (&)

REFERFERZERMBREED 2
1E5T (&)

EREBMBHRELENFEIN  FEEFHE
RISE305E FRMBBMELENLEINR  FE

— Phase 2 (Continued) MBREEUFIREREEVBRELENSE
165 (IEET) FIEBENE — EF-_BR ¥
2 (E)
HKD
Hong Kong USD London
Interbank Interbank
Offered Rate Offered Rate
(“HIBOR") (“LIBOR")
BT EpH
EEBRIT RBER 1T
EEZii3= B3-S
(TEBRT (MM ER1T
EEZi3=H); EEZ3=N)
HK$'000 HK$'000
T T
Financial liabilities cRBE
Bank borrowings* RITRER > 917,202 651,631
* They included bank loans and trust receipt loans as disclosed in * HBeENZI BENRITERRETRIE -

note 31.

The amendments have had no impact on the consolidated
financial statements as none of the relevant contracts has
been transitioned to the relevant replacement rates during
the year. The Group will apply the practical expedient in
relation to the changes in contractual cash flows resulting
from the interest rate benchmark reform for bank borrowings
measured at amortised cost. Additional disclosures as
required by HKFRS 7 are set out in note 38.
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs") (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (Continued)

Impacts on application of the agenda decision of the Committee

— Cost necessary to sell inventories (HKAS 2 Inventories)

In June 2021, the Committee, through its agenda decision,
clarified the costs an entity should include as “estimated
costs necessary to make the sale” when determining the net
realisable value of inventories. In particular, whether such
costs should be limited to those that are incremental to the
sale. The Committee concluded that the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale should not be limited to those
that are incremental but should also include costs that an
entity must incur to sell its inventories including those that
are not incremental to a particular sale.

The Group's accounting policy prior to the Committee’s
agenda decision was to determine the net realisable value of
inventories taking into consideration incremental costs only.
Upon application of the Committee’s agenda decision, the
Group changed its accounting policy to determine the net
realisable value of inventories taking into consideration both
incremental costs and other cost necessary to sell inventories
including sales staff salaries. The new accounting policy has
been applied retrospectively.

The application of the Committee’s agenda decision has had

no material impact on the Group's financial positions and
performance.
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG 2. EHEFBEMBHEEN(FEMBE
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS HIER ) ERT (@)

(“HKFRSs") (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (Continued)

Impacts on application of the agenda decision of the Committee

— Supply chain financing arrangements

In December 2020, the Committee, through its agenda
decision, clarified how liabilities to pay for goods or services
received and the related cash flows when the related invoices
are part of supply chain financing arrangements should be
presented in the statement of financial position and
statement of cash flows. The Committee observed that an
entity’s assessment of the nature of the liabilities that are
part of the supply chain financing arrangements may help in
determining whether the related cash flows arise from

REFERFERZEBUBREE 2
1837 (&)

ERZEERERAENE
ZHE
NZE_FTF+_H ZEBRARER
EEETEHASEER M EERE LN —
EOE - BV ER AR ERESRER
2N WS REREH B E I MR
BeRE T8 TEY —EETEYHES
HEEREZE X NEEEERNTHA]
AR ETIHEER S RERKRELEEES
ERMEEY - At HEcmEEEELS
HHEE S ERNEMNRIFEERR I EREH

— HEERME

operating or financing activities. Accordingly, the settlement E1§$§ﬁ£3£iﬁé§% BAR R e
of trade related payables directly by the relevant financiers BHEEERSE BEEED  YERSTEE
which resulted in derecognition of the relevant liabilities KPHREEE 25 -

constitute non-cash transactions and the entity’'s subsequent
settlement with financiers should be considered as
repayment of borrowings and presented under financing
activities in the statement of cash flows.

Prior to the Committee’'s agenda decision, the Group
presented the settlement of trade related payables directly by
the relevant financiers as cash outflow on operating activities
and cash inflow from financing activities. Following the
adoption of the Committee’s agenda decision, the
management of the Group changed its accounting policies
retrospectively by presenting the settlement of trade related
payables directly by the relevant financiers as major non-cash
transactions.

The application of the Committee’s agenda decision resulted
in the increase in net cash from operating activities by
HK$3,520,107,000 and the increase in net cash used in
financing activities by HK$3,520,107,000 for the year ended
31 December 2021.

Comparative figures in consolidated statement of cash flows
have been restated to conform with current year's
presentation. Accordingly, the change in trade and other
payables under operating activities for the year ended 31
December 2020 has been restated from decrease in trade
and other payables of HK$726,960,000 to increase in trade
and other payables of HK$2,302,073,000 and the new bank
and other borrowings raised under financing activities for the
year ended 31 December 2020 has been restated from
HK$10,124,088,000 to HK$7,095,055,000.

EZESEHBERATE 2R - NEE KB
BEREEEAENE HRBREERIEY A
?\g%;ﬁﬁmfﬁimﬂj&F&@ﬁ/ﬁ@]ﬁ’]fﬁfmb
A EZEGRBRBATE  AEEE

BENE A SRR - Hﬂﬁ%ﬁmﬂé%%ﬁ
*ﬁii%iﬁﬁféi%mﬁﬁﬂ’éﬁﬁﬁ W ABEEEES

J%ﬁﬁéﬁauﬁ*i/%ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁi—g: $
T+ A=+ HLEFEMNKEETHMEES
SH #8311 3,520,107,000 57 7T & Bt & 5& 8 P
FAIR 4 H 581N 3,520,107,000 7 7T °

HERERERTHLIRETEEIINFE
KFEEMNEFHR - B HEZZ_ZF 1=
A=T—HLFELLEHIETEMNEKRER
Hih B RIBERMEE)E AEMIRIE R M E
3R R 4 726,960,000 58 TT E 5] A FE T ER
T8 N E b i < 5k 18 1% 51 2,302,073,000 7% 7T
NWEREE-_ZE-_TF+_A=+—HItFE
FELE BB TG IRIT R EMERE @
10,124,088,0007% JT & %I A& 7,095,055,000
BT °

The reclassification has had no effect on reported profit or EFOAHTEM2HRAEMHREIER 2|
loss, total comprehensive income, financial position or equity Wesiass ISR ER I ESE -
for any period presented.
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(“HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not

yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not

yet effective:

HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendment to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37

Amendments to HKFRSs

Insurance Contracts and the
related Amendments®

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework?

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture*

Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond
30 June 2021"

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5
(2020)°

Disclosure of Accounting
Policies®

Definition of Accounting
Estimates?®

Deferred Tax related to
Assets and Liabilities arising
from a Single Transaction®

Property, Plant and Equipment
— Proceeds before
Intended Use?

Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract?

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018 — 20202

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not
yet effective (Continued)

Except for the amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below,
the directors of the Company anticipate that the application of
all other new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no
material impact on the consolidated financial statements in
the foreseeable future.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current and related amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)

The amendments provide clarification and additional guidance
on the assessment of right to defer settlement for at least
twelve months from reporting date for classification of
liabilities as current or non-current, which:

° specify that the classification of liabilities as current or
non-current should be based on rights that are in
existence at the end of the reporting period.
Specifically, the amendments clarify that:

() the classification should not be affected by
management intentions or expectations to settle
the liability within 12 months; and

(i) if the right is conditional on the compliance with
covenants, the right exists if the conditions are
met at the end of the reporting period, even if the
lender does not test compliance until a later date;
and

° clarify that if a liability has terms that could, at the
option of the counterparty, result in its settlement by
the transfer of the entity's own equity instruments,
these terms do not affect its classification as current or
non-current only if the entity recognises the option
separately as an equity instrument applying HKAS 32
Financial Instruments: Presentation.

In addition, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 was revised as a
consequence of the Amendments to HKAS 1 to align the
corresponding wordings with no change in conclusion.

Based on the Group's outstanding liabilities as at 31
December 2021, the application of the amendments will not
result in reclassification of the Group’s liabilities.
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not
yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2
Disclosure of Accounting Policies

HKAS 1 is amended to replace all instances of the term
“significant accounting policies” with “material accounting
policy information”. Accounting policy information is material
if, when considered together with other information included
in an entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be
expected to influence decisions that the primary users of
general purpose financial statements make on the basis of
those financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy
information may be material because of the nature of the
related transactions, other events or conditions, even if the
amounts are immaterial. However, not all accounting policy
information relating to material transactions, other events or
conditions is itself material. If an entity chooses to disclose
immaterial accounting policy information, such information
must not obscure material accounting policy information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements
(the "Practice Statement”) is also amended to illustrate how
an entity applies the “four-step materiality process” to
accounting policy disclosures and to judge whether
information about an accounting policy is material to its
financial statements. Guidance and examples are added to
the Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the financial position or performance of
the Group but may affect the disclosures of the Group's
significant accounting policies. The impacts of application, if
any, will be disclosed in the Group's future consolidated
financial statements.
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not
yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates
The amendments define accounting estimates as “monetary
amounts in financial statements that are subject to
measurement uncertainty”. An accounting policy may require
items in financial statements to be measured in a way that
involves measurement uncertainty — that is, the accounting
policy may require such items to be measured at monetary
amounts that cannot be observed directly and must instead
be estimated. In such a case, an entity develops an
accounting estimate to achieve the objective set out by the
accounting policy. Developing accounting estimates involves
the use of judgements or assumptions based on the latest
available, reliable information.

In addition, the concept of changes in accounting estimates
in HKAS 8 is retained with additional clarifications.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the Group's consolidated financial
statements.

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction

The amendments narrow the scope of the recognition
exemption of deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets in
paragraphs 15 and 24 of HKAS 12 Income Taxes so that it no
longer applies to transactions that, on initial recognition, give
rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences.

As disclosed in note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements, for leasing transactions in which the tax
deductions are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group
applies HKAS 12 requirements to the relevant assets and
liabilities separately. Temporary differences on initial
recognition of the relevant assets and liabilities are not
recognised due to application of the initial recognition
exemption.
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not
yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction (Continued)
Upon the application of the amendments, the Group will
recognise a deferred tax asset (to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary difference can be utilised) and a
deferred tax liability for all deductible and taxable temporary
differences associated with the right-of-use assets and the
lease liabilities.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2023, with early application
permitted. As at 31 December 2021, the carrying amounts of
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities which are subject to
the amendments amounted to HK$409,492,000 and
HK$300,161,000 respectively.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the financial position and performance
of the Group.

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2018 - 2020

The annual improvements make amendments to the
following standards.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

The amendment clarifies that for the purpose of assessing
whether modification of terms of original financial liability
constitutes substantial modification under the “10 per cent”
test, a borrower includes only fees paid or received between
the borrower and the lender, including fees paid or received
by either the borrower or the lender on the other’s behalf.

HKFRS 16 Leases

The amendment to lllustrative Example 13 accompanying
HKFRS 16 removes from the example the illustration of
reimbursement relating to leasehold improvements by the
lessor in order to remove any potential confusion.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have

significant impact on the financial position and performance
of the Group.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements

In preparing the consolidated financial statements of
the Company, the Directors have given careful
consideration to the future liquidity of the Company and
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
in light of the fact that the Group's current liabilities
exceeded its current assets by approximately HK$5,938
million as at 31 December 2021.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group
generated a net profit of approximately HK$1,431
million and generated operating cash flows of
approximately HK$6,129 million. As at 31 December
2021, total cash and cash equivalents of approximately
HK$1,208 million were held by the Group and unutilised
bank facilities amounted to approximately HK$2,220
million were available. In the opinion of the Directors,
the Group expects to continue to generate positive
operating cash flows in the coming twelve months.

Based on the aforesaid factors, the Directors are
satisfied that the Group will have sufficient financial
resources to meet in full its financial obligations as and
when they fall due for the foreseeable future.
Accordingly, the consolidated financial statements have
been prepared on a going concern basis.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation of the
consolidated financial statements, information is
considered material if such information is reasonably
expected to influence decisions made by primary users.
In addition, the consolidated financial statements
include applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (“CQO").

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain
financial instruments that are measured at fair values at
the end of each reporting period, as explained in the
accounting policies set out below.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price is
directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a
liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics
of the asset or liability if market participants would take
those characteristics into account when pricing the
asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on
such a basis, except for share-based payment
transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2
Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are
accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16 Leases,
and measurements that have some similarities to fair
value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value
in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36
Impairment of Assets.

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair
value and a valuation technique that unobservable
inputs is to be used to measure fair value in subsequent
periods, the valuation technique is calibrated so that at
initial recognition the results of the valuation technique
equals the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair
value measurements are observable and the
significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement
in its entirety, which are described as follows:

° Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in

active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 o BZ_—_T=—F+-A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for
the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly;
and

° Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the
asset or liability.

3.2 Significant accounting policies

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control
is achieved when the Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its
returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when
the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or
disposed of during the year are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control
the subsidiary.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. FEMERERGREERFESHH
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 XERTBER(E)
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Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive
income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which
represent present ownership interests entitling their
holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group's interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group's interests in subsidiaries that do
not result in the Group losing control over the
subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions.
The carrying amounts of the Group's relevant
components of equity and the non-controlling interests
are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative
interests in the subsidiaries, including re-attribution of
relevant reserves between the Group and the non-
controlling interests according to the Group’s and the
non-controlling interests’ proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value of
the consideration paid or received is recognised directly
in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

FEMEBREREEREERHE
®®)

32 FEEFEE#E)

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which
is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair
values of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
incurred by the Group to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in
exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related
costs are generally recognised in profit or loss as
incurred.

Except for certain recognition exemptions, the
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed must
meet the definitions of an asset and a liability in the
Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of
Financial Statements (replaced by the Conceptual
Framework for Financial Reporting issued in October
2010).

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair
value except for deferred tax assets or liabilities, and
assets or liabilities related to employee benefit
arrangements are recognised and measured in
accordance with HKAS 12 Income Taxes and HKAS 19
Employee Benefits respectively.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value
of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree over the net amount of the identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed as at acquisition
date. If, after re-assessment, the net amount of the
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree
and the fair value of the acquirer’'s previously held
interest in the acquiree, the excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.
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Business combinations (Continued)

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of the relevant subsidiary’s net assets in the
event of liquidation are initially measured at the non-
controlling interests’ proportionate share of the
recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets or at fair value.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the
Group's previously held equity interest in the acquiree
is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e.
the date when the Group obtains control), and the
resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or
loss or other comprehensive income, as appropriate.
Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to
the acquisition date that have previously been
recognised in other comprehensive income and
measured under HKFRS 9 would be accounted for on
the same basis as would be required if the Group had
disposed directly of the previously held equity interest.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is
carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition
of the business less accumulated impairment losses, if
any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating units
(or groups of cash-generating units) that is expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination, which
represent the lowest level at which the goodwill is
monitored for internal management purposes and not
larger than an operating segment.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. GAMERZGHEERTERK

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ®(E)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 XERTBER(E)
Goodwill (Continued) HME(E)
A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating BENERHE ZFeRIENM (B e
units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for BRENEEN 2 4B 7)) B F ek (B EZ ) &
impairment annually or more frequently when there is EBZEMNARREHRBEZ FEEE
indication that the unit may be impaired. If the ITREAR - T lE B DR ER
recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount, the HER: BEEBEZEIFAEB L
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying BAUEIREMEEZREE S AER
amount of any goodwill and then to the other assets on BEM (HReHMMELM AR AT
a pro rata basis based on the carrying amount of each EEEEEBIRILASEEEME
asset in the unit (or group of cash-generating units). Ee
On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or any REERERSHRIMEMN—HES
of the cash-generating unit within the group of cash- BN ANEMIRESHEERNE 7y
generating units, the attributable amount of goodwill is EEGcBEI \BEFLEERzzZSEE
included in the determination of the amount of profit or Ao EAREETERS BRI (S—
loss on disposal. When the Group disposes of an IR S TREEE AL AR & BRERE L) W
operation within the cash-generating unit (or a cash- B FTHERNESHEMEEER
generating unit within a group of cash-generating units), (kIR & BEER B AL) EFTIR B IR € BEEY
the amount of goodwill disposed of is measured on the B (g — 4IRS MEEN) #H 248
basis of the relative values of the operation (or the cash- HEEEZE -

generating unit) disposed of and the portion of the cash-
generating unit (or the group of cash-generating units)

retained.
The Group's policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition REBERKE —HBE R ARMELR
of an associate is described above. BN BURERN EX -
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power
to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of the investee but is not control or joint
control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements
using the equity method of accounting. The financial
statements of associates used for equity accounting
purposes are prepared using uniform accounting
policies as those of the Group for like transactions and
events in similar circumstances. Under the equity
method, an investment in an associate is initially
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the
Group’'s share of the profit or loss and other
comprehensive income of the associate. When the
Group's share of losses of an associate exceeds the
Group’s interest in that associate (which includes any
long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the
Group’s net investment in the associate), the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further losses.
Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that
the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations
or made payments on behalf of the associate.

An investment in associate is accounted for using the
equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate. On acquisition of the investment
in an associate, any excess of the cost of the
investment over the Group's share of the net fair value
of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is
recognised as goodwill, which is included within the
carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the
Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment,
after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit
or loss in the period in which the investment is
acquired.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. FEMERERGREERFESHH
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 XERTBER(E)

Investments in associates (Continued)

The Group assesses whether there is an objective
evidence that the interest in an associate may be
impaired. When any objective evidence exists, the
entire carrying amount of the investment (including
goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with
HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its recoverable
amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs
of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment
loss recognised is not allocated to any asset, including
goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount of the
investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is
recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent
that the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence
over an associate, it is accounted for as a disposal of
the entire interest in the investee with a resulting gain
or loss being recognised in profit or loss. In addition, the
Group accounts for all amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income in relation to that
associate on the same basis as would be required if
that associate had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously
recognised in other comprehensive income by that
associate would be reclassified to profit or loss on the
disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group
reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss
(as a reclassification adjustment) upon disposal/partial
disposal of the relevant associate.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the
Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions
with the associate is recognised in the Group's
consolidated financial statements only to the extent of
interests in the associate that are not related to the
Group.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. GAMERZGHEERTERK

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT (&)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 XERTBER(E)
Revenue from contracts with customers EREHKE

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service
(or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a
series of distinct goods or services that are substantially
the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

° the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group's
performance as the Group performs;

° the Group's performance creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

° the Group's performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the distinct good
or service.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the
Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. FEMERERGREERFESHH
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 XERTBER(E)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including leasehold land
and buildings held for use in the production or supply of
goods or services, or for administrative purposes (other
than construction in progress as described below), are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

Properties in the course of construction for production,
supply or administrative purposes are carried at cost,
less any recognised impairment loss. Costs include any
costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to the
location and condition necessary for it to be capable of
operating in a manner intended by management and,
for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in
accordance with the Group's accounting policy.
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as
other property assets, commences when the assets are
ready for their intended use.

When the Group makes payments for ownership
interests of properties which includes both leasehold
land and building elements, the entire consideration is
allocated between the leasehold land and the building
elements in proportion to the relative fair values at initial
recognition. To the extent the allocation of the relevant
payments can be made reliably, interest in leasehold
land is presented as “right-of-use assets” in the
consolidated statement of financial position. When the
consideration cannot be allocated reliably between non-
lease building element and undivided interest in the
underlying leasehold land, the entire properties are
classified as property, plant and equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets (other than construction in progress) less their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, using
the reducing balance/straight-line methods. The
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.
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Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on
the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant
and equipment is determined as the difference between
the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after initial
application or arising from business combinations, the
Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a
lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at
inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed
unless the terms and conditions of the contract are
subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract
For a contract that contains a lease component and one
or more additional lease or non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to
each lease component on the basis of the relative
stand-alone price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease
components, including contract for acquisition of
ownership interests of a property which includes both
leasehold land and non-lease building components,
unless such allocation cannot be made reliably.

The Group applies practical expedient not to separate
non-lease components from lease component, and
instead account for the lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a single lease
component.
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Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of buildings that have a lease term
of twelve months or less from the commencement
date and do not contain a purchase option. Lease
payments on short-term leases are recognised as
expense on a straight-line basis or another systematic
basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the
lease liability;

° any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

° any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

° an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying
assets, restoring the site on which it is located or
restoring the underlying asset to the condition
required by the terms and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful life.
Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated
useful life and the lease term.
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Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets (Continued)

When the Group obtains ownership of the underlying
leased assets at the end of the lease term, upon
exercising purchase options, the carrying amount of the
relevant right-of-use assets are transferred to property,
plant and equipment.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments and included in
the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the
present value of lease payments that are unpaid at that
date. In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in
the lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

° fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

° variable lease payments that depend on an index
or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate

as at the commencement date;

° amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees;
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Lease liabilities (Continued) HEEE (&)

° the exercise price of a purchase option if the
Group is reasonably certain to exercise the option;
and

° payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if
the lease term reflects the Group exercising an
option to terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
assets) whenever the lease term has changed, in which
case the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the date of reassessment.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease modifications
The Group accounts for a lease modification as a
separate lease if:

° the modification increases the scope of the lease
by adding the right to use one or more underlying
assets; and

° the consideration for the leases increases by an
amount commensurate with the stand-alone price
for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect
the circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability
based on the lease term of the modified lease by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification.
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Leases (Continued) HE#E)
The Group as a lessee (Continued) FKEBEBRBEA (E)
Lease modifications (Continued) HEEE (&)

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the
relevant right-of-use asset.

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as
finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the
lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All
other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over
the lease term.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for
under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments from lessees.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the
dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms
of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.
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Foreign currencies (Continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, (i) the assets and liabilities of the
Group's foreign operations are translated into US$; (ii)
the assets and liabilities of the Group denominated or
translated into US$ are then translated into the
presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong
dollars) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of
the reporting period. Income and expenses items are
translated at the average exchange rates for the period.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
under the heading of the exchange reserve (attributed
to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal
of the Group's entire interest in a foreign operation, or a
disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an
interest in an associate that includes a foreign operation
of which the retained interest becomes a financial
asset), all of the exchange differences accumulated in
equity in respect of that operation attributable to the
owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which
are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of
time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
added to the cost of those assets until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or
sale.
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Borrowing costs (Continued)

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after
the related asset is ready for its intended use or sale is
included in the general borrowing pool for calculation of
capitalisation rate on general borrowings. Investment
income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them and that the grants will
be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a
systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the
grants are intended to compensate. Specifically,
government grants whose primary condition is that the
Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire
non-current assets are recognised as deferred income
in the consolidated statement of financial position and
transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational
basis over the useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants related to income that are
receivable as compensation for expenses or losses
already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate
financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they become receivable. Such grants are
presented under “other income”.

Employee benefits

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the state-managed retirement benefit
scheme and the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are
recognised as an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.
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Employee benefits (Continued)

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be
paid as and when employees rendered the services. All
short-term employee benefits are recognised as an
expense unless another HKFRS requires or permits the
inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees (such as wages and salaries and annual
leave) after deducting any amount already paid.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit before tax
because of income or expense that are taxable or
deductible in other years and items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group's liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against
which those deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition (other than in a business combination)
of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In
addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition
of goodwill.
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Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries and associates, except where the Group is
able to control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that there will be
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the
benefits of the temporary differences and they are
expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of the reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is settled or the asset is realised,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of
the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group
first determines whether the tax deductions are
attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease
liabilities.
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Taxation (Continued)

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies
HKAS 12 Income Taxes requirements to right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities separately. Temporary
differences on initial recognition of the relevant right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities are not recognised due
to application of the initial recognition exemption.
Temporary differences arising from subsequent revision
to the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities, resulting from remeasurement of lease
liabilities and lease modifications, that are not subject to
initial recognition exemption are recognised on the date
of remeasurement or modification.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the
same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in
which case, the current and deferred tax are also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity respectively.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets including acquired technical know-how
with finite useful lives are carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible assets
with finite useful lives is recognised on a straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimated
useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at the
end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate being accounted for on a
prospective basis.
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Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost of inventories are determined on
a first-in, first-out method. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price for inventories
less all estimated costs of completion and costs
necessary to make the sale. Costs necessary to make
the sale include incremental costs directly attributable
to the sale and non-incremental costs which the Group
must incur to make the sale.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases
or sales of financial assets are recognised and
derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the
market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers ("HKFRS 15"). Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or
issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
("FVTPL")) are added to or deducted from the fair value
of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets
or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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Financial instruments (Continued)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial
liability and of allocating interest income and interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts and payments (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate,
a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash
flows; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“"FVTOCI"):

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both selling and
collecting contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL.

(i)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost and trade
receivables subsequently measured at FVTOCI.
Interest income is calculated by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset, except for financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired (see below). For financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the
financial asset from the next reporting period. If
the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial asset is
no longer credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the asset is no
longer credit-impaired.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT (&)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 XERTBER(E)
Financial instruments (Continued) EMIA(E)
Financial assets (Continued) EHEE (&)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)
(i)~ Trade receivables classified as at FVTOCI

Subsequent changes in the carrying amounts for
trade receivables classified as at FVTOCI as a
result of interest income calculated using the
effective interest method are recognised in profit
or loss. All other changes in the carrying amount
of these receivables are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated under
the heading of FVTOCI reserve. Impairment
allowances are recognised in profit or loss with
corresponding adjustment to other comprehensive
income without reducing the carrying amounts of
these receivables. When these receivables are
derecognised, the cumulative gains or losses
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income are reclassified to profit or loss.

(i)  Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or
designated as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period, with any
fair value gains or losses recognised in profit or
loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or
loss excludes any dividend earned on the financial
asset and is included in the “other gains and
losses” line item.
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Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and financial guarantee
contract subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL") model on financial assets
(including trade and other receivables, trade receivables
at FVTOCI, amounts due from associates, restricted
bank deposits and bank balances) and financial
guarantee contract which is subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in
credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m
ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessment
are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current conditions at the
reporting date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, in which case the Group recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should
be recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.
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Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and financial guarantee
contract subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In
making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that

RIEEZ B WG ERF W BETT
WEFEZTMEEREBERSA
BB (&)

() [EERBREEEN
AHAEE R B MR FER AR A
BREE N - AEBE BN ER
SRERTAZLEN ZERE
RYaTER A e T ARAE
Wz Bk o fEHZFHEE - RE
BMEBAEERKEBEZEENR
EHEER  BRBANDEIBE
RS E BV S 2 B 1 AR e
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experience and forward-looking information that is

available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken BEEms  FHEERRESHE

into account when assessing whether credit risk
has increased significantly:

EEMEEETINER

o an actual or expected significant o @I A ZINEE(anE) sk
deterioration in the financial instrument’s W EB 15 B 5T A B ok 78 BB
external (if available) or internal credit rating; SE A

° significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;

° existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;

° an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of the
debtor;
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and financial guarantee
contract subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

° an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the credit
risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more
than 30 days past due, unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that
the credit risk on a debt instrument has not
increased significantly since initial recognition if
the debt instrument is determined to have low
credit risk at the reporting date. A debt instrument
is determined to have low credit risk if i) it has a
low risk of default, ii) the borrower has a strong
capacity to meet its contractual cash flow
obligations in the near term and iii) adverse
changes in economic and business conditions in
the longer term may, but will not necessarily,
reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its
contractual cash flow obligations. The Group
considers a debt instrument to have low credit
risk when it has an internal or external credit rating
of ‘investment grade’ as per globally understood
definitions.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. GAMERZGHEERTERK

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT (&)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 XERTBER(E)
Financial instruments (Continued) EMIA(E)
Financial assets (Continued) EHEE (&)

Impairment of financial assets and financial guarantee

contract subject to impairment assessment under

HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
For financial guarantee contract, the date that the
Group becomes a party to the irrevocable
commitment is considered to be the date of initial
recognition for the purposes of assessing
impairment. In assessing whether there has been
a significant increase in the credit risk for financial
guarantee contract, the Group considers the
changes in the risk that the specified debtor will
default on the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk and
revises them as appropriate to ensure that the
criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount becomes
past due.

(i) Definition of default
For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in
full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset is
more than 90 days past due unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion
is more appropriate.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and financial guarantee
contract subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of that financial
asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial
asset is credit-impaired includes observable data
about the following events:

(a)  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

(c)  the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic
or contractual reasons relating to the
borrower’s financial difficulty, having granted
to the borrower a concession(s) that the
lender(s) would not otherwise consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or
has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial
assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group's recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a
derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries
are recognised in profit or loss.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. GAMERZGHEERTERK

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT (&)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 XERTBER(E)
Financial instruments (Continued) EMIA(E)
Financial assets (Continued) EHEE (&)

Impairment of financial assets and financial guarantee

contract subject to impairment assessment under

HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL
The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the
exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an
unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default
occurring as the weights. The Group assesses
ECL on trade receivables with significant balance
individually and uses a practical expedient in
estimating ECL on remaining trade receivables
using a provision matrix taking into consideration
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
forward looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at the effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition.

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is
required to make payments only in the event of a
default by the debtor in accordance with the
terms of the instrument that is guaranteed.
Accordingly, the ECL is the present value of the
expected payments to reimburse the holder for a
credit loss that it incurs less any amounts that the
Group expects to receive from the holder, the
debtor or any other party.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and financial guarantee
contract subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(V)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)
For ECL on financial guarantee contract for which
the effective interest rate cannot be determined,
the Group will apply a discount rate that reflects
the current market assessment of the time value
of money and the risks that are specific to the
cash flows but only if, and to the extent that, the
risks are taken into account by adjusting the
discount rate instead of adjusting the cash
shortfalls being discounted.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.

Except for trade receivables that are measured at
FVTOCI and financial guarantee contract, the
Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by
adjusting their carrying amount, with the
exception of trade and other receivables where
the corresponding adjustment is recognised
through a loss allowance account. For trade
receivables that are measured at FVTOCI, the loss
allowance is recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the FVTOCI reserve
without reducing the carrying amount of these
receivables. Such amount represents the changes
in the FVTOCI reserve in relation to accumulated
loss allowance.

Truly International Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2021

FEMEBREREEREERHE

®®)

32 FEEFEE#E)

EMIA(E)

EHEE ()

RIEEZ B WG ERF W BETT
WEFEZLMEEREBERSA
BB (&)

(v)

BHERBRZAERER (B)
P BERE D2 BRERERX
meE - WERFEELEE - &
SESEARARKRENTSEHE
ERMEEZHERESRER
ERBRZIFTRE - EEERER
RFEFTREETTERZER
o MIFREREZRWETH
I8 o

MEWATRIE S BEE 2 RE
mEME  BESREELRE
ERE FIERT - FIEEA
RESREE 2 BIHRATTE

BRizREMmEm RS AN FEE
FIfRET B 2 FEURIE S I IS HE IR
BRI AEEBRBHBEEE
REBEDRBERAESR TAEZRE
WansB1R - R BBE
BRRRER 2 RAARIA R E At
FEMGRIBERIN - ERENEME
m s IA R HEES R EZE
WiRIE - BIEBE IR 2R
Wan FERR - W E b 2 E U as A
REEEIIEFER Mg
W ZE R FIRZ AREE - B
ReBER S RRABEREEBZR
Hih 2 E WS IARFEED R
BB -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. FEMERERGREERFESHH
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 XERTBER(E)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when it transfer the financial asset and
substantially all the risk and rewards of ownership of
the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of trade receivables classified as at
FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously
accumulated in the FVTOCI reserve is reclassified to
profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued
by the Company are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including trade and other payables,
bank and other borrowings, amounts due to associates
and bonds payable) are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. FEMERERGREERFESHH
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 XERTBER(E)

108

Financial instruments (Continued) EMIA(E)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued) EHEEREZ(E)
Financial guarantee contract HIBEERE L

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires
the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor
fails to make payment when due in accordance with the
terms of a debt instrument. Financial guarantee contract
liabilities are initially measured at their fair values. It is
subsequently measured at the higher of:

(i) the amount of the loss allowance determined in
accordance with HKFRS 9; and

(i)~ the amount initially recognised less, where
appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised
over the guarantee period.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’'s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the
date when derivative contracts are entered into and are
subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the end
of the reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M EGHRRME

For the year ended 31 December2021 « BE—ZT=—F+-A=+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. GAMERZGHEERTERK

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ®(E)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 XERTBER(E)
Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment, right-of- ME BERREG ETAREERE
use assets and intangible assets other than goodwill (see the FEE(FHERIN ZHEBE(RLX
accounting policy in respect of goodwill above) S ZEg5EBER)
At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews RI|EEAR  KEBRFTHEBRE
the carrying amounts of its property, plant and REBsmE - BELEE - FHE
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets BEREBVEECZREE UBER
with finite useful lives to determine whether there is BBEENDRBTRZSEERERE
any indication that these assets have suffered an EiE - LR BB ER  BIZAM
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the SAEBEE 2 TWESEE  LETH
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated BEFEECRE(E) -
in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss,
if any.
The recoverable amount of property, plant and ME - BMELEKRE FRAEEERE
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets are FEE e 458 F A@EBIEE
estimated individually. When it is not possible to WEEER G TR E 25 AEE
estimate the recoverable amount individually, the Group B EZEEMBIR S BRIEL 2 7]
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash- U [o] & %8 o

generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, ROBEIR S BENEN 2 R ER - W A]
corporate assets are allocated to the relevant cash- BMEAEN—BZoBRERE BIQF
generating unit when a reasonable and consistent basis BEBHIREMEANRCRIEN - X
of allocation can be established, or otherwise they are PEREZEBEESHMEMANATHEAER
allocated to the smallest group of cash generating units — By REERNR/NAER - ATRE
for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis BOE AR EEMBIR ©BEEM N
can be established. The recoverable amount is REeMMEMNARETE - WEMARBR
determined for the cash-generating unit or group of S BEE A IR S MENEM AR 2 BR
cash-generating units to which the corporate asset MHELE -

belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount of
the relevant cash-generating unit or group of cash-
generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less Al el 58 T A TFEER L AN B
costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in FRABEZESE - EFEEREE
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to B st R RB S REFEAHAITINIR
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that KB E2HBE R ERE
reflects current market assessments of the time value KRB (E 2 B a5 il st KR AR
of money and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash- FIARRIRESRE BE (RS HMEE
generating unit) for which the estimates of future cash 1) 57 BFg ©

flows have not been adjusted.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 XERTBER(E)

FEMEBREREEREERHE
®®)

110

Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets and intangible assets other than goodwill (see the
accounting policy in respect of goodwill above) (Continued)
If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets
which cannot be allocated on a reasonable and
consistent basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group
compares the carrying amount of a group of cash-
generating units, including the carrying amounts of the
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated
to that group of cash-generating units, with the
recoverable amount of the group of cash-generating
units or the group of cash-generating unit. In allocating
the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if
applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata
basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the
unit or the group of cash-generating units. The carrying
amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest of
its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its
value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of
the impairment loss that would otherwise have been
allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other
assets of the unit or the group of cash-generating units.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit
or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit or
a group of cash-generating units) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a
cash generating unit or a group of cash-generating
units) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 o BZ_—_T=—F+-A=+—HILFE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, which
are described in note 3, the Directors are required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and underlying
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

Critical judgment in applying accounting policies

The following is the critical judgement, apart from those
involving estimation (see below), that the Directors have
made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies and that have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Critical judgment in applying accounting policies
(Continued)

Classification of Truly (Huizhou) Smart Display Limited (“Truly HZ")
as an associate

Before the acquisition of additional interest in Truly HZ in
December 2021, note 21 describes that Truly HZ is an
associate of the Group although the Group has 59.7%
ownership interest and voting rights in Truly HZ. Other than
the Group, there are two other shareholders in Truly HZ. The
Directors assessed whether or not the Group has control
over Truly HZ based on whether the Group has the practical
ability to direct the relevant activities of Truly HZ unilaterally.
Resolutions for relevant activities of Truly HZ require approval
in shareholders’ meetings as stated in the Articles of
Association of Truly HZ. In making their judgement, the
Directors considered the requirements for shareholders’
meeting as stated in the Articles of Association of Truly HZ,
in which it states a shareholders’ meeting cannot be held
without the presence of either one of the other two
shareholders. On this basis, the Directors concluded that the
Group does not have control but significant influence over
Truly HZ because any resolutions to be passed in
shareholders’ meetings shall have the consent from either
one of the other shareholders demonstrated by their action of
being present in the meetings. Accordingly, Truly HZ was
classified as an associate of the Group prior to the acquisition
in December 2021.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period that may have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Estimated impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill arising on acquisition of Truly
HZ is impaired requires an estimation of the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit to which goodwill has
been allocated which is the higher of the value in use and fair
value less costs of disposal. The value-in-use calculation
requires the Group to estimate the future cash flows
expected to arise from the cash-generating unit based on
five-year financial budgets approved by the management of
the Group and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate
the present value. The Group engages an independent valuer
to assist the estimation. The valuation team of the Group
works closely with the independent valuer to establish the
appropriate estimation model and inputs to the model. Key
estimates involved in the preparation of cash flow projections
for the period covered by the approved financial budgets
include the estimate of forecast revenue, gross margins,
growth rates and discount rate adopted. The cash flows
beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using long-term
growth rate of 2%. Where the actual future cash flows are
less than expected, or changes in facts and circumstances
which result in downward revision of expected future cash
inflows due to unfavourableness, a material impairment loss
may arise.

As at 31 December 2021, the carrying amount of goodwill
arising from acquisition of Truly HZ was amounted to
HK$587,424,000, net of accumulated impairment loss of
HK$82,135,000. Details of the recoverable amount calculation
are disclosed in Note 36.

Provision of ECL for trade receivables

Credit-impaired trade receivables are assessed for ECL
individually. In addition, the Group uses provision matrix to
calculate ECL for the not credit-impaired trade receivables
which have similar credit risk characteristics. The provision
rates are based on aging of debtors as groupings of various
debtors taking into consideration of the Group’s historical
default rates and forward-looking information that is
reasonable and supportable available without undue costs or
effort. At every reporting date, the historical observed default
rates are reassessed and changes in the forward-looking
information are considered.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Provision of ECL for trade receivables (Continued)

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates.
The information about the Group's trade receivables and the
ECL are disclosed in notes 24 and 38(b).

REVENUE

Disaggregation of revenue from contract with customers by
types of products is analysed as follows:

MEEHIRRAHFIREENEER
Wi (&)

At P REMNERRIER(F)

FEWRBRIE 2 TEHATE AR K184 (2)

A EREABERIHAEHTE - 5H
REEEWERTE RTEERBR AR
524 % 38(b) P E ©

W
RERRESID 2EPENREIITIT -

2021 2020

—E-—F —E-TF

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET T

Sales of LCD products HERBEBRRSER 17,181,573 14,247,960
Sales of electronic consumer products HET T HEBE®D 5,361,882 7,923,750
22,543,455 22,171,710

The Group is principally engaged in the manufacture and
distribution of LCD products and electronic consumer
products. The Group recognises the revenue at a point in
time when the control of products is transferred to the
customer, i.e. when the goods have been delivered to
customer'’s specific location. A receivable is recognised by
the Group when the goods are delivered to the customer’s
premises as this represents the point in time at which the
right to consideration becomes unconditional, as only the
passage of time is required before payment is due. The
customers have neither rights of return nor rights to defer or
avoid payment for the goods once they are accepted by the
customers. The normal credit period is 30 to 90 days upon
delivery.

During the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, all
performance obligations for sales of LCD products and
electronic consumer products are for period of one year or
less. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction price
allocated to unsatisfied performance obligations as at 31
December 2021 and 31 December 2020 are not disclosed.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the Company’s executive directors,
being the chief operating decision maker, for the purposes of
resource allocation and assessment of performance focuses
on the sales of different types of products. Inter-segment
sales are charged at prevailing market rates. Thus the Group
is currently organised into two operating segments which are
sales of LCD products and electronic consumer products. The
information for each operating segment is as follows:

LCD — manufacture and distribution of LCD
products products and touch panel products

Electronic — manufacture and distribution of electronic
consumer consumer products such as compact
products camera module, fingerprint identification

modules, personal health care products and
electrical devices
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. SDHEEH®E)
Segment revenues and results PENRREE
The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue and REBIZEE NREDIEE DS M EE
results by operating and reportable segments: DT -

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BE-E-—F+=-A=+—HLEE

116

Electronic
LCD consumer Segment
products products total  Eliminations Consolidated
R ET
BREEm HEER PEER B8 =RE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TER TET
REVENUE e
External sales M 17,181,573 5,361,882 22,543,455 - 22,543,455
Inter-segment sales HEREE - 348,079 348,079 (348,079) -
17,181,573 5,709,961 22,891,534 (348,079) 22,543,455

RESULT £
Segment result PEEE 1,478,947 153,497 1,632,444 (10,221) 1,622,223
Finance costs NBER (341,255)
Impairment loss HEREEE

on goodwill (82,135)
Remeasurement gainon St A A —fEH & A A)

previously held interest #3257 E¥st 21z

in an associate 323,248
Share of results DEBENREE

of associates 102,061
Unallocated expenses AOEHEY (24,588)
Unallocated other gains RO B E s Mg B

and losses (3,704)
Profit before tax AR A 1,595,850
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. SDHEEH®E)
Segment revenues and results (Continued) TEWRREE(E)
For the year ended 31 December 2020 BE-_Z-_ZHF+-A=+—HLEFE

Electronic
LCD consumer Segment
products products total Eliminations ~ Consolidated
BemiE Ey
BAREmM HEEM 3k
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$' OOO HK$'000
THT T THT T
REVENUE I
External sales INE 14,247,960 7,923,750 22,171,710 - 22,171,710
Inter-segment sales NEREE - 279,038 279,038 (279,038) -
14,247,960 8,202,788 22,450,748 (279,038) 22,171,710
RESULT E
Segment result GEES 959,567 493,878 1,458,445 (13,059) 1,445,386
Finance costs HEER (380,025)
Impairment loss under HipEWFIETEE =
expected credit loss BAEATRHESR
model on
other receivable (281,901)
Share of results DEBEDREE
of associates 20
Unallocated expenses KAFHY (17,577)
Unallocated other gains KA ECE A Ui R 18
and losses (27,211)
Profit before tax BANER 738,692

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the

same as the Group’s accounting policies described in note 3.

REDRZ B BREWNEI Lz N E
SERIBEAR - D EaENERD @EEP%TTLBZ

Segment profit represents the profit earned by each segment BIEKAK BEESHS  HBEAR - D14
without allocation of central administration costs including B NRIEE TTESRM T A AT BEES

directors’ salaries, finance costs, share of results of
associates, loss on fair value changes of derivative financial

R MBENATFEEIRZEREER

FEEZS(BR) K  BRERRAER

instruments, (loss) gain from changes in fair value of financial TEHETHEESE BEFBEEBLRLEES
assets at FVTPL, certain impairment loss under ECL model, —EE AN EF S ERE &N
impairment loss on goodwill and remeasurement gain on FrREUE ) o Lt AR F EEERREREIN

previously held interest in an associate. This is the measure
reported to the chief operating decision maker for the
purposes of resource allocation and performance
assessment.

_7_

DEERMERBZAETE -
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. SEREEE)
Other information Hip &R
For the year ended 31 December 2021 BE-E-—F+-HA=1+—HLEE

Electronic
LCD consumer
products products Unallocated Consolidated

HRR 87

BrEREm HRER RAE )
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR

Amounts included in the measure of s ENEEETBIENSE
segment results:

Reversal of allowance for inventories, 15 & # /& # B 5 28

net (included in cost of sales) (FTABERAE) (3,752) = = (3,752)
Depreciation (including amounts ~ #7& (AFEREFEE AL

capitalised in inventories) &%) 1,278,275 56,093 = 1,334,368
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ FREEENE 65,323 3,344 = 68,667
Loss on disposal/write off of HE/WENE - BE LR

property, plant and equipment 2B 255,408 114 - 255,522
Impairment losses under ECL model, BHiz BIEXER TR/EFE

net of reversal MNEkE D 49,038 401 - 49,439

For the year ended 31 December 2020 BE-—ZE-_EF+-_A=+—HILEE

Electronic
LCD consumer
products products Unallocated ~ Consolidated

NrR=R ==lrd
VEGEL i

BREER  OHBER FHE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FHT FET

Amounts included in the measure of HENEEERBIENSE
segment results:

Allowance for inventories, net FEREFEGIABERE)
(included in cost of sales) 48,780 222 - 49,002
Depreciation (including amounts NE(PERFEER Lz E&E)
capitalised in inventories) 1,262,882 53,649 - 1,316,531
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ FHEEEITE 42,956 2,945 - 45,901
Loss on disposaljwrite off of HE/EDE  BE KRR
property, plant and equipment ZIEE 1,810 3,790 - 5,600
Impairment losses under expected  BHVEBEAEA THEEE
credit loss model, net of reversal B EE 30,117 2,850 281,901 314,868
Segment assets and liabilities are not disclosed as they are ERDEEENABYIIERFTELEREE
not regularly reviewed by chief operating decision maker. THIEHN B EREZSEEAERBE -
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. #EEHEE
Geographical information HBEER
The following table sets out information about (i) the Group's TR () REBERE P AR S EE 5N
revenue from external customers by location of customers EBE P U N (i) NEEE IR E EFTE IR D 58
and (ii) the Group’s non-current assets by location of assets. HIERBEERNER -
Revenue from
external customers Non-current assets
HEBEF g knBERE
2021 2021 2020
—B--F e —8=-F e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THRT THT THT THI
The PRC H 16,382,896 17,748,804 18,538,196 14,438,927
South Korea B 2,227,212 922,826 - -
Hong Kong (place of domicile) B (A #1) 768,987 542,544 4,711 15,658
Japan BA 416,560 370,252 - -
Europe B 996,602 936,784 - -
Others Hih 1,751,198 1,650,500 - -

22,543,455 22,171,710 18,582,907 14,454,585

Notes: BT -

(i) Regarding revenue arising from sales to external customers in (i) hoR B BOM B H b 3[R SRR B Y S Wk 2k T
Europe and others, no individual countries are material and hence = BEENEREEERGE  HWEZT
separate disclosure is not required. BIWEER -

(i) Non-current assets exclude financial assets at FVTPL, deferred tax (i) FERBEETRENEZAATFEBEYERZ S
assets, rental deposits and amount due from an associate. MEE  BELEHRIEAE  HERS REKHE

NGIE I

Information about major customers TERFER

No individual customer contributed over 10% of the total RIZE-_ZFR - —FHREHNEFY

revenue of the Group in both years of 2020 and 2021. REEBRAERER10% °
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7. OTHER INCOME

7. EHMKA

2021
—E-—F

HK$'000
TET

2020
—E-TF

HK$'000
FiBt

Other income includes: EmgABTE
Government grants (Note 42) BT ARG (FFFE42) 113,427 73,131
Compensation income B EWA 2,257 17,850
Interest income FE U A 14,074 11,028
Interest income from an associate REBE QR ZFBWA 33,620 31,448
Rental income with fixed monthly rental  [EF A2 S UA 13,581 16,837
Other service fees EpRsE 3,542 -
Sundry income FETE A 7,039 4,531
187,540 154,825

8. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

Loss on disposal/write-off of property,

8. HRZ

2021
—E-—F

HK$'000
FRT
HE MEME - BERE

2020
—E-FF
HK$'000
THEIT

plant and equipment ZEE 255,522 5,600
Loss (gain) from changes in fair value of ~ PEBFUARAFEBEIEZ SRIEE
financial assets at FVTPL N EEZEEE (W) 2,814 (1,798)
Loss on fair value changes of derivative ~ T4 @@ T AN BEZE
financial instruments, net EEFEE 890 29,009
Net foreign exchange gain AN U R F RE (25,536) (56,999)
Gain on disposal of an associate HERE RN E 2 W - (6,822)
233,690 (31,010)

9. FINANCE COSTS

9. HMEKEH

2021 2020

=B —F —ETF

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET F&TT

Interest on bank and other borrowings RITREMERZFE 319,492 358,170
Interest on bonds payable EHESRZFE 21,408 21,000
Interest on lease liabilities HEBBEZNE 355 855
341,255 380,025
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

10. FRiSMBAX

2021 2020
—E--F —T-TF

— = —=

HK$'000

HK$°000
FExT THAT

Current tax: NEARRIA -
PRC Enterprise Income Tax R EEFTSH 110,058 95,946
Other jurisdictions Hith el AR 1,141 1,235
111,199 97,181
Withholding tax TR 3,164 6,939
114,363 104,120
Over-provision in prior years: WA FEBERE
The PRC [ (7,308) (4,260)
Deferred tax (see note 34) IRERIR (R F5E34) 58,141 40,059
Income tax expense for the year REFTERHFEY 165,196 139,919

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2
million of profits of the qualifying group entity will be taxed at
8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at
16.5%. The profits of group entities not qualifying for the
two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at
a flat rate of 16.5%. The Directors consider the amount
involved upon implementation of the two-tiered profits tax
rates regime as insignificant to the consolidated financial
statements. Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of
the estimated assessable profit for both years.

Income tax arising in the PRC and other jurisdictions is
calculated at the rates prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

Pursuant to the relevant law and regulations in the PRC, PRC
subsidiaries qualified as Hi-Tech Enterprise are entitled to
15% PRC enterprise income tax. The tax rate of the other
PRC subsidiaries is 25%.

Pursuant to the PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law (the “EIT
Law of PRC") and the Detailed Implementation Rules,
distribution of the profits earned by the PRC subsidiaries
since 1 January 2008 to holding companies incorporated in
Hong Kong is subject to the PRC withholding tax at the
applicable tax rates of 5% to 10%.

BEMBHFESRHEE  AEREEER
B2B8ETRNBIE8.25% 2 B R & -
MiBE2 A 8B T2 m I BIE16.56% 2 B %
B - THAMBHIFIERRFEERZE
EEREEMNGHER165% 2B —Fi R
i-BERE  BHEMAHFGSHEEZR
ESSHRUEGAUBREMELTER &
SRS R TH 5 B 4 S Rl 5T IR Bl i Fl %
& 16.5% 5tE -

AR B B B Bl A [ A AR 2 TS B iR AR R
BAER ZRITHEAE -

REFERBERLER - Fa=Hmd
EERZTENBRAMEETELEEMSF
BED/IE5% - HiPEMBRARZHER
25% ©

BEFECEMESHREA(HRRCEMSH
EDREHEHIME a _EENF—A—
B SR EBEMRIL Z IR A A DK
BB B A BB 2 s F 2B 1% 5% E 10% 2
EAR RN BT -
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10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 10.

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the
profit before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

FRiSMBAST (&)

AERZFAGHAXEFA B REMEE
Wk 2 BEADR A 2 SRR T

2021 2020
—E-—fF —E_THF
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET T4
Profit before tax A& A 1,595,850 738,692
Add: share of results of associates mn: DihEE N R ¥EE (102,061) (20)
1,493,789 738,672
Tax at the average income tax rate of RS E15.72%
15.72% (2020: 15.61%) (Note i) (ZEZFF : 15.61%)&rit
(Pt&ED 234,791 115,319
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for  NA]FIFH % 2 T Fs g2 &
tax purpose 20,729 83,643
Tax effect of income not taxable for BARBRBRAZ BB 2
tax purpose (61,685) (67,456)
Over-provision in respect of prior years BAEFERBERE (7,308) (4,260)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERBBEBZHETE 13,058 12,005
Utilisation of tax losses not recognised B ARERT IS EE (29,823) (71)
Withholding tax on undistributed AR B A R R D IR E T
earnings of PRC subsidiaries s =X ca ) 33,156 21,886
Withholding tax on interest income FEW A Z FTaHT 3,164 6,939
Tax relief related to additional tax W R TELSMERYSET
deduction on research expenses FIMOTL 2 BS ER
incurred (Note ii) (FF&Ei) (41,629) (28,924)
Others Hh 743 838
Income tax expense for the year REZMEBREY 165,196 139,919

Notes: BSE -

(i) The average income tax rate for the year ended 31 December 2021 (i) BE-_E-—FKxr-_ZT-_FTF+-_A=+—8H
and 2020 represents the weighted average tax rate of the \WFEE 2 EH AR RIERER DA BER
operations in different jurisdictions on the basis of the relevant ENENBETLE Y MEAE AR EEER
amounts of profit before tax and the tax rate of the relevant entities IR IEE R o
for the year.

(i) Pursuant to relevant law and regulations, the PRC subsidiaries are (i) BEREEREEER BE_ZE-—4FK—F
entitled to additional tax deduction on qualifying research and ZEFTZA=T—HILFE  FEMEAF
development costs expenditures for the years ended 31 December BEMA BB ER AT ZAEINEE
2021 and 2020. o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

11. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

Profit for the year has been arrived at after

11. XEERF

ARE R R TR R (GEA)

2021
—E-—F

HK$'000
TET

2020
—E-TF

HK$'000
FBt

charging (crediting): LA & IREE
Auditor’s remuneration % EREN N & 3,780 3,400
Cost of inventories recognised RERI Z2FEERA
as expenses 18,979,146 19,197,940
(Reversal of) allowance for inventories, FE(ER) BEFE
net (included in cost of sales) (B ASHERKA) (3,752) 49,002
Research expenses (included in cost HREZ (FIAEEKA)
of sales) 811,343 875,967
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BENMRETE
equipment (including amounts (BERTFEENLz &%)
capitalised in inventories) 1,334,368 1,316,531
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 68,667 45,901
Staff costs, inclusive of directors’ BTKA  BIEEEHE
remuneration (note 12): (FfsE12)
Salaries and other benefits e MEMBEF 1,798,869 1,547,737
Contributions to retirement RGBT IR
benefit scheme 174,645 108,961
1,973,514 1,656,698
Impairment losses under ECL model, net FEER{E BELER TREEEFE
Trade receivables FEWBRIE 49,439 32,967
Other receivables H U IR = 281,901
49,439 314,868
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12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 12. EERTTHEEMS
REMUNERATION
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, BIEBA LTBRAEARIEHIFEEENES
disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and CO, is RITBRE Ml T
as follows:
2021 —E-—F
(a) EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (a) BUITEE

Wong Ma Cheung
Lam Pong Chun, WaiTong Song Dai Wing
LERTED James (Note i) BeiBei Cheng Yun Cheung Total
FRE

e A% (W& KRR EBRE  RRE ]
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TEn TEx  TEx  TEn  TER  TEn  TEx

Fees we - - - - - - -
Other emoluments: Hiv@e
Salaries and ¢ REAMET
other benefits 4,068 1,272 - 1,302 1,230 1,332 9,204
Performance related HBRBEY e
incentive payments B
(Note ii) 1,102 - - 362 651 51 9,226
Contributions to RINERITEIER
retirement
benefit scheme - 36 - 13 13 18 80
Sub-total e 11,770 1,308 - 1,677 1,894 1,861 18510
The executive directors’ emoluments shown above FHFIRATEE I METEARAES
were mainly for their services in connection with the MEBRARD A R AE B EBEFRER
management of the affairs of the Company and the B2 -
Group.
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12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 12. EERTTREREME &)
REMUNERATION (Continued)
2021 (Continued) —E2--F(#)
(b) NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (b) FEHITEE
Ma Wai Tong
(Note i)
(PyEE)
HK$°000
FH& T
Fees e 160
Other emoluments: Hipps -
Salaries and other benefits e MEMEF] =
Performance related incentive payments BRI 2 858 (MFaEi)
(Note ii) =
Contributions to retirement benefit scheme RIREFIET B3R =
Sub-total INE 160
The non-executive director's emolument shown above P RIEBTTEE IS T E AT
was mainly for his service as a director of the Company. MBETARNREEHRERE S -
(c) INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS () BIEMMITEE
Chung Ip Cho
Kam Ting, Heung
Kwong Spencer Kai Sing Total
EHH = B k]
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TEART TART TERT
Fees 1w 264 132 132 528
Other emoluments: HibEi% -
Salaries and other benefits e REMER = = - -
Performance related HRBAN 2 RS
incentive payments = = = =
Contributions to retirement RIKEFIF B
benefit scheme = - - _
Sub-total et 264 132 132 528
The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments I REBNIERITES e £ E
shown above were mainly for their services as directors BREREFRAATEESRHREHRGE
of the Company. & -

HK$°000
FB7

Total for all directors in 2021 TE e 19,198
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12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 12. EERTTREREME &)
REMUNERATION (Continued)
2020 —E-EF
(a) EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (a) HITES
Wong Ma Cheung
Lam Pong Chun, ~ Wai Tong Song Dai Wing
WERIED James (Note i) BeiBei  Cheng Yun Cheung
‘Lhﬁ
R MR ) A HNE REH
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAL BT BT TAT BT BT
Fees e - - - - - - -
Other emoluments: HEie
Salaries and g4 L EMER
other benefits 3,991 1,422 1,587 1,215 1,080 1,320 10,615
Performance related BRBR 7 B
incentive payments (i)
(Note ii) 243 312 127 - - 510 1,192
Contributions to BIREFEBIER
retirement
benefit scheme - 36 17 " " 18 93
Sub-total st 4,234 1,770 1,731 1,226 1,091 1,848 11,900
The executive directors’ emoluments shown above LR ATTES e T EARS
were mainly for their services in connection with the MBI AR R KA B E R AR
management of the affairs of the Company and the B2 WE -
Group.
(b) NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (b) FEHITEE
Ma Wai Tong
(Note i)
(FF=ED)
HK$'000
TETT
Fees we 29
Other emoluments: Hips -
Salaries and other benefits FHe REMEF -
Performance related incentive payments ERIFE 2 B
(Note ii) (B&xin) -
Contributions to retirement benefit scheme RIREFET B3R -
Sub-total Nt 29
The non-executive director’'s emolument shown above FHFIRIERITES M T E AR
was mainly for his service as a director of the Company. MIEFEARATESHIREHRE Z2BE -
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12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
REMUNERATION (Continued)

2020 (Continued)

(c)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

12. EERITTHASMS (&)

—ECEF(HE)
(c) BWIFEHITESE

Chung Ip Cho
Kam Ting, Heung
Kwong Spencer Kai Sing Total
it Ed= BRI B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT FTHx FTAT THT
Fees ik 264 132 132 528
Other emoluments: Hib#a
Salaries and other benefits e REMWRER - - - -
Performance related HREEN &g
incentive payments - - - -
Contributions to retirement BINRME B
benefit scheme - - - -
Sub-total INaE 264 132 132 528

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments
shown above were mainly for their services as directors
of the Company.

FPRMARBILFRTEECME TR
REEREERNRRAESTHREH-RS
ZHE -

HK$'000
TAT

Total for all directors in 2020 -

TFEPEEREG 12,457

Note i Mr. Ma Wai Tong was re-designed from an executive
director to a non-executive director of the Company with
effect from 17 November 2020 and resigned as a non-
executive director of the Company with effect from 31
August 2021.

Note ii:  The performance related incentive payments are based
on the remuneration approved by the remuneration
committee for the years ended 31 December 2021 and
2020.

Mr. Lam Wai Wah is also the Chief Executive of the
Company and his emoluments disclosed above include
those for services rendered by him as the Chief
Executive.

Neither the Chief Executive nor any of the Directors
waived any emoluments during the years ended 31
December 2021 and 2020.

Mz SEEAEAAQFRMNTERAML
BINITEE BT _TFE+—
A+t BR4EREETEARRIER
TEE BT N\A=1—
BB AR -

Misti: BEXRBHBZBESDHBRERE_Z
Z—FRZZEEFFA=1—
BLEFEFHNZESECEE
Eo

MEELRETASARRBITHRAE -
REXHEZME BIBBRIE/ITRE
B RERB 22 -

BE_ZE-_—FR-_ZF-_FF+_A1
—+—BLFE BETBREH KT
fAIE EWEWEEAIE € -
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13.

128

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees of the Group during the year
included three (2020: four) directors and the chief executive,
details of whose remunerations are set out in note 12 above.
Details of the remuneration for the year of the remaining two
(2020: one) highest paid employee who is neither a director
nor chief executive of the Company are as follows:

13.

LEERTFHER

TR AEBELREEFMHEREE=42(Z
ToTFE MB)EFRTHRAEH  EME
FHEEN EXHME 12 FAR - BRTME(Z
ToFF —R)BREFEHFARFITH
mEzREHEEZHESFBENOT

Salaries and other benefits e hEMmEF
Performance related incentive payments B2 IFEME 7 #8545
Contributions to retirement benefit scheme 3R /i@ Fll s+ 214 2

2021 2020
—E2_—F —F-F

HK$'000 HK$'000

THET FATT

2,682 1,693

2,112 410

36 18

4,830 2,121

The two (2020: one) highest paid employee’'s emoluments
were within the following bands:

ME(CZ-2F: —R)ReFMEEME
ZEENTF

2021 2020
—E-—F —E_THF
Number of Number of

employee employee

EEHE EE2HE

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 ;8 7L 2,000,000 % 7T 1 -
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 /7T E 2,500,000 %8 7T - 1
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 /87T % 3,000,000 7% 7T 1 -

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to
any of the directors, chief executive or the five highest paid
individuals of the Group as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office (2020:
nil).
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14. DIVIDENDS

14.

Bz R

2021 AOYA)
—E-—F —ETF
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#&xT T
Dividend paid: ERIRE
2021 Interim ZEZ—FFH
— HK 5 cents (2020: nil) per — R E @RS L
ordinary share —E-FTFE |E) 164,461 _
Dividend proposed: EER
Final dividend proposed for the year et irﬂiﬂﬂﬂx 2
— HK 5 cents (2020: nil) per — FRRE @A 5B
ordinary share —ETF | 164,461 -

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, a final dividend
in respect of the year ended 31 December 2021 of HK 5

cents per ordinary share,

in an aggregate amount of

HK$164,461,000, has been proposed by the directors of the
Company and is subject to approval by the shareholders in
the forthcoming general meeting. No dividend has been paid
or declared by the Company for the year ended 31 December

2020.

——FFR o FAEBRERAT

RBEBRE ARBESCEEREEC
;:f$+ A=+—BIEFEIRERBRK
EEREBIRSEN - & ££164,461,0007%5
JC - WAFRRAREERR RS S o &
EZTF+A=Z+—HLEFE  AQ
AR HEIRRE ©
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15.

130

EARNINGS PER SHARE 15. BERET
The calculation of the basic earnings per share is based on FRREARBERTRE 5 EUETE

the following data:

Earnings B F
2021 AOYAS)
—E_—f —E-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T4
Earnings for the purposes of AU ESREXRET 2 B
basic earnings per share
Profit for the year attributable to KRBVER N EHARFEE G A
owners of the Company 1,377,998 502,287
Number of shares BRoEA

Weighted average number of ordinary AU ESRERERZ

shares for the purposes of LM AR N 1

basic earnings per share 3,289,229 3,289,229
No diluted earnings per share is presented as there were no AR MREFE N EBEDRITEmAR Wi
potential ordinary shares in issue for both years. mEY|GREERT -
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. W% - BER &M

Leasehold Furniture,

land and fixtures and Plant and Motor Construction
buildings  equipment  machinery vehicles in progress
RELth HE - %E
RkEF K% HERES bt HREIR fg
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL THL THL THL THL TET
cosT KA
At 1 January 2020 W-Z-%F-A—H 1,613,526 1,821,728 14,307,883 36,546 3,092,098 20,871,781
Currency realignment ECEES 231,770 120,265 1,049,745 1,361 64,071 1,467,212
Additions NE 44,851 49,109 275,407 423 304,107 673,897
Disposalsfwrite off e/ - (90) (62,088) 130) - (62,308)
Transfers ;H}%é 2,338,834 - 674,003 - (3012837) -
At 31 December 2020 ZE-EE+ZRA=+-H 4,228,981 1,991,012 16,244,950 38,200 447439 22,950,582
Currency realignment ‘b%.ﬂ% 105,834 50,124 428,132 552 8,873 593,515
Additions RE 11,169 103,481 437,840 939 158,625 712,054
Acquired on acquisition of FEUENBAAIMmES
a subsidiary 1,232,265 126,730 3,095,569 1,135 73,937 4,529,636
Disposalsfwrite off e /M - (2,628)  (1,075,444) (533) - (1,078,605)
Transfers R 200,543 - 118,599 - (319,142) -
At 31 December 2021 W-Z-—-%+-F=+—-H 5778792 2,268,719 19,249,646 40,293 369,732 27,707,182
DEPRECIATION e
At 1 January 2020 W_Z-%F-A—-H 475,507 1,067,190 7,174,202 31,729 - 8,748,628
Currency realignment EHRE 28,667 71,762 544,444 1,236 - 652,109
Provided for the year EERE 93,086 134,468 1,087,271 1,706 - 1,316,531
Eliminated on disposals/write off Hj’i/ b iEEEap] - (32) (21,943) (85) - 22,060)
At 31 December 2020 WZE-FF+-A=1-H 597,260 1,279,388 8,783,974 34,586 - 10,695,208
Currency realignment AR 13,538 33,678 233,203 503 - 280,922
Provided for the year FERE 118,340 136,644 1,077,947 1437 - 1,334,368
Eliminated on disposals/write off & /il #5414 - 1,752) (818,457 (508) - (820,714)
At 31 December 2021 W_E-—F+-f=1-H 729,138 1,447,958 9,276,667 36,021 - 11,489,784
CARRYING VALUES RHE
At 31 December 2021 W-B-—%+-A=+-H 5049654 820,761 9,972,979 4272 369,732 16,217,398
At 31 December 2020 RZZZFFETZA=+—H 3631721 711,624 7460976 3,614 447439 12,256,374
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16.

17.

132

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

The cost of leasehold land and buildings is depreciated over
forty years or the terms of the respective leases, whichever
is the shorter, using the straight-line method.

The other items of property, plant and equipment, other than
construction in progress, are depreciated on a reducing
balance method at the following rates per annum:

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 10% to 20%
Plant and machinery 11% t0 15%
Motor vehicles 25% to 30%

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

16.

17.

W% BERRE 2

MET BT ZRAABREAL+F4
R ZEHEFHABREERE)ITE -

Hip% - BEKREEB (BEITREN
ASRERIEIRUE » RIA T FREFEITE -

BRI KERRE
T

EHERE

10% £20%
M%E15%
25% £ 30%

Leasehold Plant and
land Buildings machinery Total
HE Lt EF KB R #EE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL AT THT THL
As at 31 December 2020 R-B-BF+-A=t-H
Carrying amount EEE 440,530 9,190 410,572 860,292
As at 31 December 2021 R-B--f+=-A=+-H
Carrying amount BREE 654,466 2,241 407,251 1,063,958
For the year ended BE-Z-ZEF+-A=1-H
31 December 2020 LEE
Depreciation charge HEX M 9,705 8,154 28,042 45,901
For the year ended BE-E--F+-HA=t—-H
31 December 2021 LFEE
Depreciation charge TEXH 12,370 7,088 49,209 68,667
2021 2020
—R=—F —ETEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET T
Expense relating to short-term leases WREMEE X 6,041 15,347
Total cash outflow for leases ME @B ant (142,083) (62,594)
Additions to right-of-use assets NEFAEEE 35,405 312,589
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

For both years, the Group leases various offices and plant and
machinery for its operations. Lease contracts are entered into
for fixed term of 13 months to 5 years. Lease terms are
negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of
different terms and conditions. In determining the lease term
and assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the
Group applies the definition of a contract and determines the
period for which the contract is enforceable.

In addition, the Group owns several industrial buildings where
its manufacturing facilities are primarily located and office
buildings. The Group is the registered owner of these
property interests, including the underlying leasehold lands.
The leasehold land components of these owned properties
are presented separately as the payments made can be
allocated reliably.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for various
offices and plant and machinery. As at 31 December 2021
and 2020, the portfolio of short-term leases is similar to the
portfolio of short-term leases to which the short-term lease
expense as disclosed above.

17.

ERERE &)

RzmEFE - AEEHEBZ EHQE R
R EEMS - MR HESHNZEEFHA
1BEAZESFAE - HEGRRTYRE I E%E
R YRE— R TEGER NG - £
EREFH AT RE SRR - A%E
FERAHZESR  LEBEARIMTANZ
HARE o

o AEBEBAZEBETIXEET(HEER

MeFT ) R AKIE - REBAZENE

Bm (BIEERRE L) 2 E2HEA - Z

EREYRZHEL BN EBRIIRER
AN 2R

75;‘%%%%%1%“5%&@}%&%%%5
VEREE R_T-_—FR-_ZF_FTF
TZA=1+—R BHHEHEMAESE LK
BREMMEER 2 EHEEMREEE -

——FFH o EFERARAR 133



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MEERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 « HE—ZE-—F+=-A=+—HILFE

18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 18. EELHEE
Technical
know-how
HK$'000
T
COST BN
At 1 January 2020, 31 December 2020 and R-E-_EF—H—H —ZT-TF+_-H4
31 December 2021 =t—HEZE_—F+Z/A=+—H 23,230
AMORTISATION s
At 1 January 2020, 31 December 2020 and R-_ZE-_TF—F—H  —ZF-_ZTF+_A
31 December 2021 =+—BRZZEZ_—F+ZA=+—H 23,230
CARRYING VALUES fRmEE
At 31 December 2021 RZB-_—F+-A=+—H -
At 31 December 2020 RZZEZEF+=-A=+—H -
Technical know-how are amortised on a straight-line basis R E NS AE R EE B AN
over four years. F o
19. GOODWILL 19. WHE
Other
Acquisition immaterial
of acquisition of
Truly HZ businesses Total
Hi3EE R
W BB 45 I =M W 2K =X
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT TET T
COST PR AR
At 1 January 2020 R-ZE_TF—HF—H - 413 413
Arising on acquisition of AW —ENB AR mES
a subsidiary - - -
At 31 December 2020 N2 —ETF+-_A=+—H - 413 413
Arising on acquisition of AW B —ENB AR mES
a subsidiary 669,559 - 669,559
At 31 December 2021 —E-_—F+-A=+—H 669,559 413 669,972
IMPAIRMENT B
At 1 January 2020 and RZEZFTF—-—H—HBHK
31 December 2020 —E-FTF+-_HA=+—H - - -
Impairment loss recognised in RERERREEIE
the year (82,135) - (82,135)
At 31 December 2021 RZZEZ—F+-HA=+—H (82,135) - (82,135)
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 December 2021 RZE-_—F+-_A=+—H 587,424 413 587,837
At 31 December 2020 R-_F_FF+_A=+—H - 413 413
Particulars regarding the impairment testing on goodwill are AR EHE S T SIS N W T 20 & 36 3
disclosed in notes 20 and 36. = o
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20.

21.

IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL

For the purpose of impairment testing of goodwill arising on
the acquisition of Truly HZ in 2021 as set out in note 19,
goodwill has been allocated to the underlying CGU which
represents Truly HZ in existence at the time of acquisition of
Truly HZ which is included in LCD products segment.

In addition to goodwill above, right-of-use assets, property,
plant and equipment that generate cash flows together with
the related goodwill are also included in the cash-generating
unit for the purpose of impairment assessment.

The carrying amount of the cash-generating unit to which the
goodwill arising from the acquisition of Truly HZ is allocated is
higher than its recoverable amount, resulting in the
impairment loss of goodwill amounting to approximately
HK$82,135,000 recognised in profit or loss. The details of the
determination of recoverable amount of the above CGU and
the key assumptions are set out in note 36.

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

20. FEERENR

21.

MM 19PN - T = —FWIBETEIM
FREEMEERENANS  BECOET
WEE (= MBI B FE MR REFEM e ERE
ReEL BN GIARRBERSERD ) °

BRLdmEs) EXRSRENEAEE
ZE W% BERREEFAMEMEE - N
AR EL B - ERERE °

WEENEMAELHENRSELEUN
FREESNEATRDE SR - 2 EREE
$84982,135,000/8 7T - ENERER - B
BErLaReELBMAKRESRELREER
RHVFHIRE NI FE36 ©

2020

—E-—F —E-TF

HK$'000 HK$'000

THET FATT

Cost of investments — unlisted WERAR —FELET 575,000 2,657,724
Share of results and other comprehensive {5 %4 R H M2 EA (B )

income (expense) 2,407 (1,269,254)

Exchange difference arising on translation #EES 7 SMNEEZE 36,745 (39,421)

614,152 1,249,049

-z
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21. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 21.

Details of the Group's associates at the end of the reporting
period are as follows:

RERELTNER (&)
AEBRBERRZBERRFBOT ¢

Place of Principal Proportion of
Form of incorporation/  place of Class of ownership interest
Name of entity entity registration operation shares held by the Group Principal activities
ML/ TEEE FREREZ
BRZR BRp B 2 R &5 PR L fl TEEK
2021
8=
Truly HZ Incorporated ~ The PRC The PRC Registered N/A 59.7%*  Development and
capital (Note i) (Note i) production of active-
matrix organic light-
emitting diode and
LCD products
EFEM R L e HHER TER 597%* REREEARDEAE
(i) (i) BR-BERRSE
BREER
Truly (Renshou) High-end  Incorporated ~ The PRC The PRC Registered 7.1%* 7.1%*  Development and
Display Technology capital (Note ii) (Note i) production of
Limited (“Truly RS") LCD products
BH(CS)RnBRRE T L G HHER 7.1%* 71%* REREERRBERS
ARAR(EHER]) (My&Eii) (ixi)  Em
* Rounded to one decimal point for disclosure purpose. * TR MOE AR NEIE @A -
Notes: BT

R-FB_BF+_— ﬂ T—H  REEFEM

(i) As at 31 December 2020, according to the Articles of Association (i)

136

of Truly HZ, shareholders’ meeting could not be held without the
presence of either one of the other two shareholders. The
Directors considered that the Group did not have control but only
significant influence over Truly HZ under such a term because any
resolutions to be passed in shareholders’ meetings should have
the consent from either one of the other shareholders
demonstrated by their action of being present in the meetings.
Truly HZ was therefore classified as an associate of the Group.

On 29 November 2021, the Group entered into a sales and
purchase agreement (the “Agreement”) with Huizhou City
Investment Holding Limited (“Huizhou Investment”) and Truly HZ
to acquire approximately 16.77% equity interests in Truly HZ at the
cash consideration of RMB450,000,000 from Huizhou Investment.
The precedent conditions for the completion of acquisition include
the amendment of the Articles of Association of Truly HZ resulting
the Group has control over the composition of the board of
directors and shareholders’ meetings of Truly HZ, and dominant
voting rights to direct the relevant activities of Truly HZ unilaterally.
Upon completion of the acquisition transaction in early December
2021 as disclosed in note 36, Truly HZ has become an indirect non
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.

Truly International Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2021
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21.

e e = e e i

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(ii)

The Group has significant influence over Truly RS by virtue of the
substantial voting right of 67.1% granted to the Group in the first
ten years since the incorporation of Truly RS in 2017, as stated in
the shareholders’ agreement of Truly RS. Other than the Group,
there are two other shareholders in Truly RS. According to the
Articles of Association of Truly RS, shareholders’ meeting cannot
be held without the presence of either one of the other two
shareholders. The Directors consider that the Group does not have
control but only significant influence over Truly RS under such a

. REEARMER (7)
GERNC)

(i) BEFU-BRERRIH - AEEEENC
BEEAXEN FERAKEBE _T—tF
ERCHEMAEE T FERTI%E
RIEFHE - BAREN - ERCSHAEMLHR
BRR - BHBEFCHNEMERMAME - TE
FEEBMA B RE S —ZBENER TRITR
RARE - EERREZIGRT - AEEEEF
T_erﬁi?t%'ﬁié EBEEAFE)  EZBE

RAIEREE B BACR RS T R AR

FAE LBBAARRAG L BRE LT — %
HHEERRERAE - Bl BHCBHE
BEEEBEAT -

term because relevant activities of the associate is directed
through shareholder’s meeting and any resolutions to be passed in
shareholders’ meetings shall have the consent from either one of
the other shareholders demonstrated by their action of being
present in the meetings. Truly RS is therefore classified as an
associate of the Group.

Summarised financial information of material BEABEQNTNUBERSE

associates

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group's BRAEBEABERARNMEERBEES
material associates is set out below. The summarised P o AT ERBIERRRBRE BB
financial information below represents amounts shown in the AEERIFTR S E D R M B RERA RS
associates’ financial statements prepared in accordance with T o

HKFRSs.

PIAZEMENRIRAEZEDENES

All of these associates are accounted for using the equity

method in these consolidated financial statements. REMTEMERALR -
Truly HZ EEE:Y
2021 2020
—E——F —ZE-F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHERT FHT
Current assets MENE B N/A 738 1,091,614
Non-current assets FERBEE N/ARER 4,973,097
Current liabilities mEAE N/A i A 3,749,207
Non-current liabilities IERBERE N/A & A 1,375,672
Revenue = 1,593,446* 1,411,683
Profit (loss) for the period/year IREARE S EE T (EE) 166,712* (3,272)
Other comprehensive income AER FREEMEE S
for the period/year 1,570* 7,439
Total comprehensive income RER FEE2E RS LR
for the period/year 168,282* 4,167

* They represented the amounts for the period from 1 January 2021
to date of acquisition of Truly HZ as disclosed in note 36.

* %% BIEMEMBEENAE T - —F—
—HAZEEBENEMNZ A ILHEN S -
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21.

138

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) . REIEATFINER &)

Summarised financial information of material BEARBEQTNMEERBE &)
associates (Continued)

Truly HZ (Continued) EREM(E)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information B A E R B B AR S B IS SRR N AR
to the carrying amount of the interest in the associate B AR REEHRENAT

recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

2020
—E-TF
HK$'000
q:/BTE
Net assets of Truly HZ EFEMNEEFE 939,832
Proportion of the Group's ownership interest in AREBE MM BN B T E RSB
Truly HZ 59.7%
561,117
Goodwvill B 91,845
Carrying amount of the Group's interest in Truly HZ ~ ZREBE S M S EEE 652,962
Truly RS FER-=
2021 2020
—E-—F —ETF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHT FHIT
Current assets mBEE 1,988,488 2,142,770
Non-current assets EmMENEE 11,884,566 10,540,764
Current liabilities RENBE 3,351,855 2,207,611
Non-current liabilities EREBEE 1,871,171 2,130,700
Revenue a5 2,159,568 872,944
Profit and total comprehensive income AREL G R EWS4ERE
for the year 35,383 27,631
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information PR RS E R B B AR S B IS IR AR R
to the carrying amount of the interest in the associate BENRNERNERESRAT

recognised in the consolidated financial statements:
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21. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 21. REFELFNES (2
Truly RS (Continued) BER-F (&)
2021 2020
—E-—F —ETHF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
Net assets of Truly RS EACEEEEE 8,650,028 8,345,223
Proportion of the Group's ownership REBREFC ST ERE
interest in Truly RS PEZS LB 7.1% 7.1%
Carrying amount of the Group's interest in R EMEFC BN EEE
Truly RS 614,152 596,087
22. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 22. RIRBUAFREIIRZEMEE

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

2021 2020

=2 —F —E_TF

HK$'000 HK$'000

F#ET T

Listed equity shares in Hong Kong (Note) A& F 2 x5l m (FEr) 4,533 7,347
Note: The investment represents equity interest in a company with its Misk - ZIREER AR ZRAER  ZARZKR
shares listed on the Stock Exchange, which is stated at fair value. PR L WIRATFEESR - LT
The fair value of listed equity security is determined based on KEHF 2 ATBERREBEESZ MR
quoted market bid price available from the Stock Exchange. During MmEBEABEE HEZ-_—F+=A
the year ended 31 December 2021, a fair value loss of Z+—HIEFE  AFEEEIE2,814,00075
HK$2,814,000 (2020: fair value gain of HK$1,798,000) has been T(ZZB-ZF : 2 F(EEKE1,798,000%

recognised in profit or loss. T0) BN B R o
23. INVENTORIES 23. &8

2021 2020

=B —F —E_TF

HK$'000 HK$'000

F#ET T

Raw materials R R 1,647,370 1,245,374

Work in progress TER G 1,872,799 1,784,472

Finished goods BN R 711,038 414,555

4,231,207 3,444,401
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24. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 24. FEURRIA R X fih FE 4 R IR

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TF
HK$'000

T

HK$'000
TET

Trade and bills receivables FEULBRIE N B W ZE 1 4,782,694 3,989,094
Less: Allowance for credit losses S REAREE (678,907) (646,203)
4,103,787 3,342,891
Other receivables, deposits H WA « e RIEN B
and prepayments 611,183 512,947
Less: Allowance for credit losses W EREKEE - (286,080)
611,183 226,867
Total trade and other receivables FEUS BRTE N E th FE U R IB 4R 58 4,714,970 3,569,758
Less: Rental deposits shown under B ERBEEMAIER S
non-current assets (80,711) (72,987)
Amounts shown under current assets TRENE EFT A 4,634,259 3,496,771

As at 31 December 2021, 31 December 2020 and 1 January RZEZ—F+= )EJ ‘f’ = e
2020, the gross amount of trade receivables from contracts TZA=F+—BRZZ=ZTF—H—H X
with customers (including trade receivables at FVTOCI (note BEFAHNcEREBRB(BEREMEZE
25)) amounted to HK$5,317,541,000, HK$5,200,803,000 and W AR FEEDIR 2 BUCARE (F15E25))
HK$5,067,063,000 respectively. @ %@ 9 pl A& 5317,541,000% T

5,200,803,000 & 7t %2 5,067,063,0008 7T ©
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The Group allows a credit period ranging from 30 to 90 days
to its trade customers.

Included in the other receivables are other PRC tax
recoverable of HK$293,536,000 (2020: HK$18,552,000) and
the remaining balances mainly represent the prepayments to
suppliers and operating expenses and various refundable
deposits paid for rental, utility and other operating purposes.

The Group's trade and bills receivables that are denominated
in currencies other than functional currencies of the relevant
group entities are set out below:

Denominated in HK$ LA TTEHE

AREGTHESEFZEEHN FIIOE
90 ATE -

Hfth, & W SR TR ) B2 4 L A R U Bl AR B IR
293,536,000/ 7T (= F = F 4 : 18,652,000
BIL) R T HEHBER /BN HEEFAER
BERS  URBES  ARFXRHEME
ERZEM MR ZEARERS -

AEBNFHEEERNREEBEAINZER
FMEZ FEYSRIA N R IEE ST

2021 2020
—E_—F

—E-F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FHT

4,477 3,130
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24. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued) 24. BWRRRAMBERIE (&)

The following is an aged analysis of trade and bills receivables RiE B 2 EWERTE M BN EE (RS
presented based on the invoice date at the end of the RIZBHZAEL]) B BB REE Rk
reporting period, net of the allowance for credit losses at the DT

reporting date:

2021
—EC-E 4
Trade Bills Trade Bills
receivables  receivables Total  receivables  receivables Total

BUEE  ERRER 8% EAEE  RURE At
HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS000  HK$000  HK$'000
TR TR TR TR TR TR

Within 60 days 60HRA 3,052,566 - 3,052,566 2,251,913 - 2,251,913

6110 90 days 61290H 642,372 - 642,372 608,869 13 608,982

More than 90 days B0 H 408,849 - 408,849 481,996 - 481,996

4,103,787 - 4,103,787 3,342,778 13 3,342,891

As at 31 December 2021, included in the Group's trade RZEBE-_—F+_A=+—H0 KEEfE
receivables balance are debtors with aggregate carrying W BR T8 45 64 N B2 +E 42 BR E {8 4 387,805,000
amount of HK$387,805,000 (2020: HK$482,889,000) which B (T -Z 4 :482,889,000/87T) 2 &
are past due as at the reporting date. Out of the past due WEEZ: - ZERENREHCEH - OBH
balance, HK$66,410,000 (2020: HK$126,503,000) has been 4 & H #66,410,0008 T(Z T —Z F:
past due over 90 days or more and is not considered as in 126,503,000/870) E @ HAE B 90 Bt A F -
default based on good repayment records for those BERZERF ZIENCHRITRFEEAR
customers and continuous business relationship with the EBAEXEBERBER  RITEREEEKRK
Group. 1§ o
Details of impairment assessment of trade and other FEUBRTE N H fth FE Uk 3R I8 2 B s sE 1B &
receivables are set out in note 38. FAMIEESS ©
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25. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES AT FAIR 25 REMZEAKRBLUAFEEIIEZE
VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE U ARTA & FE M R 1%
INCOME
2021 2020
—EB-—F —E-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
F&T FET
Trade receivables FEURBRTE 294,458 854,563
Bills receivables FEUNZ % 240,389 357,146
534,847 1,211,709
The following is an aging analysis of trade and bills NEEERIREEZHHZ2Y|RNE M2 mIkEE
receivables at FVTOCI presented based on the invoice date at AR EBEYIR 2 EWERIE R EREE 2R
the end of the reporting year: BT -
2021
—E_-&
Trade Bills Trade Bills
receivables  receivables Total  receivables  receivables Total
B kRS eSS o fEMRERIR EWER =)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL T T BT BT AL
Within 60 days 60HMA 290,429 111,980 402,409 851,796 342,544 1,194,340
61-90 days 61£90H 3972 91,658 95,630 2,767 2,467 5,234
More than 90 days BB H 57 36,751 36,808 - 12,135 12,135

294,458 240,389 534,847 854,563 357,146 1,211,709

Details of impairment assessment of trade and bills REMEE YRR FEEYR EWRE
receivables at FVTOCI are set out in note 38. DEWEE 2R A B H R3S
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26.

27.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

SN 22 A

Foreign currency forwards

26.

fTEemMIR

2021
—E-—F

2020
—E-TF

HK$'000
THAT

1,949

HK$'000
TET

584

The Group had entered into certain foreign currency forward
contracts to hedge against the appreciation of US$ against
Renminbi (“RMB") and the appreciation of Euro against RMB
for certain agreed periods of time. The Group and the
respective banks would settle with reference to the strike
price on the predetermined settlement date on a gross basis
as per the contract.

AMOUNTS DUE FROM (TO) ASSOCIATES

At 31 December 2020, the amount due from an associate of
HK$798,640,000 was non-trade in nature and was unsecured
and interest bearing of 4.35% per annum. At 31 December
2020, the Directors revisited the cash flow positions and
financing capability of the associate and expected the amount
will not be fully repaid within 2021 and classified it as non-
current. At 31 December 2020, the amount due from an
associate of HK$1,590,736,000 represented the cash advance
to an associate for the purchase of raw materials for further
processing and the finished goods will be resold to the Group
within one year. The amounts was unsecured, interest-free
and no fixed repayment term. The Group allows a credit
period of 90 days for the trade balance due from associate
and there was no significant increase in credit risk of these
amounts since initial recognition.

Amounts due to associates at 31 December 2020 are derived
from normal business activities and are unsecured and
interest-free. A credit period of 90 days is allowed.

Amount due to an associate at 31 December 2021 is derived
from normal business activities and is unsecured and interest-
free. A credit period of 90 days is allowed.

27.

— =

T FFR o FERNEBRERAE

AEEFYETINERRAL - URETH
EHEAEPETEARE AR 27t
BRBITEARE ZFHE - AEBE R EHR
TH2EEMANBAEEEER Z1TEE
RBRE R

FEU (1) BB X R RIA

R-ZE-FHF+-A=+—08 EKBELEA
A)3K1E 798,640,000 LEIEE HIEE - I
AEEE IR FENR435% 8 c R =
TE+-_A=+—H EEEFEEWED
RIMB RN RBERL S - BEHZERE
BIAEE—ZT-_—FNRNEE IBES AR
ERE NZZE_TF+-_A=+—H &
U — R B 4% /N B ERIE 1,590,736,000 7 7T 45
m—AEEARBERMEHEE - INTH
HeBF - HWEMBER—FANEZETFAE
E e AEERERBLEARESBEHRELZ
EEHANH MEBREBEZEERRE
136 HE TR LA SR A 8 K i@ 44 0 »

R=B-THE+=A=+—AEABEAT
WERE —MEHES  LAMEMRSL
B BT 2 EEEAA -

RZBZ—F+_A=+—REMNBEQT

RERE —REBKLS  AAEERLL
BT ZEEHRWOAB -
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28. RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS/BANK 28. RMFBITER BITEERHAS
BALANCES AND CASH
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE&xT T T
Cash on hand and in bank WENIRITERE 1,208,068 1,034,982
Restricted bank deposits SRR HERITIF IR 444,847 360,143
1,652,915 1,395,125
The Group's bank balances and deposits that are AEFUEBEERET R EE I B

144

denominated in currencies other than the functional
currencies of the relevant group entities are set out below:

SIMEZ SRITHETF RIFREIIEAT

JPY HK$ USS$ RMB

HE BT E AR

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

THL THL THL THL

As at 31 December 2021 NZZE-—-E+-A=+—H 3,203 108,592 205,335 913

As at 31 December 2020 RZEZTF+-A=+—H 6,302 35,205 44,478 36,176
Bank deposits and bank balances carry interest at fixed and BAFEZRBEALEESNEEERN F
variable rates respectively which ranged from 0.01% to 001%ZE1.90%( ZZE - F:001% &

1.90% (2020: 0.01% to 2.50%) per annum.

Restricted bank deposits is to secure bills payables and are
therefore classified as current assets. The restricted bank
deposits carry fixed interest rate ranged from 1.00% to
2.00% (2020: 1.30% to 2.00%) per annum. The restricted
bank deposits will be released upon settlement of bills
payables.
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29. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 29. MESTRRIR R X fih FE Bk IF

RBERARRERAM27 2 BARREME
NRBEZEREDHTAOT

The following is an aged analysis of trade and bills payables
presented based on the invoice date at the end of the
reporting period:

2021
—E--F
Trade Bills Trade Bills
payables payables Total payables payables Total

iR ENRR ait  EARE  EARE At
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$000  HK$'000
TR TAR TAR T THETL THTL

Within 60 days 60EA 4,404,430 814,622 5219052  44144N 831,959 5,246,380
6110 90 days 61£90H 444,891 266,833 11,724 411,355 332,193 743,548
More than 90 days B0 A 768,547 1,246,702 2,015,249 906,290 468,632 1,374,922

5,617,868 2,328,157 7,946,025  5732,066 1,632,784 7,364,850

The credit period on purchases of goods ranges from 60 to
90 days. The Group has financial risk management policies in
place to ensure that all payables are settled within the credit
time frame.

Included in other payables are deposits received with
aggregate carrying amount of HK$42,499,000 (2020:
HK$50,319,000), accruals of operating expenses with
aggregate carrying amount of HK$511,000,000 (2020:
HK$383,340,000), payables for the acquisition of property,
plant and equipment with aggregate amount of
HK$488,532,000 (2020: HK$499,659,000), dividend payable
of HK$1,258,000 (2020: HK$1,258,000), consideration
payable of HK$472,318,000 (2020: nil) and government grants
as detailed in note 42.

RBERNEEHNTFE0EWNH - AEE
EHEEE W HRRE ERR - URERME
EMASFAEENFA

H b fE T 3B B 1R 4 BRI {E & 42,499,000 7
71:(_?_?¢ 50,319,000 7T) 2 B Uiz
© - BIRME{E A 511,000, ooo%m(_?_?
F 383,340,000%%)2)@#%& B

¥ /488,532,000 w( = & = & ¢ :
499,659,000/8 7T ) 2 SLULEEYI % - B K&
2 B RE 1258000/%75(_3_2
11,258,000/ T ) Z fE AR
472,318,000/ 8 L (ZE=FF : T)Zﬂ’éﬁ
RAB R P FE 42 5l B RS ©

Z—FFR o FEFERERLT 145



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MEERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 « HE—E_—F+-A=+—HLFE

29.

30.

146

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)

At 31 December 2021, other payables of HK$90,001,000
(2020: nil) relating to acquisition of property, plant and
equipment which will be settled in 2023 or after according to
the contract terms.

The Group's trade and bills payables that are denominated in
currencies other than functional currencies of the relevant
group entities are set out below:

29.

FEMIRIR R H M FE IR (2)

R-F-_—F+-A=1+—8 BKEY
X BERXBABNEMEN KA
90,001,000 8L (ZE_FF : &) - KiRE
BRGRTN B =FH2&&EH -

AEBENEHEEERINESEUINZER
SMEZ BNRERENEEHINWT

2021 2020
—E-—F —ECTEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Denominated in HK$ LA TTRHE 42,021 56,699
Denominated in JPY LARERHE 123,731 173,824
CONTRACT LIABILITIES 30. aAR
The amounts represent advance payment from customers. ZEFIBERPEMNRIE - AEE—BRE
The Group typically receives a 50% deposit on acceptance of REEE H%ﬁ?&%ﬁ‘f*ﬁﬁﬁf_fﬁzg}f
manufacturing order and remaining 50% deposit before WERB0% 2 7] & + W 70 2 1+ EE b A U R &4
delivery of products for customers assessed to be lower T50% °
creditability.
Revenue recognised during the year ended 31 December  E—E - —F R EFF+ A=+ —

2021 and 2020 included the whole amount of contract
liabilities at the beginning of the year. There was no revenue
recognised during the year ended 31 December 2021 and
2020 that related to performance obligations that were
satisfied in prior year.

As at 1 January 2020, contract liabilities amounted to
HK$251,017,000.

The increase in contract liabilities balance as at 31 December

2021 is mainly due to increase in advances received from
customers and acquisition of a subsidiary during the year.

Truly International Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2021

AILFEERZESERFNZE2HBA0EA
E-BE_ TR ZFT_ZTF+_H
=t BULFEERZERLES LR EF
ERITZEHEE -

RZE-_ZTEF—H—H AHEEA
251,017,000/%71 °

R-ZE-_—F+-_A=1t—H AHBEH
PR INE R AR FAMKRZE P B NR
WEE—FHEB AR -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M EGHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 « HE—_ZE=—F+-HA=+—HItEE

31. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 31. BITRHEMBER
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FETT
Bank loans RITER 4,405,424 3,829,881
Bills discounted with recourse BRREZEHREE 68,489 23,551
Trust receipt loans ZERIEER 959,989 652,988
Other loans HAi &% 682,604 1,005,629
6,116,506 5,512,049
Secured B 771,735 920,000
Unsecured 4 4K 5,344,771 4,592,049

6,116,506 5,612,049

The Group's bank and other borrowings AEBUEHEBEEENEEE
that are denominated in currencies other  LASNZ EEEFIE 2 RTR
than the functional currencies of the EMERESWMT :
relevant group entities are set out below:

Denominated in HK$ LAVETTETE 817,410 917,202
Denominated in JPY A HEE 43,091 66,903
Denominated in USD LAZETTEHE 896,866 419,761
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31. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued) 31. |ITREMERE)

Bank borrowings RITEM
2021 2020
—E-—F —ETF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THT FATT
Carrying amount repayable*: FERTBREE * -

Within one year R—FRA 3,868,826 3,638,688

More than one year, but not exceeding —FRERWERN
two years 362,586 314,743

More than two years, but not exceeding MEZERATA
five years 242,500 -

4,473,912 3,853,431
Carrying amount of above borrowings that R BEARESEIEESL

contain a repayment on demand clause BEEREREREZ
(shown under current liabilities) but LiERZREE -
repayable:
Within one year R—FRA 959,990 652,990
5,433,902 4,506,421
Less: Amount included under current B PR RB B ER 2 HIE
liabilities (including bank loans with (BIEABRZREXRER
a repayable on demand clause) &R 7 RITE ) (4,828,815) (4,191,678
Amount due after one year shown under ERBEETR—FE
non-current liabilities B HA 2 508 605,087 314,743
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31. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued) 31.

Other borrowings

BITRAEMER (&)
HAit &K

2021 AOYA)
—E-—F —ETF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
Carrying amount repayable*: FEfSBREE * -
Within one year R—FA 632,604 421,547
More than one year, but not exceeding —FBBRMERN
two years 33,333 584,081
More than two years, but not exceeding ~ FIEEERAER
five years 16,667 -
682,604 1,005,628
Less: Amount included under B FIRRBIAEF 2508
current liabilities (632,604) (421,547)
Amount due after one year shown under  3ERBIBEMRAR—E%
non-current liabilities EIH 2z k08 50,000 584,081

The amount due are based on scheduled repayment dates set out

* FMFORDRIEHNE R GE 2 TBEEKE B

in loan agreements. FTHE
Total amounts of bank and other IR AT ZIER ZR1T R EH A
borrowings included under: BB -
Current liabilities RENAE 5,461,419 4,613,225
Non-current liabilities ERBEE 655,087 898,824
6,116,506 5,512,049
Trust receipt loans ERERBER

The Group has entered into certain trust receipt loans with
banks. Under these arrangements, the banks pay suppliers
the amounts owed by the Group in advance of the original
due dates at a discount offered by the suppliers. The Group's
obligations to suppliers are legally extinguished on settlement
by the relevant banks. The Group then settles with the banks
between 30 and120 days after settlement by the banks with
interest ranges from 1.4% to 3.0%, which may be extended
beyond the original due dates of respective invoices. The
interest rates are consistent with the Group's short term
borrowing rates.

— =

AEBERRTEI VAT EAREERK - R
BERH  RITRHEERRENTN - »
JR 7E B HA A B A £ B 7 S A9 AN SR B A4S R
H o ASBEHHERNETNEBRTESR
BRI - AEBERIRITHEEEI0E120
KERITHEE - FIENT1.4%ZE3.0% A
EHEEERENRTEEA 2% - FlxE
AEBRGHERFIE B -
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31.

150

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)
Trust receipt loans (Continued)

Taking into consideration of the nature and substance of the
above arrangements, the Group presents payables to the
banks under these arrangements as “borrowings” in the
consolidated statement of financial position. In the
consolidated statement of cash flows, repayments to the
banks are included within financing cash flows based on the
nature of the arrangements, and payments to the suppliers
by the banks are disclosed as non-cash transactions.

The Group’s bank borrowings included fixed-rate borrowings
of approximately HK$1,962,608,000 (2020: HK$3,482,496,000)
which carry effective interest rates ranged from 0.53% to
7.13% per annum (2020: 0.74% to 8.40%) (which are also
equal to contracted interest rates). The remaining Group’s
bank and other borrowings are variable-rate borrowings which
carry interest at Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate
("HIBOR"), London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR") or
Benchmark Loan Rate issued by the National Interbank
Funding Center (“Benchmark Loan Rate"”) plus certain basis
points. Interest is repriced every three months and the range
of effective interest rates is at 0.61% to 4.85% (2020: 1.44%
to 5.00%) per annum.

As at 31 December 2020, bank borrowing amounting to
HK$920,000,000 was secured by personal guarantee and
restricted cash collateral account in the corresponding bank
of Mr. Lam Wai Wah. The borrowing was also secured by
100% equity interests in Truly Semiconductors Limited
(“Truly Semiconductors”), Truly Electronics Manufacturing
Limited (“Truly Electronics”), Hong Kong Truly International
Holdings Limited, R T2 CIR) BR 2 F ("5 F T Z Ol
B)"), ER+ZBRERAF ("EMFEER") and EFRER
HERAR (“EF K ER ), amount due from an associate
of HK$798,640,000 and intercompany balances among
subsidiaries of the Company. Such bank borrowing was fully
repaid by the Group in May 2021.
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BITRHEMERE)
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SOESHIA TR - NEARSRBRS -
RS 2 O R TIR B B AT A
RemE  BAAREEHONRIEAERS
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31. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued) 31. BITREMEBRE)
Trust receipt loans (Continued) ERBBER(E)
In respect of a bank loan with carrying amount of gﬁ#_$:—¢+*)%:+faﬁ§ﬁﬁ?%
HK$275,000,000 as at 31 December 2021 (2020: nil), the 275,000,000 BT RITER(ZE T F -
Group is required to comply with the following financial E)ME @ A& l’ET:E*E e RFE R
covenants throughout the continuance of the relevant loan &/dzj% T REEEBEST NI B ER
and/or as long as the loan is outstanding: o
e the consolidated tangible net worth shall not be less o  IREAMFENEDR7T,500,000,000
than HK$7,500,000,000; BT
e the ratio of the consolidated net borrowings to the o A ﬁ/kégﬁiﬁi REBREFREZLET
consolidated tangible net worth shall not be exceed 151838 0.85 :
than 0.85:1; and
o the ratio of the consolidated net profit before interest o A B AT @rﬂﬂéﬁi ARBZHEZ
and taxation to the consolidated interest expenses shall LE R SIER 4.5 ¢
not be less than 4.5:1.
The Group has complied with these covenants throughout AEBREMEFEHNEDETZEELS -
the reporting period.
32. LEASE LIABILITIES 32. #HEAR

2021 AOYA)
—E——F —ETHF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FETT
Lease liabilities payable: ENHEAE
Within one year —FR 143,652 126,128
Within a period of more than one year but —FEEBRMRERN
not more than two years 103,360 128,672
Within a period of more than two years but MEZBRAER
not more than five years 53,149 136,952
300,161 391,752
Less: Amount due for settlement with WoomBAERTIRN T ZEAR
twelve months shown under BN 2 BERFIR
current liabilities (143,652) (126,128)
Amount due for settlement after twelve  JEREBIB G IR+ (@A %E
months shown under N 2 R FIR
non-current liabilities 156,509 265,624

The Group's weighted average incremental borrowing rate for
lease liabilities is 7.12% (2020: 7.11%) per annum.

AEEHE R ERINEFHIE

712% (ZZEZFF 1 711%) °

—?

—FFH o FANERARIA

EEFNER
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33.

152

BONDS PAYABLE

33.

RS

2021
—E-—F

2020
—E-TF

HK$'000
THAT

HK$'000
TET

Classified under current liabilities T EnEaE 371,996 44,764
Classified under non-current liabilities S AEERSEE - 355,832
371,996 400,596

In July 2016, 5 FI £ E R D B R 2 7l (the “Issuer”), a non-
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, issued a tranche of
domestic corporate bonds (the “Bonds”) with an aggregate
principal amount of RMB750,000,000. The Bonds bear fixed
interest at 5.8% per annum and is payable annually each year.
The effective interest rate of the Bonds payable is 6% per
annum. At the end of the third year after issuance, the Issuer
has an option to adjust upward the interest rate of the Bonds
and bondholders can exercise retractable option.

On 29 July 2019, following the exercise of the retractable
option by the majority of the bondholders, the Issuer
repurchased the Bonds with principal amount of
RMB712,405,700 and paid the relevant interests. The
remaining Bonds with principal amount of RMB37,594,300
without exercising the retractable option by the relevant
investors would be held until maturity in July 2021 with the
unadjusted coupon rate at 5.8% per annum.

On 10 September 2019, the Issuer issued a tranche of Bonds
with an aggregate principal amount of RMB300,000,000. The
Bonds bear fixed interest at 5.2% per annum and is payable
annually each year. The effective interest rate of the Bonds
payable is 5.5% per annum. The Bonds will mature in
September 2022.

The Bonds are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange.
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34. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES 34. RERARE AR
For the purpose of presenting in the consolidated statement RNGEETBARRKRF 2 - BB 28w
of financial position, the following is the analysis of the EVIRERBLEHRSTOT -

deferred tax balances for financial reporting purposes:

2021 AOYA)
=2 —F —E_THF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FH&T
Deferred tax liabilities BLEHIEE & 149,457 91,292
Deferred tax assets RERIBE E (56,543) (56,519)
92,914 34,773
The following are the major deferred tax liabilities (assets) EAEENEBTEERNERHNTERELETIE
recognised and movements thereon during the current and BEEE)REZFEWT -
prior years:
Loss
available Undistributed
for offsetting Accelerated Allowance profits
against future tax for of the PRC
taxable profit  depreciation inventories  subsidiaries
A A{EE8E
ARERB HEIf A R
BHZER  MERERE FEREG A EEH ok
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT AL THT THT
At 1 January 2020 RZZEZZTF—H—H (45,584) 9,442 (29,848) 60,704 (5,286)
Charge (credit) to REEBERSH
profit or loss for the year (%) 45,584 (740) (26,671) 21,886 40,059
At 31 December 2020 RZZE-ZF
+ZA=+—-A - 8,702 (56,519) 82,590 34,773
Charge (credit) to NEEBEPIH
profit or loss for the year ~ (35%) - 25,009 (24) 33,156 58,141
Acquisition of a subsidiary 4z —FIKE A7) (154,654) 154,654 - - -
At 31 December 2021 RZE-—F
+-A=+-H (154,654) 188,365 (56,543) 115,746 92,914
At 31 December 2021, the Group has unused tax losses RZBZ_—F+_A=+—8 XEERE
arising in Hong Kong amounting to HK$432,074,000 (2020: BEE 2 R BB EE R 432,074, 0005%
HK$303,391,000) available indefinitely for offsetting against TL(ZZZZFF 303,391,000 T) -
future profits of the companies in which the losses arose. No PREARERIFE R BER A TZ?HMJ'J
deferred tax assets has been recognised in respect of the RIE-_—FR-_FT_ZEF+_A=+—
remaining tax losses arising in Hong Kong due to H BERESSEENBRTHIBEESERERE
unpredictability of future profit streams as at 31 December ERIEEE - REARIHEFREBTAITEA -

2021 and 2020.

T FFR o FERNEBRERAE
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34. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES (Continued)  34.

At 31 December 2021, the Group has unused tax losses

BERRRE AR A
R=Z-—F+-A=+—B AEERF

arising in the PRC of HK$2,934,668,000 (2020:
HK$111,327,000) and such tax losses can be carried forward
for a period of five years or ten years which are available for
offsetting future profits. At 31 December 2021, deferred tax
asset has been recognised in respect of HK$1,031,026,000
(2020: nil) of such tax losses in the PRC. No deferred tax
assets has been recognised in respect of the remaining tax
losses of HK$1,903,642,000 (2020: HK$111,327,000) due to
unpredictability of future profit streams. Included in
unrecognised tax losses arising in the PRC are losses of
HK$22,153,000 (2020: HK$49,174,000) that will gradually
expire until 2026 (2020: expire until 2025) and
HK$1,881,489,000 (2020: HK$62,153,000) that will gradually
expired until 2031 (2020: expire until 2030).

Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax is imposed on
dividends declared in respect of profits earned by the PRC
subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards. At 31 December
2021, deferred taxation has not been provided for in the
consolidated financial statements in respect of temporary
differences attributable to accumulated profits of the PRC
subsidiaries amounting to HK$6,560,079,000 (2020:
HK$5,673,303,000) as the Group is able to control the timing
of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable
that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

35. SHARE CAPITAL

Ordinary shares of HK$0.02 per share

Authorised:
Balance at 1 January 2020,
31 December 2020 and

iii

35.

:’7’_?$+ H + H &

Bl E4 2 KB AT IEE B A 2,934,668,000
B (ZTZF 4 111,327,000 70) » M
ﬁ@%ﬁfﬁﬁéﬁﬁ—l EERF+F - WA AE
R GH R —_—F+_A=+—
B ERZEHEEBEERERELERE
& #1,031,026,00080( T - T4 ) o
W ke T R TEES 18 1,903,642,000 8 7T (=
T -F4F 111,327,000 70 ) HERIE LT 1H
BE  RAAKRKEHMN KB TAITEA - fE4
Fimﬂiﬁﬁuuﬁﬂﬁ@ﬁg/@ﬁﬂ—rﬁj\_?_/\
FHZELEH (T _TF : RZZERHF
AR HA) 8 E5 18 22,163,000 T ( ZE =&
149,174,000/ 7T) & 1,881,489, ooo/‘%fz
—E T F 62,153,000/ L) HR =T
——FRBESHBP(ZE_FF - R =
TEFIRE) o

BIERRCERSRHE BT N\F— A
— B - AP BB AR BRE 2 H AT E IR
KB BEMNTEINR - M- —F+— A
=+—H EHEEYBHES  WERPH
WMEB AR ZREBEFNN K=
6,560,079,000% t( — & = T F:
5,673,303,000 7 7T ) {E KB E TR TE B & - R
A A 7K 5 B A B 18 HI 5 0] B = B R B
6 - IRE AR &I R] B AR IRB O A =58 o

Bz &

Number of
shares

R E

Amount
28
HK$'000
FHTT

FREEC.02B T2 EBAX

31 December 2021 2 F+ZA=+—AH
2 EE 5,000,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: 231 &%&E
Balance at 1 January 2020, RZZEZEF—HF—AH-
31 December 2020 and - ;_7¢+ A=+—HXK
31 December 2021 T —4F+=ZA=+—H
-2 3,289,229,398 65,785

None of the Company's subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company's listed securities during the
year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY

On 29 November 2021, the Group entered into the
Agreement to acquire approximately 16.77% interest in Truly
HZ at a cash consideration of RMB450,000,000 in which
RMB50,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$61,150,000)
has been settled in 2021 and the remaining RMB400,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$489,200,000) will be settled
in two instalments within 2022.The fair value of the
consideration payable approximately HK$472,318,000 is
determined by using an effective interest rate of 4% on the
unpaid consideration approximately HK$489,200,000. Truly
HZ is principally engaged in development and production of
active-matrix organic light-emitting diode and LCD products
and was acquired with the objective of improving the Group's
LCD products segment. The acquisition has been accounted
for as acquisition of business using the acquisition method.
The acquisition was completed in early December 2021.

36.

K —RME AT
RZEZ—F+—A=Z+NB xEEEFTL
ZiniE - AKEEEFIEMNA 16.77% s -
|/4e R EA AR 450,000,000 » HAA
R #50,000,000 7t (#8 & 7 £761,150,000 /5
TIERZZEZ—FHEE MHBHTARE
400,000,000 7T (#8'% 74 #7 489,200,000 % 7T.)
BR-E - —FROMBALE - EHHRED
NFEEX 472,318,000 7T IR A KB
#9489,200,0007%8 LK) E R F 4% E TE ©
EAEMNEEREEREBERE Y KT
ERGEBENSEERNABENEE  WHEE
HEREREBNRBBRBREERDES -
WEEEE KRB EARBREBER - Ik
BERZZZ—F+RAUIEK °

HK$'000
TAT

Consideration transferred EEEHE

Cash b1k 61,150
Consideration payable FERRE 472,318
Total #Et 533,468

Acquisition-related costs were insignificant and have been
excluded from the consideration transferred and recognised
as an expense in the current year, within the “administrative
expenses” line item in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income.

— =

T FFR o FERNEBRERAE

WIBHBER AL NEX - MERDEERE
ERAFERADEAEa A2 EK R
RITBER]EREANFEX °
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36. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY (Continued) 36. lE—FMEBLTE (&)

Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the RBBEHFRBHNEERBEINEE
date of acquisition

HK$'000
FHET

Property, plant and equipment W - B K& 4,529,636
Right-of-use assets ERAREE 217,694
Deposit paid for acquisition of property, plant MKEDE BELREZMTE
and equipment 22,036
Inventories & 640,400
Other receivables H A U GRIR 517,218
Amount due from the Group PR A 52 B 5RT8 68,488
Bank balances and cash RITHEFRIA S 22,546
Restricted bank balances ZRREVRITAEBR 27,395
Amount due to the Group FERT AR SR B R IE (2,578,511)
Trade and other payables FEATRRTE I B R FRIR (1,073,431)
Contract liabilities aHaE (139,094)
Bank borrowings RITIER (974,704)
Total #Et 1,279,673
Other receivables include prepaid other taxes of HipE BB FERENHE M IE
HK$462,496,000 and other receivables of HK$54,722,000. 462,496,000/ T K& H b & W X 1B
The fair value of the other receivables acquired at the date of 54,722,000 7T o FAUKEE B BRI S A E &
acquisition approximated to their gross contractual amounts. WHIEH A BEEESLEERE -
Non-controlling interests FEERER
The non-controlling interests (23.5%) in Truly HZ recognised PUCEE B EARE R B 1= M 2= 0N IE #28 A% A 25
at the acquisition date was measured by reference to the (235%) W2 BEMEINFEECHRELE
proportionate share of recognised amounts of net assets of BB EEET £ © #9/4301,107,00078 7T ©

Truly HZ and amounted to approximately of HK$301,107,000.

HK$'000
TAT

Goodwill arising on acquisition: WEEENEE
Consideration transferred EEENRE 533,468
Plus: non-controlling interests (23.5% in Truly HZ) A0 : FE3E &S (S FIEINEY 23.5%) 301,107
Plus: previously held equity interest (59.7% in o : SRR AR (RMEFIEMNAI59.7%)

Truly HZ) 1,114,657
Less: recognised amounts of net assets acquired ¥ : D HERHWIE FEEL (1,279,673)
Goodwill arising on acquisition EWEEEENEE 669,559
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36. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY (Continued) 36. lE—FMEBLTE (&)

Non-controlling interests (Continued)

Goodwill arose on the acquisition of Truly HZ because the
Group is the major customer of Truly HZ, which could
potentially bring positive synergy effect on cost saving and
profit generation to the Group. These benefits are not
recognised separately from goodwill because they do not
meet the recognition criteria for identifiable intangible assets.

The goodwill arising from the acquisition has been allocated
to the cash-generating unit of Truly HZ and the carrying
amount of such cash-generating unit is higher than its
recoverable amount, resulting in the impairment loss of
goodwill amounting to HK$82,135,000 recognised in profit or
loss for the year ended 31 December 2021.

The recoverable amount of Truly HZ has been determined
based on a value in use calculation. That calculation uses
cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by
management covering a 5-year period, and pre-tax discount
rate of 15.96%. The cash flows beyond the 5-year period are
extrapolated using a steady 2% growth rate. This growth rate
is based on the relevant industry growth forecasts and does
not exceed the average long-term growth rate for the relevant
industry. Other key assumptions for the value in use
calculations relate to the estimation of cash inflows/outflows
which include forecast revenue and gross margin, such
estimation is based on Truly HZ's past performance and
management'’s expectations for the market development.

None of the goodwill arising on these acquisitions is expected
to be deductible for tax purposes.

The fair value of the previously held equity interest in Truly
HZ at the date of acquisition is HK$1,114,657,000, which is
determined based on the valuation under income approach
performed by an independent valuer. The remeasurement
gain of interest in Truly HZ amounting to HK$323,248,000,
which is the difference between the fair value and its carrying
amount at the date of acquisition, was recognised in the
profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2021.

— =

T FFR o FERNEBRERAE

iR AR (F)

WEENEMEEREIBHRASERER
BMNERER WA EAAKESHERA
R BIERN RS RARR A 7 R BUE - A& E
MR A AR BB E R RER M
Itb I 4 L P ) A RE SR ©

WEEEELNFEES I REGEMNEMRES
ELEM MZASELFUNERESR
HAE&%5E SHHE_FT_—F+_A
ST -BUFERNBRERBERERR
82,135,000 7T °

EAEMOAIREEEDENMEREESE
EETE - ZAtBIDERARSRERRA - A
BEBHERESFMNYBEELSESE
BRI X /515.96% - BiE5F HNKE &
MEBDRAREERE2% HEH - ZIBEX
AMRRBETTRIB RIBR A AR B I TR B AR
TENFHRMEREX - HEREEFE
MEIERRERSRA MG HRE
EPEREAKREREMNE  BRMBEHE
REMNEMNEBERRLEEEETISER
HIEH] -

BEEL B RBNRBERBAEINIRAE -

SR REFIEIMN TR B 89 U B AR
NF(BEA1,114,657,0008 7 ZE5TY
ER BB ERRARAEEITHGEE
EE - IMEMEINMERREN T E W (B
RBEBBNAFEERELERENESR)
323,248,000 B L EREBE T - —F+=
A=1T—HIFERERER -
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36.

37.

158

ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY (Continued)

Net cash outflow on acquisition of Truly HZ

36.

YRR —FRIRE AT (&)
W EFEMNIR SR FE

HK$'000
TAT

Cash consideration paid BERNRENRE 61,150
Less: cash and cash equivalents balances acquired J& : B WEER & MBS SEBEA &8 (22,546)
38,604

Impact of acquisition on the results of the Group

As the date of acquisition of Truly HZ is close to the year end,
the revenue and profit of Truly HZ contributed to the Group
after the completion of acquisition is not significant to the
Group in 2021.

Had the acquisition of Truly HZ been completed on 1 January
2021, revenue for the year of the Group would have been
HK$23,203,356,000, and profit for the year would have been
HK$1,497,839,000. The pro forma information is for
illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an indication
of revenue and results of operations of the Group that actually
would have been achieved had the acquisition been
completed on 1 January 2021, nor is it intended to be a
projection of future results.

In determining the ‘pro-forma’ revenue and profit of the
Group had Truly HZ been acquired at the beginning of the
current year, the directors of the Company calculated
depreciation of property, plant and equipment and right-of-
use assets based on the recognised amounts of property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets at the date of the
acquisition.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes the borrowings, lease liabilities and bonds payable
disclosed in notes 31, 32 and 33 respectively, net of cash and
cash equivalents, and equity comprising issued share capital
and reserves.
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37.

BWEEAEEEENRE

B MR E AN B BB FE - B diE
ST 1R 7N 5= [ R A5 15 M RN Ay Wiz et B g 1
“ECFHAEEIAEK -

M ENENER —_E-—F—A—H%
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37. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 37. BXRBER &)
The Directors review the capital structure periodically. The EETHECEEAREE -EFZEREAK
Directors consider the cost of capital and the risks associates ANEERBEAZRRE - Wi5EBIK
with the capital, and will balance its overall capital structure B BIARRFROEEERNDIURES
through the payment of dividends, new share issues of the RITER T E LB E ARG o
Company and share buy-backs as well as raising of bank
borrowings.
The Group's overall strategy remains unchanged from the AEE 7 BEEREG —F AR -
prior year.

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 38. &#MIR
a. Categories of financial instruments a. SMIAEDHE

2021 2020
—E-_—F —ETF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TAETT

Financial assets THEE
Financial assets at amortised cost ?E%ﬁéiﬁ)‘i$§ﬂ$2%%ﬂ’é§ 5,864,335 7,228,911

Financial assets at FVTOCI REAMEEUW R AR FEEDR

L EREE 534,847 1,211,709
Financial assets at FVTPL RIBEARTFEBEIEZEHMEE 4,533 7,347
6,403,715 8,447,967

Financial liabilities THEE
Amortised cost B Ak R 16,232,420 14,652,783
Derivative financial instruments TEsmIA 584 1,949
16,233,004 14,654,732

b. Financial risk management objectives and b. ZMEREEBAERBE
policies

The Group's major financial instruments include
restricted bank deposits, bank balances and cash, trade
and other receivables, trade and bills receivables at
FVTOCI, amounts due from an associate, financial
assets at FVTPL, trade and other payables, bank and
other borrowings, amounts due to associates, bonds
payable, lease liabilities and derivative financial
instruments. Details of these financial instruments are
disclosed in respective notes.

The risks associated with these financial instruments
and the policies on how to mitigate these risks are set
out below. The management manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented in a timely and effective manner.

_7_

FEBFESHTABERREIR
TER - |RIOTEFRRS - BRREA
No Bt R WK IR ~ O E b 2 T s DA
NFEED R EUERIE R R R
FEY — B & R EIFOR - REBmNAA
FEEIRZEHMEE  BNERR
H AR - RITREMER - &
NEE mRE  BNEs HER
BUARTEERMTIA - ZFE2RMIA
Z BN B IAM EEE R -

ElZSeRmIT A RARBEBERZS
ERAOBEHEN T - BEEEER
PERZZEE  UBRESERE
JicH ==y
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 38. £MI R %)
b. Financial risk management objectives and b. 2RMEMRETEBEEREEK(E)

policies (Continued)

Market risk 3% B B

The Group's activities expose primarily to the financial REE 7 ¥ T BEASFE LINEE

risks of changes in interest rates, foreign currency REHELHEARIALEBEREHER

exchange rates and change in prices (see below). (RTx0) e

(i)  Foreign currency risk (i) MR
The Group undertakes certain transactions AEBZATRHUAINETE
denominated in foreign currencies which are ZEINE RBRASEEEEEE
different from US$ and RMB, the functional METRARBUAIINER o

currency of the respective group entities.

The carrying amount of the Group’'s monetary RiER - B SEERBI
assets, monetary liabilities and inter-group B HPINEEAE s NEBEE
receivables and payables denominated in BE E¥aEREERNARM
currencies other than the functional currency of FEUN TR IB K FE N FIB Z BRE{E 0
the relevant group entities at the reporting date o

are as follows:

Liabilities Assets
8F BE
2021 2021 2020
—B--F ZE--&  -E-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TAx TET TET
The Group r£E

HK$ BT 865,278 977,075 119,845 48,472
JPY H 177,073 255,375 6,679 6,302
RMB N - 6,519 268,052 36,176
usb ES 948,534 487,006 278,102 760,853

Inter-company balances A A&
HK$ BT 5,948,701 5,280,081 7,031,303 3,630,910
JPY H - 12,952 - 2,264
RMB ARE 90,313 134,423 4,259,608 4,976,496
usb e 874,911 126,115 286,106 743,049
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

38. &#MTH &)
cREREEEERBE(EZ)

b.

Market risk (Continued) s R (2)
(i) Foreign currency risk (Continued) (i) pEEEBE ()
Sensitivity analysis HRRE T

The following table indicates the approximate
change in the Group's profit after tax for the year
in response to reasonably possible change in the
functional currency of the relevant group entities
i.e. US$ or RMB to the relevant currencies which
the Group has significant exposure at the
reporting date. Since HK$ are pegged to US$
under the Linked Exchange Rate System, the
management does not expect significant foreign
currency exposure in relation to the exchange rate

TRETHENERESEER Y
REB(AETHARKE) LA
SERHEAmHEEARRZH
EMAREH R AEES - M
ERAKENFEHIRIB NI PIE
EZBAOES - AR RBHEE
KH|EATET TS EEE
W AERH IR B REE TR TTIE
KRE 2 EAINERR - KEH
ERARERTTAININE Z B

fluctuation between HK$ and US$. The Group
mainly exposes to foreign currency risks other

than US$.
2021
—B--F
US$/RMB Increase US$/RMB Increase
strengthens (decrease) strengthens (decrease)
(weakens) in profit (weakens) in profit
EVYON: wAEM R/ ARE ikl
FHE (R E) (R2) FHAE (B2 E)
HK$'000
TR
JPY HIEl 3% 4,308 6% 13,153
(3%) (4,308) (6%) (13,153)
RMVB N 3% (112,194) 6% (246,675)
(3%) 112,194 (6%) 246,675
usb I 3% 31,839 6% (45,104)
(3%) (31,839) (6%) 45,104

PHANHTTE 26 FTEL - RIREHIK

As set out in note 26, at the end of the reporting

period, the Group had foreign currency forwards
and structured foreign currency forward which
also expose the Group to currency fluctuation
risks.

—=—

=

AEEFHINERRREBAI
R AR EESINENS
Rk -
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

162

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

For the foreign currency forwards with
transactions denominated in US$ outstanding at
31 December 2021, if US$ was strengthened
against RMB by 5%, the post-tax profit for the
year ended 31 December 2021 would increase by
approximately HK$3,638,000 (2020: HK$730,000),
if US$ was weakened against RMB by 5%, the
post-tax profit for the year ended 31 December
2021 would decrease by approximately
HK$4,430,000 (2020: HK$4,271,000).

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis
is unrepresentative of the inherent foreign
exchange risk as the year end exposure does not
reflect the exposure during the year.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate
risk in relation to fixed-rate bank deposits, amount
due from an associate, fixed-rate bank borrowing,
lease liabilities and bonds payable. The Group is
also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk due to
the fluctuation of the prevailing market interest
rate on bank balances and variable-rate bank and
other borrowings (see notes 28 and 31 for details).
The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of HIBOR and
LIBOR arising from the Group's HK$ and USD
denominated borrowings and the fluctuation of
Benchmark Loan Rate arising from the Group's
RMB denominated borrowings. The management
considers the exposure to interest rate risk in
relation to bank balances is insignificant due to the
low interest rate. The Group currently does not
use any derivative contract to hedge its exposure
to interest rate risk. However, the management of
the Company will consider hedging significant
interest rate exposure should the need arise. The
Group will negotiate with the banks of the relevant
bank loans and closely monitor if there are any
significant modification gains or losses should the
interest rate benchmark for these loans change
resulting from the reform on application of the
amendments.
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38. &#MTH &)
cREREEEERBE(E)

b.

W%
(i)

(ii)

Bk ()

op B E B ()

R E ST ()
RR-_E-_—F+-_A=+—H
ZARFRETLIERPRHM
5 METRAREAESS
HE=—_Z-_—F+-_A=+—H
HEFEZHEEMNEEMD
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 38. @RI R (&)

b. Financial risk management objectives and b. 2RMEMRETEBEEREEK(E)
policies (Continued)
Market risk (Continued) s R (&)
(i) Interest rate risk (Continued) (i) FIEEB (E)

A fundamental reform of major interest rate
benchmarks is being undertaken globally,
including the replacement of some interbank
offered rates ("IBORs") with alternative nearly
risk-free rates. Details of the impacts on the
Group's risk management strategy arising from
the interest rate benchmark reform and the
progress towards implementation of alternative
benchmark interest rates are set out under
"“interest rate benchmark reform” in this note.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been
determined based on the exposure to interest
rates for variable-rate bank borrowings. The
analysis is prepared assuming the amount of
liability outstanding at the reporting period was
outstanding for the whole year. A 100 basis point
(2020: 100 basis point) increase or decrease is
used which represents management'’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in
interest rates.

If interest rates had been 100 basis points (2020:
100 basis point) higher/lower and all other
variables were held constant, the Group’s post-tax
profit for the year ended 31 December 2021
would decrease/increase by HK$35,009,000
(2020: HK$17,127,000).

Other price risks

The Group is exposed to equity price risk arising
from investments in listed equity securities
measured at FVTPL.

FFEH o FEANERARIA

EIREBEREREELETRAM
HE - B AR AT R B A
MEZERALDRITRAERF S X
(MRITRAEREEX]) - GAME
EAE OGS SN B R B I RS
VR E R EMEENXERER
MRS B ANH G [ R R A%
HE]

AN BURE DT IR F BERTT
BRZAERBRMERE - Z2W
DBEERRERE2FZABERE
BRI EIMRER - KQTTHER
1008 F(—ZE-Z4F : 100%F)
NS RREBEEEF
e A BEEEEDL 2F
fly o

MFIE EFH, TBR1008 7 (=
T-FF 1008F) MATEE
—E-—F4+-A=+—HLHF
Bz R EF &R
35,009,000 T(ZE =T F :
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

164

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(iii) ~ Other price risks (Continued)
Price risk sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analyses below have been
determined based on the exposure to equity price
risks at the reporting period.

If equity prices had been 15% (2020: 15%) higher/
lower, the post-tax profit for the year ended 31
December 2021 would increase/decrease by
HK$573,000 (2020: HK$930,000) as a result of the
changes in fair value of financial assets at FVTPL.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’'s maximum
exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss
to the Group due to failure to perform an obligation by
the counterparties is arising from the carrying amount
of the respective recognised financial assets as stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group had concentration of credit risk as 7% (2020:
20%) of total trade receivables was due from the
Group's largest trade debtor, which is a company
located in the PRC.

In order to minimise credit risk, the management of the
Group has delegated a team responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is
taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group
performs impairment assessment under ECL model on
trade balances individually or based on provision matrix.
In this regard, the Directors consider that the Group's
credit risk is significantly reduced.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the
counterparties are banks with good reputation.
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

With respect of credit risk arising from other
receivables, the Group performs impairment
assessment under ECL with significant balances and
credit-impaired individually and/or collectively. Due to
the deterioration of the financial performance of a
particular other receivable, the other receivable is
considered as credit-impaired during the year ended 31
December 2020. For the remaining other receivables,
the balances are grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics by reference to the Group’s internal
credit ratings. The Group has considered the
consistently low historical default rate in connection
with payments, and concluded that credit risk inherent
in the Group’s remaining outstanding other receivables
that are not credit-impaired is insignificant. In addition,
other receivables consist of a large number of
counterparties which do not give rise to significant
concentration of credit risk.

The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment
comprises the following categories:

Internal
credit rating

Description

RBEEFR =R

b.

38. &#MTH &)

TREAREERBEREEE)

EEERRBENE(E)

SREMBUSEELEZ EERRMS
AEEREBEAHEABRIEAHEKR
ERREEEREMER R R EE
HEITRENE - RBEE_T_TF
TZA=T—RALFE HRFER
i FE WK IR 2 M S ARORBAE - B A&
WHRHR BB EERE - SRR T EAM
R HRIEME » BB 2 EARKHE
ZRRMEERAR - mAREERR R
BB - AEECEEDENREH
MESLENERFERE  XR/AE
B T EE BRI ERN R EE L MER
RENBEAEERBRTA IS B
YRR A Z AL EHEREANRE
ERBETERZEFTT -

AEEZ AR EERRFRFEEE
AT R

Group A The counterparty has a low risk of default based on historical
repayment record and has a good reputation

AR REBERRZSE HFAzENEARRKE LAERFES

Group B The counterparty has higher creditability but sometime repays
after due dates

B HFHAERAREE HERGRHEN

Group C The counterparty usually settles after due date with a higher
risk of default

(% BFABERIRARENLE  BOERER

Group D There is evidence indicating the asset is credit-impaired

D BRBRTEELREEAE

Group E There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and the Group has no realistic prospect of recovery

B BEBRTEBABRENHRE  HASEREATATRKE

—?

Other financial
Trade receivables assets/other item
B RE Hit &R HitER
Lifetime ECL — 12m ECL —
not credit-impaired not credit-impaired
PHBEHEREA— NEARBEREA—
BIEERE BEEAE
Lifetime ECL — 12m ECL —
not credit-impaired not credit-impaired
PHBEHEREA— NEARBEREA—
BIEERE BEEAE
Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL —
not credit-impaired not credit-impaired
PHEACREA— HEBEREX -
BIEERE BEEAE
Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL —
credit-impaired credit-impaired
PHREREREA— ZHEBEREL-—
BEERE BEERE

Amount is written off

famEeR

—FFH o FANERARIA

Amount is written off

H#HEBEE
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 38. £MI R %)
b. Financial risk management objectives and b. ¢RRAKREEBEERIXKE)
policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) EEERRBETE(E)
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the TRFAMIHAEEBETEREZH
Group's financial assets and financial guarantee BARIGEZERMEERVBEERED
contract, which are subject to ECL assessment: &7 EERE

External Internal Gross carrying
credit rating  credit rating  12m or lifetime ECL amount
v g

H-E EEFR REARHERERRE FHAE

2021 2020
ZB--F —EC-F%
HK$'000  HK$'000
TER TEL

Financial assets at FVTOCI

REM2ZEKRENATER

53 2 FE iR 78
Trade receivables 25 N/A (Note iii) Lifetime ECL(provision matrix) 294,458 854,563
JEUBRIR TER (B &) PHBHAEREX (BEER)
Bills receivables 25 Al-Bal N/A 12m ECL 240,389 357,146
EREE oyl REAEHEREX
Financial assets at amortised cost
RERERATEZCRERE
Amounts due from associates 27 N/A (Note i) 12m ECL - 2,389,376
JENHEE A RIFIE TEm (Bsi) REAEHEREX
Restricted bank deposits 28  A2-Baal N/A 12m ECL 444,847 360,143
ZRHIBRITER TEH NHEAEREREX
Bank balances 28 A2-Bal N/A 12m ECL 1,207,667 1,034,708
RITET oyl REAEHEREX
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 38. @RI R (&)

b. Financial risk management objectives and b. 2RMEMRETEBEEREEK(E)
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) EEERRBETE(E)

External Internal Gross carrying
credit rating  creditrating 12m or lifetime ECL amount
e g

REFR RER REAR2HAREREE FHAE

2021 2020
ZB--f _ZT°TH
HK$'000  HK$'000

THET THBL
Trade receivables 24 NA (Note iii) Lifetime ECL(provision matrix) 4,140,161 3,388,944
JElERE TR (PzEii) PHEACREL (BEER)
Group D Lifetime ECL(credit-impaired) 642,533 600,037
D& PHRBEREX(BEENA)
Bills receivables 2 A2 N/A 12m ECL - 113
EREE ayli REARHEREX
Other receivables 24 N/A (Note i) 12m ECL 107,633 101,519
Hit R TR (W) REABRSERER
Ba2 N/A Lifetime ECL(not credit-impaired) -

TER EHESHERAX (BEERE)

N/A Group D Lifetime ECL(credit-impaired) - 286,080
(Note iv)
TER Dff PHEHEREL (FEERE)
(Bt v)
Other item
HtER
Financial guarantee 48 N/A Group A 12m ECL - 1,401,333
(Note i)
HBEREH ~am AR 12ARBHERE
(BzEi)
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

168

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Notes:

For the purposes of internal credit risk management, the
Group uses past due information to assess whether credit
risk has increased significantly since initial recognition.

For financial guarantee contract, the gross carrying amount
represents the maximum amount that the Group has
guaranteed under the respective contract amounting to
HK$1,401,333,000 as at 31 December 2020. As at 31
December 2020, the Directors had performed impairment
assessment, and concluded that there had been no
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition of
the financial guarantee contract. Accordingly, the loss
allowance for financial guarantee contract issued by the
Group is measured at an amount equal to 12m ECL. Based
on the assessment of the management, the ECL on financial
guarantee contract as at 31 December 2020 was
insignificant.

For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified
approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at
lifetime ECL. Except for debtors which are credit-impaired,
the Group determines the expected credit losses on these
items by using a provision matrix, grouped by debtors’
aging.

The Group has claimed against the debtor through legal
proceedings in the PRC. As the amount is unsecured and
due to the deterioration of the financial position of the
debtor in recent years, the Directors consider the debtor has
been credit impaired and the recoverability of the debtor
balance is remote, full impairment loss of HK$281,901,000
has been recognised in profit or loss during the year ended
31 December 2020. The amount has been fully written off
in 2021.
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EEE R RREE (E)

GEE

RABERERBERMS  ARERA
BHERFHERRR S VT HERIAR
BERBEM -

FBERANAIE  REAEELASEE
RZZEZEF+=ZA=+—HREEH
ENEEBERZERESEA
1,401,333,000/ Lo R =T = FF
+-—A=+—H EHCETRET
- S imA B VERRMBIERE
KLARIE BRI B EIL N - FHit
MAEBATE LT BIERENIELZEB
BEGDEASN12@EAERERE
KZEHETE - RBEEREZTE - 0
BERAON-_BE_BF+_A=+—
AZEHERABATTERK -

EYSRIE S E  AEBECRAEENG
BERERFE IR MOERZHEME
RBKETEEREE - RERERERE
Z YRR+ A SR B R A 4R B YR K
RN B BRBRREEZFEEZ
TERERERX -
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
b.

Fr-A=t—HILEE

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

As part of the Group's credit risk management, the
Group uses debtors’ aging to assess the impairment for
its customers because these customers consist of a
large number of small customers with common risk
characteristics that are representative of the customers’
abilities to pay all amounts due in accordance with the
contractual terms. The following table provides
information about the exposure to credit risk for trade
receivables which are assessed based on provision
matrix as at 31 December 2021 within lifetime ECL (not
credit-impaired). As at 31 December 2021, the debtors
with credit-impaired amounted to HK$642,533,000
(2020: HK$600,037,000) are assessed individually, and
the rest of debtors amounted to HK$4,140,161,000
(2020: HK$3,388,944,000) are assessed under a

b.

38. &#MTH &)

CREMEERBRRBEE)

EE R RFETE(E)

EAAEEEERREEES IR
REBEFEBEKRN ZRRTHER
FPeRE REAZEEFPTFELZH
EEHRFARARBH 2 NHUER - M
E R FHRAREFRIEA LGB
NRzeeh o THRIZRHEEBREWKRE
EAZZEERBRER  ZZEERIIR
BN - ZE-—F+-A=+—HFA
HEREABX(EEERE) 2 &
HEEETHG R —F+ =
A=+—H8" &#%642,533,000/% 7T
— T T4 1 600,037,000 L) B
WREBEREZ BRI AR 1T
TG - T E & A %04,140,161,00078 7T
(ZZ - Z4F : 3,388,944,000/87C) Z

provision matrix based on internal credit rating. JE WS BR FX R E A A 20 {5 B AT AR 15 1
BT ©
Gross carrying amount REiEE

2021
—E--F
Trade
receivables

Average
loss rate

allowance

Trade
receivables

Loss
allowance

Loss Average

loss rate

FOERE  BUERE
HK$'000

TR

BRR% AR
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THT

THFEE

Current {not past due) SN (R ) 0.68% 3,741,424 25,442 098% 2,883,193 28304
1-60 days past due BHH1Z600 0.82% 28711 2,355 1.14% 324,09 3,695
61-90 days past due 261 E90H 3.42% 37,874 1,295 4.44% 37,656 1,671
More than 90 days past due #5905 F 9.88% 73,692 7,282 8.99% 138,999 12,49
4,140,161 36,374 3,388,944 46,166

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on fEETE B R T iR W ER 5 E’W‘E.{I‘i%ﬁ

historical observed default rates over the expected life
of the debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or
effort. The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure relevant information about
specific debtors is updated.

In the opinion of the Directors, the trade receivables at
the end of the reporting period which have been past
due over 90 days are not considered as in default based
on good repayment records for those customers and
continuous business relationship with the Group.

—?

W%R%%Fﬁ SZBERHNXRENTHE

I 3h EﬁﬁT\M\EEX$3€§%7}EﬂT
Z% SZABEEERMEL AR - BEE
TE B T A B0 BUA RS RS E e
WERK Z R E M BRI EF -

EERAR NEEHREEHI0H MK
EZRKRERBEDERZEEF 2R
BB REFEAEEFE XD
EREREM TSR SRR
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Gross carrying amount (Continued)

Movement in the allowance for impairment of trade
receivables

38. &#MTH &)

b. LHREAREEBEREE#E)

EEERRRERTE(E)
RREAEME ()
JEWER IR B (B 7 5 2 &)

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired)
2 HITEH 2 HITE R
EREBX FERBX
(BEERE) (FEEHE) st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T FHIT
As at 1 January 2020 RZE-ZFEF—H—H 31,030 581,689 612,719
Changes due to financial AZZE-_—F—F—H
instruments recognised as at R L R T A B2
1 January 2021: e -
— Transfer to credit- —EREEERE
impaired (1,193) 1,193 -
— Impairment — BHERREREIE
losses recognised 174 17,717 17,891
— Impairment — BERLEREREE
losses reversed (26,380) - (26,380)
New financial assets originated #7144 & & 41,456 - 41,456
Written off i gH (716) (2,261) (2,977)
Exchange realignment M R 1,795 1,699 3,494
As at 31 December 2020 RoBE-FHF
+=-—A=+—H 46,166 600,037 646,203
Changes due to financial R-EBE-_—F—H—H
instruments recognised as at REMIESI B2
1 January 2021: #E) -
— Transfer to — BB EERE
credit-impaired (4,228) 4,228 -
— Impairment — EERREBE
losses recognised 686 55,561 56,247
— Impairment — BB EREBE
losses reversed (39,656) - (39,656)
New financial assets originated ¥ 4$ g1 &E 32,848 - 32,848
Written off b6z - (18,661) (18,661)
Exchange realignment PE 3 558 1,368 1,926
As at 31 December 2021 RZEBEZ—F
+-—A=+—8 36,374 642,533 678,907
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Gross carrying amount (Continued)
Movement in the allowance for impairment of trade

38. &#MTH &)
b. £REREEEERBEEE)

EEERRRERTE(E)
RREAEME ()
R R (B 5 2 B8 (48)

receivables (Continued)
Changes in the loss allowance for trade receivables are
mainly due to:

2021
—E_—F
Increase (decrease)
in lifetime ECL
2HRBERBREMAL)
Credit-
impaired
BiEERE
HK$'000

Not credit-
impaired
EEEHE
HK$°000

2020
—ECoTE
Increase (decrease)
in lifetime ECL
2 EBRAERBREMNCHD)

Not credit- Credit-
impaired impaired
EEERE BlEERE
HK$'000 HK$'000

Trade receivables with gross BRI #2(& 459,789,000 7T
carrying amount of ZEWRE(ZZ 24
HK$59,789,000 18,910,000 7T) R &
(2020: HK$18,910,000) BREZEERE

defaulted and transferred to

TAT TAT

TET

TER

credit-impaired (4,228) 4,228 (1,193) 1,193
New trade receivables with gross BEI£21& /5 4,136,148,000

carrying amount of BT(ZZZZ2F

HK$4,136,148,000 3,311,802,000% L)

(2020: HK$3,311,802,000) Z W ERIR 32,848 - 41,456 -
The Group writes off a trade receivable when there is EEERBATRER EE N E s E
information indicating that there is no realistic prospect WWEEITE B HI B A B - ANEE M sE FE Uk
of recovery or when the trade receivables are long BRIE o

overdue.
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

172

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Gross carrying amount (Continued)

Movement in the allowance for impairment of other
receivables

38. &#MTH &)

b. LHREAREEBEREE#E)

EEERRRERTE(E)
RREAEME ()

Other
receivables
H A P8 R IR
Lifetime Lifetime
ECL ECL
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired)
2 HITE Hf = HTE HA
FERBX (=i EES
(BREERE) (BEEHE) st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T FHIT
As at 1 January 2020 R-ZE-_ZFTF—H—H 4,179 - 4,179
Changes due to financial RZZEZTF—H—H
instruments recognised as BREMITAS B
at 1 January 2020: BE -
— Transfer to —EREEERE
credit-impaired (4,179) 4,179 -
— Impairment — BHERRERIE
losses recognised - 281,901 281,901
As at 31 December 2020 RIE-EF
+=—RA=+—H - 286,080 286,080
Changes due to financial RZE——F—H—H
instruments recognised as ERTmIAS| B2
at 1 January 2021: BE
— Written-off — - (286,080) (286,080)
As at 31 December 2021 MNZZE——F
+=-A=+—8 - - -
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 38. @RI R (&)

b. Financial risk management objectives and b.
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Gross carrying amount (Continued)

Movement in the allowance for impairment of other
receivables (Continued)

Changes in the loss allowance for other receivables is
mainly due to:

2021
=

—

CREMEERBRRBEE)

EEERRRERG(E)
REAE (&)
B ERH B RER G 28 (&)

Hit R FRRERBBRZEESHERHR -

2020

¢ —F—F
E— =X
—

Increase (decrease) Increase (decrease)

in lifetime

ECL in lifetime ECL

2HRMEARAEMORY)  RHEHEREXZMONL)

Not credit-
impaired
EEERE
HK$'000
TR

Other receivables with gross ﬁﬁ@?@fﬁﬁjﬁzm

carrying amount of nil YA (R =55

(2020: HK$286,080,000) 286,080,000 % 7T) R K

defaulted and transferred to ERSEERE

credit-impaired -
Other receivables with gross SR 4818 5 286,080,000 75 7T

carrying amount of ZET@WW%E

HK$286,080,000 written-off (ZE-%F:

(2020: HK$286,080,000 286,080,000 T2 5%)

defaulted) s -

Credit- Not credit- Credit-
impaired \mpa\red impaired
AEERE EEER BEERE
HK$'000 HK$' OOO HK$'000
TET THET TET

- (4,179) 4179

(281,901) - 281,901

The Group writes off an other receivable when there is
information indicating that there is no realistic prospect
of recovery or when the other receivables are long
overdue.

Liquidity risk

As at 31 December 2021, the Group's current liabilities
exceeded its current assets by approximately HK$5,938
million. Having taken into account the factors set out in
note 3, the Directors consider the Group will have
sufficient financial resources to meet in full its financial
obligations as and when they fall due for the
foreseeable future. Accordingly, the consolidated
financial statements have been prepared on a going
concern basis.

The Group's liquidity position is monitored closely by
the management of the Company.

_7_

EEEHBTER LEREKRESE
fio FE U R IR /B HA B A B - R B 3K
Hofth FERRIA o

mBEERER
RZB-_—F+ZA=+—H K&
B mBBEBL HRE) & EL59.38
BAT ZRIMFAIMHEcEEZ - &
EEMTEEREERTEVBERE
ST E A AT R R B R 2 B HS o i
Bt M BREREDERFELEE
ERE -

o

KEBZRBHESMRABARGERE
J"Ja tﬂ%"%n °
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

174

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

In the management of liquidity risk, the Group monitors
its current and expected liquidity requirements regularly
and ensuring sufficient liquid cash and adequate
committed lines of funding from reputable financial
institutions to meet the Group's liquidity requirements
in the short and long term. The management of the
Company also monitors the forecast and maintains a
level of cash and cash equivalents adequate to finance
the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of
fluctuations in cash flows.

The following table details the Group’'s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on
the earliest date on which the Group can be required to
pay. Specifically, bank loans with a repayment on
demand clause are included in the earliest time band
regardless of the probability of the banks choosing to
exercise their rights. The table includes both interest
and principal cash flow. To the extent that interest flows
are floating rates, the undiscounted amount is derived
from interest rate at the end of the reporting period.

In addition, the following table details the Group's
liquidity analysis for its derivative financial liabilities. The
table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted
gross inflows and outflows on those derivatives that
require gross settlement. The liquidity analysis for the
Group's derivative financial instruments are prepared
based on the contractual maturities as the management
considers that the contractual maturities are essential
for an understanding of the timing of the cash flows of
derivatives.
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 38. £MI R %)
b. Financial risk management objectives and b. ¢RRAKREEBEERIXKE)
policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) RBEEER(E)

On Total Carrying

Weighted  demand or undiscounted amount
average 0to3 1-2 23 Over cash at
interest rate months years years 3 years flows 31 December
R

BEY AfiRRE t=A=1-A

nEPEAE  RE=@R  MEAER  tEt-@R -Ef L il 51 ZKEE
% HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK§'000

% ThR ThR TER TER ThR TR TER ThR

2021 ZE--F
Non-derivative instruments FiiEIE
Trade and other payables EREERE RS 8,502,084 - - 88,208 1,793 - 8592085 8592,085
Consideration payable ERKE 4.00 - 183,450 305,750 - - - 489,200 40318
Amounts due to associates ERBEAARE 679,515 - - - - - 679,515 679,515
Fived Interest rate bank borrowings 8 §7{E3 450 682,058 606,279 633974 52,250 51,125 - 202568 1,962,608
Variable interest rate bank and FERMERRABER
other borrowings 317 2,598,276 614,204 453,189 367,024 213,846 - 4,246,539 4,153,898
Bonds payable RS 527 - 9520 370,108 - - = 379,628 371,99
Lease liabilties HEaE 112 40,855 42,342 78,590 1251 49,850 9,887 334,035 300,161
12,502,788 1,455,795 1,841,611 619,993 316,614 9887 16746688 16,532,581
Derivative — gross settlement  £i4 — BELE
Foreign currency forward SERES
—inflow N 95,569 - - - - - 95,569 95,429
—outflow — il (96,013) - - - - - (96,013) (96,013)
(4dd) - = = - - (444) (584)
On Total Carrying
demand or undiscounted amount
average 0to3 46 7-12 23 QOver cash at
interest rate months months months years 3years flows 31 December
Kk
Z2=(EA ! A tZ+=fiA —5Cf%
HKS'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK§'000
TAT T ThL T
2020 bt 23
Non-derivative instruments FETR
Trade and other payables ERRERAMENTE 8,006,753 - - - - - 8,006,753 8,005,753
Amounts due to associates ERBENARE 734,385 - - - - - 734,385 734,385
Fixed interest rate bank borrowings & B T1E 3 49 2,296,579 426,504 217,038 673,321 - - 3613442 3,482,4%
Variable interest rate bank and FERMERRABER
other borrowings 240 919,287 397457 444,012 330,400 - - 2,091,156 2,029,563
Bonds payable RS 527 - 9252 55,530 369,710 - - 434,49 4005%
Lease lblties BERE 11 33,330 37813 80,326 147,587 96,386 53,910 49,35 391,752
Financial guarantee contract BBERAN 1401333 - - - - - 1,401,333 -
13,390,667 871,026 796,906 1,521,018 96,386 53910 16,729913 15,044,535
Derivative — gross settlement  £i% — MBLE
Foreign currency forward SNERS
—inflow —A 60,372 - - - - - 60,372 60,562
—outflow — i (62511) - - - - - 62511) (62511)
2,139 - - - - - (2139 (1,949
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

176

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

Bank loans with a repayment on demand clause is
included in the “on demand or 0 to 3 months” time
band in the above maturity analysis. The aggregate
carrying amounts of these bank loans amounted to
HK$959,990,000 (2020: HK$652,990,000). Taking into
account the Group's financial position, the Directors do
not believe that it is probable that the banks will
exercise their discretionary rights to demand immediate
repayment. The Directors believe that such bank loans
will be repaid within three months (2020: three months)
after the end of the reporting period in accordance with
the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan
agreements, details of which are set out in the table
below:

38. &#MTH &)
b. £REREEEERBEEE)

RBEEER(E)

AEBREBREREBERZIBITEREA
FEA LB EI DA Hizgijii E={E
AIHIRA - ZFRTERZREAE

/959,990,000 (= & — T F :
652,990,000 L) - & EE|I AL E

Bk - EFRRIVITIAAIBITRE
E’J'FE%E*EHHT;E/?( é%wmﬁlux—r
HRATE B R AR S 3K 190 o P AR R

Fﬁi’%ﬁ"ﬁiﬂﬂiﬂé_flﬂ(:gfy
F:=@A)EE  BEFEHIRT
=

Maturity Analysis — Bank loans with a repayment on demand clause based on scheduled repayments

HHA - REFEBRARRERRERTZBTER

Total

0to3 46 112 1-2 23 Over3 undiscounted Carrying
months months months years years years cash outflows amount
ABRE

$E=@A MEAER tET-ER -ERE CESE BECE B4R REE

HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 Hk$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000

AT AT AL T TER ThR Fhn Thn

31 December 2021 —5--F+ZA=1-R 964,731 - - - - - 964,731 959,990

31 December 2020 “ECRET-AZT-R 657,517 - - - - - 657,517 652,990
The amounts included above for financial guarantee RZBZEF+ZA=+—H" i A

contract as at 31 December 2020 are the maximum
amounts the Group could be required to settle under
the arrangement for the full guaranteed amount if that
amount is claimed by the counterparty to the guarantee.
Based on expectations at the end of the reporting
period, the Group considers that it is more likely than
not that no amount will be payable under the
arrangement. However, this estimate is subject to
change depending on the probability of the counterparty
claiming under the guarantee which is a function of the
likelihood that the financial receivables held by the
counterparty which are guaranteed suffer credit losses.
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Interest rate benchmark reform

As listed in note 31, several of the Group's HIBOR/
LIBOR bank loans may be subject to the interest rate
benchmark reform. The Group is closely monitoring the
market and managing the transition to new benchmark
interest rates, including announcements made by the
relevant IBOR regulators.

LIBOR

The Financial Conduct Authority has confirmed all
LIBOR settings will either cease to be provided by any
administrator or no longer be representative:

° immediately after 31 December 2021, in the case
of all sterling, euro, Swiss franc and Japanese yen
settings, and the 1-week and 2-month US dollar
settings; and

° immediately after 30 June 2023, in the case of the
remaining US dollar settings.

HIBOR

While the Hong Kong Dollar Overnight Index Average
(“HONIA") has been identified as an alternative to
HIBOR, there is no plan to discontinue HIBOR. The
multi-rate approach has been adopted in Hong Kong,
whereby HIBOR and HONIA will co-exist.

(i) Risks arising from the interest rate benchmark reform

Interest rate basis risk

Interest rate basis risk may arise if a non-derivative
instrument and the derivative instrument held to
manage the interest risk on the non-derivative
instrument transition to alternative benchmark
rates at different times. This risk may also arise
where back-to-back derivatives transition at
different times. The Group will monitor this risk
and transact basis interest rate risk if required.

38. &#MTH &)

—?

b.

CREMEERBRRBEE)

FlREEYE

RS ARG - AEEME TEAR
TREREBBERTRERBRT
ERATREREEITHRELERE - K
SEIEZYRRMISY EEmHERE
MEREE  BREMEBRITRRFER
REERERMORSE -

fﬁ?ﬁﬁ"ﬁ%‘f/fﬁ
REZRITAEERCHEIAMARH
ﬁEﬁﬂ%?ﬁ%fﬁf‘iHﬂTﬁEﬂEﬂ B
SRR TBAEREKE

e EE-_FT-—F4+-HA=1+—H
BETHBEEE BT wt
EESR AEERE - A R—AKRM
BAFETEE) &

e EE_T_-—FXA=1+H#E
(StYsRTETER) -

EERITEERE
HABTRRIFEH(ELRRE
HIEE ) ERETARERBBRIT
FIZEFE - B EABRIEFBRIT
FIXFE - BERAZANEAFA &
BIRITRERBSEBLRRTR B
ISRIZE

(i) FY3FE BN R AR A R
FE L ER
HIFITET AR BERZIITE
TANMERERMHFENITET
EETWH—?F‘%Z@&%/H\WEEM
T RIRTREEE AR A R R B o
?.é'-? BREITEMETREREBE

Jﬁf BEH IRt EREE - A%

H%WIMJ‘LBMIEME%JEIE
AEFER R o
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 38. @RI R (&)

b. Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Interest rate benchmark reform (Continued)

(ii)  Progress towards implementation of alternative
benchmark interest rates
The following table shows the total amounts of
outstanding contracts and the progress in
completing the transition to alternative benchmark
rates as at 31 December 2021. The amounts of
financial liabilities are shown at their carrying
amounts and none has been transitioned during
the current year.

Carrying

amounts/

Financial instruments notional
prior to transition Maturing in amounts

BEANSRIA HEEH  BEE/EELE
HK$'000
FHT

b.

CREMEERBRRBEE)

FIREEYE(E
(i) HiBEEFEHERER

TRITEE-ZT-_—F+_H
=t —BARRTERA KRR R T
PRI EL B R A B R R E R 1
NecRMBEBEBSBEUAKREET
R AFEALEEE -

Hedge Transition progress for financial
accounting  instruments

HHEHEE SRMIANBEER

Non-derivative
financial liabilities

FiTESRBE

Bank loans linked to 2022 1,682,040
USD LIBOR

BETHABITAERS “E-F 1,682,040
BRRTER

Bank loans linked to HIBOR 2022 817,410

HEEBRRITAERS —Eoof 817,410
BMRITER

c. Fair value measurements of financial
instruments

This note provides information about how the Group
determines fair values of various financial assets and
financial liabilities.

(i)  Fairvalue of the Group's financial assets and financial
liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring
basis
The Group's financial assets at FVTPL, trade and
bills receivables at FVTOCI and derivative financial
instruments are measured at fair value at the end
of each reporting period. The following table gives
information about how the fair values of these
financial assets and financial liabilities are
determined.
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N/A

LIBOR will continue till maturity

TEm BELRRARTRERS

N/A

BIHR
HIBOR will continue till maturity

TER BEERTBROFAFRE

C.

il
TMIAZAFEEE

UK SR S AL BN A BT TR
SHAERSBEEL AFEBZE
%o

(i) BREEBUATFEEFEZS
SEEMEEREMERZAT
EE
REBREHRR - AEBEZNER
UAFEEIRZEBMEE R
Ht2ERRARFEEIIERZ
FEW R KRR BIARITE S
BMTADZEAFEEFE - TK
REBNAEELEEREEN
CREBZAFEEZEN -
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 38.

c. Fair value measurements of financial c.
instruments (Continued)

®MTRE)
EMITAZAVEEREE)

BRREBEUNTEEFNEZLX
SEEMEEREMERZAT
BE(E)

(i)  Fairvalue of the Group's financial assets and financial (i)
liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring
basis (Continued)

Fair value
hierarchy
AFRE
ERER

Financial assets/
financial liabilities

Valuation techniques and

Fair value as at key inputs

RATEHMZAVEE

31 December

SHEE/SRERE RETERTEAARE

31 December
2021 2020

—E--&

+=B=1-H

“FoFF

+=A=+-8

Financial assets at FVTPL — listed Assets - Assets - Level 1 Quoted bid prices in an
equity shares in Hong Kong HK$4,533,000 HK$7,347,000 active market
RERURTEESR cREE BE- BE- F1R WERTIST 2 RE
—REB LT EHRG 4,533,000 7T 7,347,000 7T
Trade and bills receivables Assets - Assets -  Level 2 Discounted cash
at FVTOCI HK$534,847,000  HK$1,211,709,000 flow method
The key input is market
interest rate.
REMZEREN A TFEETR 8E - BE- F2R ReREMBA
YRR RN R 534,847,000  1,211,709,000 /7T
FEHABBATIHNE o
Foreign currency forwards (Note) Liabilities - Liabilities - Level 2 Discounted cash
HK$584,000 HK$1,949,000 flow method
The key inputs are foreign
exchange spot rates and
forward rates and interest
rate curves.
SN 2 R (tsT) 8- BlE- Z2B% RemEniE
584,000 %8 7 1,949,000 7% 7T
FEHARBRMNERE RR
EARIE DA R M| g

Note: The discounted cash flow method uses only
observable market inputs.

i - TRBeREEERRIBRED
S AR -

There is no transfer between different levels of
the fair value hierarchy for the current year.

RAFERFHEBEBREBZT
R EER -
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value measurements of financial
instruments (Continued)

(i)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial
liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring
basis (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2021 and 2020

38. &#MTH &)
EMITECZAFEEEE)

C.

(i)

BRREEEUNTEEFEZLX
SEEcMEEREMERZAT
BE (&)

RIFZ—FR-ZFZFFFZ

A=Z+—HZ A FEEBLEE

2021
—E_—F
Level 2
2
HK$'000
TET

Level 3 Total
FIR a%

HK$'000 HK$'000

TET TR

Level 1
F14
HK$'000
THT

Financial assets SREE
Financial assets at FVTPL ~ PMEZR AT EESER
JEREE 4,533 = = 4,533
Trade and bills receivables R EM 2 EURIAAF
at FVTOCI BB 2 A
LEKEE - 534,847 - 534,847
4,533 534,847 - 539,380
Financial liabilities tRBE
Derivative financial TESBTA
instruments - 584 = 584

Level 2

180

(ii)

Level 1 Level 3
F1HR FE28 ERE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TEL TAT
Financial assets SREE
Financial assets at FVTPL B UAA T EELE
JEMEE 7,347 - - 7,347
Trade and bills receivables R EMEERZEUAT
at FVTOC| BEY&R. EKERE
RIEWER - 1,211,709 - 1,211,709
7,347 1,211,709 - 1,219,056
Financial liabilities tREE
Derivative financial TTESRBTE
instruments - 1,949 - 1,949

Fair value of the Group’s financial liabilities that are
not measured at fair value on a recurring hasis (but fair
value disclosures are required)

As at 31 December 2021, except for bonds
payable with a fair value of HK$374,329,000
(2020: HK$406,330,000) based on quoted market
price that is categorised into Level 1 fair value
hierarchy, the Directors consider that the carrying
amounts of the other financial assets and financial
liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the
consolidated financial statements approximate
their fair values.
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(ii)

TIRREREEU N T EBHEISE
ZAREASHMERBRZATEE
(EEEHATEERE)
RZZE-_—F+=-A=+—H"
BN (B 1{E 5 374,329,000 7 7T
— & — T 4 : 406,330,000
T)BEMSRERZAZIRA
TEEBAZEMESI EF
RERRA BTSRRI E S5 A
Nz EMemEEREMAE
ZIREESEE NP EBERS -
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39. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 39. EEHEBEIE
The Group as lessor AEBEREBEA
Rental income with fixed monthly rentals earned from REEBBZMERKBWALEE AHED
property and machinery during the year were HK$13,581,000 B /13,681,000 jw( = T = & F:
(2020: HK$10,482,000) and nil (2020: HK$6,355,000) 10,482,000/ 7T ) & ®|( = T — T F:
respectively. 6,355,000 7T) °
Certain properties held for rental purposes have committed :FT—M’IEH:'ufEFH SZMERRAFHMBR
leases for the next five years. H2HE
Minimum lease payments receivable on leases are as follows: UTAEE s HEEKHEENN
2021 AOYAS)
—R=—F —ECTF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET 4T
Within one year —FER 9,447 5,687
In the second year REZF 7,745 4,999
In the third year ME=4F 5,620 4,588
In the fourth year RPN F 6,841 3,595
In the fifth year RERF 1,860 1,106
31,513 19,975
40. COMMITMENTS 40. i

2021 2020
—E-—-F —E-TF

HK$'000 HK$'000
FiEn T

Capital expenditure contracted for but not FtUEEWZE - BE N:E

provided in the consolidated financial DEIHBRELES
statements in respect of acquisition of W mERPEEZ
property, plant and equipment BEALTH 308,121 254,288
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41.

42.

182

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

All of the Group's Hong Kong employees are required to join
the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme. The Group is
required to contribute 5%, while the employees are required
to contribute 5% of their salaries to the scheme to the
maximum of HK$1,500 (2020: HK$1,500) per month for each
employee.

According to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC,
the PRC subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain
percentage of the salaries of their employees to the state-
managed retirement benefit scheme. The only obligation of
the Group with respect to the retirement benefit scheme is
to make the required contributions under the scheme. Total
expense recognised in profit or loss are disclosed in note 11.

GOVERNMENT GRANTS

At the end of the reporting period, government grants of
HK$15,475,000 (2020: HK$18,474,000) were included in
trade and other payables, to subsidise the acquisition of
property, plant and machinery for scientific research
development. The amount has been treated as deferred
income and will be transferred to profit or loss over the useful
lives of the relevant assets. This policy resulted in a credit to
profit or loss in the current year of HK$2,770,000 (2020:
HK$120,000).

Incentive subsidies of HK$110,657,000 (2020:
HK$69,015,000) have been received in the current year to
encourage the operations of the PRC subsidiaries for the
development on advance technology and export sales. The
subsidiaries have complied with application rules of the
incentives and, therefore, the Group recognised the grants in
profit or loss.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group also
recognised in profit or loss government grants of
HK$3,996,000 in respect of COVID-19-related subsidies
which related to Employment Support Scheme provided by
the Hong Kong government during the year ended 31
December 2020.
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41.

42,

B iFEFIETE
KEBZ2BEAREEHBLINEHIEQTE
SETEl e AEBEEHS% R MEET
BEZTEWER EFMo% 25 §4E
BB AHFESAR1608T(ZE-F
F:1,500/87T) °

RETEBREELAM - FEIMERRA
AE B MR NEME EELAERNEE
BHME T BO L Z R - NREBBLEKE
FNETEIF B 2 BEEERRAZETEIEL PAAN
Ko MIBEE P RER AR SEM 11K EE -

By T ARG

RIER - NEEREEDREME - |
B R ik 2s LA 5 R BT R 2 BUSOE R
15,475,000/ ;T ( —Z = = Z 4 : 18,474,000
VT ) B A JE A BR I8 B2 H th JE < FRIE o 52 E
WA AELEWA T IZIEREE E 2 7 A
FHIEE RIER - LR BRAFEFT AR
W2 & EH2,770,0008 (T T F:
120,000 7T) °

REFWRBT AEE T R B A RELE
Bt RINMEER 5 ERERME TGS ER
86110,657,000 7T( = T = T #F:
69,015,000/ 7T) - ZEMB AR ETH
BE B FEAAR - At - AEBERIERHE
RAEMZER -

REE-_Z-_TFE+-_A=+—HIFE -
AEBAGEEERTREBEE_E_2F
T A=+ BUEFERENRRETEE
/) COVID-19 #8 B Bh N 18 25 M SR BRI 02
B 3,996,000 7T °
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43. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities TRHFNAEERETHMELEEE
arising from financing activities, including both cash and non- B BIEESRIIERSEE  c REEFE
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are EEENRESREEXHERREREENAN
those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, EEGAEERERTEARMBEHELY
classified in the Group's consolidated statement of cash HEmE -

flows as cash flows from financing activities.

43. MBREDMELEARZHIR

Bank
and other Lease Bonds Dividend Interest
borrowings liabilities payable payable payable Total
RITR

AR HERE EftES EfRE EfFIE &it

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T T T T T

(note 32) (note 33)
(Pi7E32) (HizE33)
At 1 January 2020 —2-F5-f-H 5,822,616 98,861 373,731 1,258 28,083 6,324,549
Financing cash flows mﬂﬁiﬁmi (3,491,584) (43,452) (20,003) - (359,076)  (3,914,115)
Currency realignment ERRR 180,929 22,899 25,868 - 1712 231,408
Interest expenses FERE - 855 21,000 - 368,170 380,025
Non-cash transactions (note 44) #fﬁéi%(wm@ 3,000,088 312,589 - - - 3312677
At 31 December 2020 ZZIEEFAST-H 5512049 391,752 400,596 1,258 28889 6,334,544
Financing cash flows mﬂﬁfﬁﬁmuz (3,964,389) (136,042) (65,658) (164,461) (324,557)  (4,655,107)
Currency realignment R 97,586 8,691 15,650 - (346) 121,581
Interest expenses FERY - 355 21,408 - 319,492 341,255
Acquisition of subsidiary WERBARF 974,704 - - - - 974,704
Dividend declared BEERRE - - - 164,461 - 164,461
Non-cash transactions (note 44)  JEBR &% 5 (Hizt44) 3,496,556 35,405 - - - 353191
At 31 December 2021 WZZ2-—-%+-A=+—-H 6,116,506 300,161 371,99 1,258 23478 6,813,399
44. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS 4. EXEREXH
During the year ended 31 December 2021, short-term HE_T-_—4F+-_A=+—HItFE &

L%T%ZHSIEEETFZEEWE 23,551,000 7
JTT(ZZ —Z4F : 28,945,00078 7T) 15 1B Ah
REWRERAERCREELES -

borrowings on bills discounted with recourse of
HK$23,551,000 (2020: HK$28,945,000) have been settled
through bills receivables discounted to the relevant financial
institutions.

FA ERETRBEERMEBEITER
3,620,107,000%% x( = T = T 4F:
3,029,033,000/8 7T ) FEAB B IR 1T E 1 M) (L R
PEYEE AR ©

During the year, bank borrowings as trust receipt loans of
HK$3,520,107,000 (2020: HK$3,029,033,000) represent the
payments to the suppliers by the relevant banks directly.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, right-of-use assets HE_T-_—F+-_A=+—HIEFE K

for new lease agreements entered into by the Group for land
and buildings and plant and machinery with a total amount of
HK$35,405,000 (2020: HK$312,589,000) and the same
amount of lease liabilities were recognised.

SEEBFTAERRE T REF KRR
B I i 22 WE TR 48.(E /5 35,405,000 8 T (=&
ZZF 1 312,589,000 ) 2 FAREE K
HHRsmEoHEaE -
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45. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 45 REALRS
Other than as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated MREEMBBRRAMBEHAIFESEI K&
financial statements, the Group has following transactions EHEREEATEITUTRS -

with related parties.

(i)  During the year, the Group entered into the following ()  FA- RNEEHEBERRFIZATR
transactions with associates. 5 o
Associate Nature of transaction 2021 2020
BE AR REME —E-—F —E2_F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FATT
Truly HZ Sales 5,005* 61,222
BRI HE
Purchase 933,545* 943,809
RS
Interest income 33,610* 31,448
FEMA
Rental income —* 120
HeWA
Expenses relating to short-term leases 1,905* -
FRARBHEE 2 H
Truly RS Sales 1,115 82,047
ER=E HE
Purchase 1,686,151 596,408
A
Purchase of plant and machinery - 13,940
BEWE LR
Utility expenses 11,845 7,674
KEE
Expenses relating to short-term leases 3,325 8,951
FRAREBEE 2 H
* They represented the transactions for the period from 1 * HEa-E-—F—A—BREKEE
January 2021 to date of acquisition of Truly HZ as disclosed FMEMZBIEHENRS - RHFE36
in note 36. T -
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45. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 45. RMEALTRH &)
(i) The remuneration of Directors and other members of (i) AFEEEREMTEZEETERENE 2
key management during the year were as follows: HE R -

2021
—gE=-—F

2020
—E-FF
HK$'000
FHTT

HK$°000
FTET

Short-term benefits PSEEE R 20,172 13,909
Post-employment benefits BERR 2 R A 97 110
20,269 14,019

(iif)

The remuneration of Directors and key executives are
determined by the remuneration committee having
regard to the performance of individuals and market
trends.

As at 31 December 2020, bank borrowing amounting to
HK$920,000,000 granted to the Group was secured by
personal guarantee and restricted cash collateral
account in the corresponding bank of Mr. Lam Wai
Wah. Such bank borrowing was fully repaid and the
personal guarantee was released during the current

(iif)

EERTBITHABZHMT i B
ZEE2EEARREMEZBERE
£

<]

RZE-_FEF+_A=+—H K&
EER A%0920,000,000 8 7T 2 $R1T1E
SKEAMEE A 2 EAAERRBER
TZXBREIESHEMBERPER - %5F
RITERERRFE2HEEEABBAA
BRE TR -

year.

46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 46. ELFEEMEATEH
OF THE COMPANY

(a) General information of subsidiaries (a) MIBARZ—HREHR

Details of the subsidiaries directly and indirectly held by
the Company at the end of the reporting period are set
out below:

REEMRAATEEREREY
W AT FEE T

Nominal value of
issued and fully
paid ordinary
share capital/
registered capital
BRTRMZEER
BE,/ ZMEAHE

Place of
incorporation/
registration/
operation

Proportion
ownership interest
held by the Company
ARRFEZ
FRE RS
2021
—EBEC--F

Name of subsidiary Principal activities

R/ &R/
EXE

WEAREE TERK

Truly Electronics Hong Kong HK$1,000,010 100% 100% Trading of electronic calculators

EHEF Hit 1,000,010 7T and electronic components
EFHERRETIHES

Truly Instrument Limited Hong Kong HK$100 100% 100% Trading of electric tooth brush

EREEERAT Bt 100%7T and health care products
BEYTRIREARRERE S

Truly Semiconductors Hong Kong HK$1,000 100% 100% Trading of LCD products

fEH+ 58 B8 1,000/ 7 REERTREERES
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46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

(a) General information of subsidiaries (Continued)

186

Name of subsidiary

WEAREE

Place of

incorporation/

registration/
operation
S

Truly Opto-electronics Limited (Note) ~Hong Kong
ERxEERAF (i) Bk
Truly Industrial Limited Hong Kong
EHIZERAR ;
Truly (USA) Inc. United States
of America
EHBARE
EHNEFERAR* The PRC
i
ERFEE The PRC
i
EHESOLE)BRAR The PRC
i
EFIXE R (Note) The PRC
EREERR (FiEE) i
EMTHRCLR) * The PRC
f
ETLAEBRAF (Note) The PRC
FEAXEBRAR (M) FE
Truly HZ The PRC
=M f
* wholly foreign owned enterprise

Nominal value of
issued and fully
paid ordinary
share capital/
registered capital
BERTRMRZEER
BE,/ ZMEAHE

HK$1,000,000
1,000,000/ 7

HK$872,894
872,894 87T

US$20,000
20,000%7T

US$137,500,000
137,500,000 7T

1S$498,300,000
498,300,000 T
US$1,000,000
1,000,000 T

RMB368,769,402
AR 368,769,402 7T

RMB290,000,000
AE#290,000,0007C

RMB200,000,000
AR #200,000,0007

RMB2,682,641,157
AR 2,682,641,157 T

The legal forms of the above subsidiaries are all limited

liability companies.
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(a)

46. XLFERMBLAFTREH (&)

MEARZ—RES (&

Proportion
ownership interest
held by the Company
ARRREZ
gt 1 35340

2021
—E-_-F

98.9%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

98.9%

100%

98.9%

76.5%

2020

78.8%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

78.8%

100%

78.8%

59.71%

Principal activities

TEEK

Trading of compact camera
module, fingerprint
identification modules and
touch panel

MEERBEENEERERES

Trading of electronic components
ETRNES

Marketing of electronic calculators

BT ERTISEH

Manufacture of electronic calculators and
electronic components
BLEBTHEMRET LN

Manufacture of LCD products
HERRERTSER

Manufacture of electric toothbrush and
health care products

SERHTRIREARRER

Manufacture of compact camera module,
fingerprint identification modules and
touch panel

SEMEEREA R BERER

Manufacture of electronic component
PERTE

Manufacture of electronic component
BER M

Development and production of active
matrix organic light emitting diode and
LCD product

REREERRERBREL-GE
RRSBETRER

* SNEBE

LA B RARMERL A SBRE

ERA] -
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46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

(a)

General information of subsidiaries (Continued)

Note: Change in ownership interest in a subsidiary

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group
acquired 5.4% additional equity interest in E7LHXEABRE A
a) from the other shareholder at a cash consideration of
HK$6,696,000. The effective interest of the Group in {57T5%
EAHMRAF] increased from 74.4% to 78.8%. An amount of
HK$6,754,000 (being the proportionate share of the carrying
amount of the net assets of 57T X BB AE]) has been
transferred to other reserves. The difference of HK$58,000
between the consideration paid by the Group and decrease
in the non-controlling interests, and the reattribution of the
relevant reserves (including accumulated losses of
HK$6,609,000 and exchange reserve of HK$688,000) has
been credited to other reserves.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group
acquired 20.1% additional equity interest in Truly Opto from
other shareholders at a cash consideration of
RMB606,461,000 (equivalent to HK$752,125,000). The
effective interest of the Group in Truly Opto increased from
78.8% to 98.9%. An amount of HK$1,089,333,000 (being
the proportionate share of the carrying amount of the net
assets of Truly Opto) has been transferred to other reserves.
The difference of HK$337,208,000 between the
consideration paid by the Group and decrease in the non-
controlling interests, and the reattribution of the relevant
reserves (including retained profits of HK$534,396,000 and
exchange reserve of HK$5,912,000) has been debited to
other reserves.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally
affected the result or assets of the Group. To give
details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the
directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

Except for Truly Electronics Manufacturing Limited and
Truly (USA) Inc., all other subsidiaries are indirectly held
by the Company.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities at the end
of the year except for {EFI3£ B which has issued an
aggregate principal amount of RMB300,000,000 (2020:
RMB337,594,300) of bonds payable, in which the Group
has no interests.

46. XLFERMBLAFTREH (&)

(a) KMEBARZ—REH(HE)
Wi AHBAR 2RISR

BE-Z-TF+-A=1+—HLHF
& AEBEIIR S A E6,696,000/%8 T
MB—RREBETHEBRARS.4%
HISEINEAE - REBRETTRERRAD
AN EREZRA744% 1 E78.8% °
6,754,000 % T (BMET L EBRAEIE
ERTDFEZIELASG#ERZ) D &R
ZHMEE - AEECD WK EEIEER
WM IR 2 2= 558,000 7T A K iHE
(B 48 R 51/ 186,609,0007% 7T &
HNEE (% #5688,000/8 TT) SRB O st A H
fih {8 o

BE-ZTE-_—F+-_A=+—HBLHF
B AEEREMRRKEEFNLE
201%FEINEE - BEREAARE
606,461,000 7T (18 & 7 752,125,000 7
TL) e REBEREFHEZ BERER
78.8% 3£ %98.9% ° 1,089,333,00078
ﬁ(ﬁﬂ%ﬂ%%ﬁ%ﬂﬁ@%ﬁf&twu

DIEER)CEBEHEbRHE - AEE
FTZ 5 2 A8 R IEIE IR i 2 18 2 2= 58
337,208,000/ Tt A R ABRE & (B2 1F
1R 8 % 711 534,396,000 78 7T K2 5 FE (1
5,912,000/ 7T) BB E T A KA -

ERIHEBEERREIEZEARER
BMABEZARFINBLAR - EER
RFAFIEMMB AR ZFER<FR

RIEBE -
k= FEF B R 2 5 &Truly (USA)
Inc.oh - BT EMM B R RHEAR R
Faﬁggfﬁ ©

BREMEEROEITACBEARE
300,000,000 c(ZE=FF : AR
337,594,300 7)) < FEfS & H M A & E
REPABmERIN RERSHER
A B EES
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46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 46. XAFIEEMBLATEH £&)
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that (b) BEEERFEZERERZHZENE
have material non-controlling interests NEIZFHE
The table below shows details of non-wholly owned TREJNFEBEREERES 2 AE
subsidiaries of the Group that have material non- B2 BB AR Z B ¢

controlling interests:

Place of Proportion of ownership
incorporation interests and voting Profit/(loss)
and principal rights held by non- attributable to non- Accumulated non-
Name of subsidiary place of business controlling interests controlling interests controlling interests
AL R R AFERERREL
WEARER IREXBE FERRERAZELE  FERESELER/ (FB) RitFERER
2021 2020 2021 2021 2020
it Smbd:2 £ ZR--f —T-%F CZF--f “T°ZF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THER TAT THER BT
ERxERR* The PRC 1.1% 21.2% 373N 98,304 60332 1,103,501
Gl
Wholly owned subsidiary of
BRHXERR
ERxERRN2EHBAR
{ELKEBRAR (Note)  The PRC - 211% - (1818) - -
BRABBRAR (M)  HE
Truly HZ The PRC 23.5% - 15,285 - 316,794 -
fEMEM e
52,656 96,486 377,126 1,103,501
* excluding non-controlling interests of EH BN s * TEEEFERGH B AR 2 IEER
subsidiary HEa
Note: The interests in 570X EHMRAF have been disposed B BE-—T-——&+-—A=+—A &
during the year ended 31 December 2021. B HERTHESRA MRS -
Summarised financial information in respect of the A LM B A TS S A IR K
above subsidiary that has material non-controlling HUMEBRBENT - N BHKE
interests is set out below. The summarised financial K E AEE R A TESISAT Y25 -

information below represents amounts before
intragroup eliminations.
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46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 46. XAFIEEMBLATEH £&)
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that (b) BEERKERERZRZHZEWE
have material non-controlling interests REZFE (&)
(Continued)
Truly HZ and its subsidiaries BREMNEEMBAR
2021
- £
HK$°000
TET
Current assets MEVEE 984,120
Non-current assets EMENEE 4,729,006
Current liabilities mEaRE 4,121,229
Non-current liabilities FERBBE 245,552
Equity attributable to owners of the Company  RA TS AFE(E#Ez 1,029,551
Non-controlling interests of Truly HZ EFEIMN 2 JEE i 316,794
Revenue Wz 307,216*
Expenses i 5% 242,255*
Profit for the period N HB T 64,961*
* They represented the amounts for the period from the date * HEEWBENENZBRE T - —
of acquisition of Truly HZ to 31 December 2021. F+A=Z+—ALLEBENESEE -
2021
—E-—F
HK$'000
FET
Profit attributable to owners of the Company AREEA AEM R T 49,676*
Profit attributable to the non-controlling S FIZR N FEHE RS AE 25 PR AR S5 7
interests of Truly HZ 15,285*
Profit for the period N HR R 64,961*
Other comprehensive income attributable to KARHAE AERGEEMAZERE
owners of the Company 1,309*
Other comprehensive income attributable to the 12 FI 22 JEFE AR A 25 (5 E b 2 I UR 25
non-controlling interests of Truly HZ 403*
Other comprehensive income for the period NEREE M 2 E 1,712*
Total comprehensive income attributable to RARHAE AEEEEREBRE
owners of the Company 50,985*
Total comprehensive income attributable to the {2 FIZ N JEFE AR %5 FE (5 2 T N 25 42 58
non-controlling interests of Truly HZ 15,688*
Total comprehensive income for the period NEE 2 EN 2R 66,673*
Net cash inflow from operating activities EEEBBESRAFE 35,863*
Net cash outflow from investing activities KEEHBE SR L F5E (1,809)*
Net cash outflow from financing activities A EEE SR EEE (37,610)*
Net cash outflow RE R FE (3,556)*
* They represented the amounts for the period from the date * HiEgWEENENZBEE T - —
of acquisition of Truly HZ to 31 December 2021. FH+—A=+—HIFHEHSE -
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46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 46. XAFIEEMBLATEH £&)
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that (b) BEERFERERZIZENE
have material non-controlling interests NCipd=2 169
(Continued)
ERIH ERAD and its subsidiaries BRAERDREMBAR
2021 2020
=2 —F —E_THF
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET T
Current assets mENEE 9,093,116 9,036,735
Non-current assets FEREEE 4,964,907 5,407,653
Current liabilities mEaE 8,088,413 8,008,420
Non-current liabilities FEREEE 347,678 1,205,537
Equity attributable to owners RAEIHEE ANEIE#ER
of the Company 5,561,600 4,126,930
Non-controlling interests of ERERD 2 TR =
EREERAD 60,332 1,103,501
Revenue Wz 16,632,315 17,376,330
Expenses HX 16,317,201 16,913,529
Profit for the year E i F 315,114 462,801
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46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 46. XAFIEEMBLATEH £&)
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that (b) BEERFERERZIZENE
have material non-controlling interests RRIZHE (&)
(Continued)
fEF JE IR and its subsidiaries (Continued) BERHAEROREMBELAR (£)
2021 2020
—EB-—fF —EBTF
HK$°000 HK$'000
F#ET T
Profit attributable to owners RRBEE AERRT
of the Company 277,743 366,315
Profit attributable to the non-controlling 125t B M (7 FE1E ML fE =5
interests of 15 F )¢ &7 FEAE &= T 37,371 98,304
Loss attributable to the non-controlling {EF3t BT E A F 2
interests of subsidiary of FEFE RS E RS FE (R B IR
BRI B AD - (1,818)
Profit for the year E 315,114 462,801
Other comprehensive (expense) RAREEAEREMER
income attributable to owners () Wz
of the Company 85,150 228,089
Other comprehensive income R B FEIE RS M 2
attributable to the non-controlling E{EE M2 mkEE
interests of 15 )¢ &% 7 8,792 61,638
Other comprehensive income ERHERGDH B AR Z
attributable to the non-controlling IRV E S IR (R b 2 |
interests of subsidiary of Wz
ERFeERMN - 453
Other comprehensive income NEEEMEEWE
for the year 93,942 290,180
Total comprehensive income KABVHEE AEEEER BT
attributable to owners
of the Company 362,893 594,404
Total comprehensive income SR B FEIE RS M 2
attributable to the non-controlling JE(E 2SR
interests of 15 )¢ &% 17 46,163 169,942
Total comprehensive expense ERYEERMDMIB AR Z
attributable to the non-controlling IR E 2 A
interests of subsidiary of kL
EREERR - (1,365)
Total comprehensive income AFEErEWRSLRE
for the year 409,056 752,981
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46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 46. XAFIEEMBLATEH £&)
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that (b) BEERFERERZIZENE
have material non-controlling interests RRIZHE (&)
(Continued)
EF K E IR and its subsidiaries (Continued) BERAERDREMBAR (&)
2021 2020
=2 —F —E_THF
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET T
Net cash inflow from EEBIR e RAFRE
operating activities 961,848 669,256
Net cash outflow from WEEBR ML FRE
investing activities (520,461) (819,176)
Net cash (outflow) inflow from MEFEHRS (R RAFERE
financing activities (409,853) 495,085
Net cash inflow WREMANFEE 31,534 345,165
47. PLEDGE OF ASSETS 47. BEHH
At 31 December 2021, the Group's borrowings amounting to R-EBE-—F+-_A=+—8 KEEER
HK$771,735,000 (2020: nil) were secured by the Group's 771,735,000 8 L (Z T ZFF : ) UAEXE
buildings with carrying amount of HK$598,356,000 (2020 nil). [E IR {E /5 598,356,000 8 7T ( — T T4 ¢

) BTIEEM -

48. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES/FINANCIAL 48. HARAR ERMEFRSH

GUARANTEE CONTRACT

(i) Contingent liabilities (i) =HREE
During the year ended 31 December 2020, a wholly BE_Z-_ZH+T_A=1+—HBItHF
owned subsidiary of the Company is a defendant in B ARR—FEE2ENBARESTS
legal actions in Hong Kong in respect of the claim by a ZIERFRRI AEE  REFDY
customer for alleged defective goods manufactured by E—2EFPHZMBARREBEERR
the subsidiary according to its customers’ designs and ZERET MR RE 2 E R IETEA &
specifications. The claim against the wholly owned fEMmiRHERE - St Z2EMBE QR
subsidiary is approximately US$23.9 million (equivalent ZREEREYA0239EET(HER
to approximately HK$186.4 million) in aggregate. #31.864 1878 7T) °
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48. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES/FINANCIAL
GUARANTEE CONTRACT (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Contingent liabilities (Continued)

In December 2020, the subsidiary has entered into
settlement agreement with the customer pursuant to
which it is mutually agreed that the subsidiary is
required to deliver certain quantity of products to the
customer under pre-agreed delivery time table and
payment terms. Upon completion of the deliveries and
payment by the customer within 2021, any claims
between the Group and the customer shall be deemed
finally settled and satisfied. At 31 December 2020, the
Directors consider that the fulfillment of the terms of
the settlement agreement is highly probable and the
legal proceedings will be dismissed accordingly and no
provision for legal claims is made.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the delivery
and payment obligations under the settlement
agreement were completed and the legal proceedings
were discontinued upon the approval by the Court of
First Instance in July 2021.

Financial guarantee contract

Corporate guarantee given by the Group AEBEGHRFEFIUATALTZ

48. RRAR ERIEFREHE)

(i)

(ii)

FREEE)

MRZZE_TF+_F  ZMBARHE
g}E'DT_LfDﬁ‘FTg?jJu% Flﬂ: gﬁﬁ%
Z BT B A R A AR IR TR 5T 15 E B R AN B
MR RARERAZTFRGETHE
MER FEFRZEZ—FRNTK
R R REEEREPEZE
AREFERARENBERE - B
—ECEF+A=+T—R EER
7 BATAIAR R IR FTBEIE R K
ERFABE LR BTG YARE
R (EH B4 -

BE_Z_—H+_A=+t—HLLHF
€ M EE T 2 XN RN RER
EEKBABERFADR T _—
FLABRIMAESAERKL

EREREN

2021
—E_—F

2020
—E-TF

HK$'000
THETT

HK$'000
FET

for bank borrowings granted to: RITIEFVEE R RIER

Truly HZ (EREY N/AFRER 1,401,333
and utilised by: FMEBEIATATEA :

Truly HZ EREY N/AFRER 1,307,461

At 31 December 2020, the other shareholder of an
associate provided corporate guarantee to the above
bank borrowings in proportion to its respective
ownership interest amounting to approximately HK$831
million. A counter-indemnity in favour of the other
shareholder is executed pursuant to which the Group
undertakes to indemnify the other shareholder 23.5%
of the liabilities arising from the bank borrowings.

_7_

R-ZZE-_ZF+_A=+t—H K=
RE|Z MR RIZE A R
Bh LA IRTT AR IR A B HE R 40 8.31

BT  AREUZEMBRERERE R
ABRIRBERE - BHAREAS

AEMRRBERTERAEELERE
223.5% ©
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48. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES/FINANCIAL 48. BIRAR EMERESH D)

GUARANTEE CONTRACT (Continued)

(ii) Financial guarantee contract (Continued) (i) S=@MEREHE)
The bank borrowings were secured by the associate’s RITIE R AR E AR 2 - Jﬁﬁ}%&
property, plant and equipment and the Directors assess REERE MEFN - =_ZF
the exposure of the corporate guarantee at 31 + - A=+—HFEEE AR ER
December 2020 was insignificant. It is not likely that ZREBAK XSEFAAANAERER
any guaranteed amount will be claimed by the THEReE  BRAFERZAFE
counterparties and the fair value of the corporate BIAEKX o

guarantee was not significant at initial recognition.

Truly HZ becomes the subsidiary of the Company in EMEMNR-ZE-_—F+ Ak AKX
December 2021, no contingent liabilities in respect of NRIZHBRAR  RZE-—F+=
the financial guarantee provided to Truly HZ is disclosed A=+—BXEBRREFEMNREHEZ
at 31 December 2021. WG ERIE RS A BE -
49. TRANSFERS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS 49. HiREeMBEE
The following were the Group's bills receivables as at 31 UTARERR S -_—FR-_ZT-FF
December 2021 and 2020 that were discounted to banks on T+ A=+ HERTZEIEEREENR
a full recourse basis. ZIEW R o
2021 2020
—E-—F —E_TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET T4
Carrying amount of discounted E AR R v IREE
bills receivables 68,489 23,651
Carrying amount of associated liabilities ~ fHEIB &2 EREE (68,489) (23,551)
Net position FAR = -
The Group discounted bills receivables to banks by AREBRTHEREESEREBEZHIET
discounting those receivables on a full recourse basis. As the BLIE o AN EE W M ERS 7 S EWN GRS
Group has not transferred the significant risks and rewards K7 B AE K O 3R - A S R R RE kT
relating to these receivables, it continues to recognise the full ZARYERME  WigREERINZ IR
carrying amount of the receivables and has recognised the RAMEEZE(RAMEI) ZEL2EE
cash received on the transfer as discounted bills (see note RAEE 2 47 E TSI R I SR AT BR o

31). These financial assets are carried at amortised cost in the
Group's consolidated statement of financial position.
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50. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 50. ENTFZMBFRARR 6K
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the RBERREBARAYERARZERES
Company at the end of the reporting period includes: ¥

2021 2020
=2 —F —E_THF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET TFETT

Non-current Assets kRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RRB AR ZIRE 499,033 446,009
Amount due from a subsidiary A ENEIE ] 1,624,025 1,299,045
2,123,058 1,745,054

Current Assets REBEE
Other receivables H h EURGRIR 443 384
Bank balances and cash RTEFARSE 2,378 2,234
2,821 2,618
Current Liability REBAE

Other payables H At FET IR 1,987 1,987
Net Current Assets REBEEFE 834 631
Net Assets BEERE 2,123,892 1,745,685

Capital and Reserves EARR#E
Share capital Az A 65,785 65,785
Reserves e 2,058,107 1,679,900
Total Equity AT 2,123,892 1,745,685
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50. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 50. FLFIZHMEBERARR K2
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Movement of the Company’s reserves AT IHEESS
Capital
Share Special redemption Retained
premium* reserve* reserve profits Total
R0 R 1E * BElE BEXBEHE R BEF a%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THBL TEx TAEx TAT THBL
At 1 January 2020 RZZZZT5—-H-R 1,395,441 17,410 867 224,923 1,638,641
Profit and other KEERAREM
comprehensive income 2 EE
for the year - - - 41,259 41,259
At 31 December 2020 R-E-TF
+-R=+—-H 1,395,441 17,410 867 266,182 1,679,900
Profit and other AEEERREM
comprehensive income 2 HE U
for the year - - - 542,668 542,668
Dividend declared EEIRRE - - - (164,461) (164,461)
At 31 December 2021 RZE-—F
+ZA=1t—H 1,395,441 17,410 867 644,389 2,058,107
* Under the applicable laws of Cayman Islands, the share premium * RERSHS ZEREN KRR ZRHEE
of the Company is available for distributions or paying dividends to AR E AR B IR KA S R 2 & ST AR R A
shareholders subject to the provisions of its Memorandum or H RS EAAIRE - R EREEL 5 IR
Articles of Association and provided that immediate following the REM%E  ARBEANABEBBREP I
distribution or paying dividend the Company is able to pay its debts HAfEIH -

as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

# The special reserve of the Company represents the difference # NGk S 3l DRE EHAN/NG Reatl e B )
between the net book values of the underlying assets of the RAIZBMHE BRSHEE AR HEEER
Company's subsidiaries acquired at the date on which the shares mFEEAARBAFERREMBEITZAR
of these companies were acquired by the Company, and the AIRMEAERERE Z5E -

nominal amount of the Company’s shares issued for the
acquisitions in prior years.
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